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COURSE DESCRIPTION
The purpose of this course is to review the changes made to lease accounting by ASU 2016-02, Leases,
(as further amended by ASU 2018-01, Land Easement- Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842),
and to establish the principles that lessees and lessors shall apply to report useful information to users
of financial statements about the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from a lease.
Topics include a review of the new rules for lessees and lessors, the types of leases, how to account for
the balance sheet, income statement and cash flows statement impacts of different types of leases, the
implementation requirements, and more.

LEARNING ASSIGNMENTS AND OBJECTIVES
As a result of studying each assignment, you should be able to meet the objectives listed below each
individual assignment.

ASSIGNMENT
1 		

SUBJECT
Background
Basic Concepts of ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-01

Study the course materials from pages 1 to 14
Complete the review questions at the end of the assignment
Answer the exam questions 1 to 5
Objectives:
• To recognize a key change made to GAAP by the new lease standard
• To identify a type of lease that exists for a lessee under ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-01
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right to direct use of an identified asset
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• To identify a threshold for a lease term to be considered a major part of an asset’s remaining
economic life
• To recognize why an entity might not want to use the risk-free rate to compute the present
value of lease payments
• To identify how a lessee should account for initial direct costs
• To recognize items that are and are not components of a lease term
• Recall the method a lessee should use to record interest expense on a lease obligation

ii • Course Information

ASSIGNMENT
4 		

SUBJECT
Lessor Rules

Study the course materials from pages 151 to 184
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Objectives:
• To identify types of leases for a lessor
• To recognize the rate that a lessor should use in performing the 90% test for a direct
financing lease
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• To identify how a lessor should account for lease payments received on the income
statement for an operating lease
• To recall how a lessor should classify certain cash receipts on the statement of cash flows
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ASU 2016-02

iii • Course Information

ASSIGNMENT
6 		

SUBJECT
Impact of Changes to Lease Accounting
Impact of Lease Changes on Nonpublic Entities
Other Considerations- Dealing with Financial Covenants
Avoiding the New Lease Standard

Study the course materials from pages 203 to 234
Complete the review questions at the end of the assignment
Answer the exam questions 33 to 40
Objectives:
• To identify how deferred income taxes will be treated for lessees under ASU 2016-02
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tax purposes
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EXAM OUTLINE
• TEST FORMAT: The final exam for this course consists of 40 multiple-choice questions
and is based specifically on the information covered in the course materials.
• ACCESS FINAL EXAM: Log in to your account and click Take Exam. A copy of the final
exam is provided at the end of these course materials for your convenience, however you
must submit your answers online to receive credit for the course.
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• PROCESSING: You will receive the score for your final exam immediately after it is
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• CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION: Will be available in your account to view online or print.
If you do not pass an exam, it can be retaken free of charge.
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ACCOUNTING FOR THE NEW LEASE STANDARD
Assignment 1 Objectives
After completing this chapter, you should be able to:
• Recognize a key change made to GAAP by the new lease standard.
• Identify a type of lease that exists for a lessee under ASU 2016-02.
Issued: February 2016
Effective Date:
The amendments in ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-01 are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years, for any of the following:
1.

A public business entity.

2.

A not-for-profit entity that has issued, or is a conduit bond obligor for, securities that are
traded, listed, or quoted on an exchange or an over-the-counter market.

3.

An employee benefit plan that files financial statements with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC).

For all other entities (including nonpublic entities), the amendments in ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-01
are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2020.
Early application of the amendments in ASU 2016-02 and 2018-01 is permitted for all entities.
Objective:
The objective of ASU 2016-02 is to specify the accounting for leases and to establish the principles that
lessees and lessors shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the
amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from a lease.
The objective of ASU 2018-01 is to provide transition relief for land easements to which previous GAAP
for leases had not previously been applied.

I. BACKGROUND
Current GAAP, ASC 840, Leases (formerly FASB No. 13), divides leases into two categories: operating
and capital leases. Capital leases are capitalized while operating leases are not. For a lease to qualify
as a capital lease, one of four criteria must be met:
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1.

The present value of the minimum lease payments must equal or exceed 90% or more of
the fair value of the asset,

2.

The lease term must be at least 75% of the remaining useful life of the leased asset,

3.

There is a bargain purchase at the end of the lease, or

4.

There is a transfer of ownership.

In practice, it is common for lessees to structure leases to ensure they do not qualify as capital leases,
thereby removing both the leased asset and obligation from the lessee’s balance sheet. This approach is
typically used by restaurants, retailers, and other multiple-store facilities.
Consider the following example.
Facts:
Lease 1: The present value of minimum lease payments is 89% and the lease term is 74% of the
remaining useful life of the asset.
Lease 2: The present value of minimum lease payments is 90% or the lease term is 75% of the remaining
useful life of the asset.
Conclusion:
Lease 1 is an operating lease that is not capitalized, while Lease 2 is a capital lease under which both
the asset and lease obligation are capitalized.
SEC pushes toward changes in lease accounting
The changes made to lease accounting by ASU 2016-02 were instigated by Enron’s collapse. The demise
of Enron and a few other entities, such as WorldCom, lead to the passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. Within Sarbanes Oxley, Congress included a requirement that the SEC perform a study and issue
a report on the extent to which public companies had significant off-balance sheet transactions.
In its 2005 report entitled Report and Recommendations Pursuant to Section 401(c) of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 on Arrangements with Off-Balance Sheet Implications, Special Purpose Entities, and
Transparency of Filings by Issuer, the SEC targeted lease accounting as one of the areas that resulted
in significant liabilities being off-balance sheet.
Per the SEC Report and a U.S. Chamber of Commerce report:
a.

63% of companies record operating leases while 22% record capital leases.

b.

U.S. companies have approximately $1.5 trillion in operating lease obligations that are
off-balance sheet.

c.

European companies have a total of approximately $928 billion in operating lease
obligations.
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Moreover, 73 percent of all leases held by U.S. public companies ($1.1 trillion) involve the leasing of real
estate.1
In its Report, the SEC noted that because of ASC 840’s (formerly FASB No. 13’s) bright-line tests (90%,
75%, etc.), small differences in economics have completely changed the accounting (capital versus
operating) for leases.
Keeping leases off-balance sheet while still retaining tax benefits, has been an industry unto itself. Socalled “synthetic” leases have commonly been used to maximize the tax benefits of a lease while not
capitalizing the lease for GAAP purposes.
In addition, lease accounting abuses have been the focus of restatements with approximately 270
companies, mostly restaurants and retailers, restating or adjusting their lease accounting in the wake of
Section 404 implementation under Sarbanes-Oxley.
Retailers have the largest amount of operating lease obligations outstanding that are not recorded on
their balance sheets.
FASB-IASB lease project
Since the Sarbanes-Oxley Act became effective, the FASB has focused on standards that enhance
transparency of transactions and that eliminate off-balance-sheet transactions, the most recent of which
was the issuance of ASC 810, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (formerly FIN 46R). The FASB
added to its agenda a joint project with the IAS to replace existing lease accounting rules found in ASC
840 (formerly FASB No. 13) and its counterpart in Europe, IAS No. 17. The FASB and IASB started
deliberations on the project in 2007, and issued a discussion memorandum in 2009, following by the
issuance of an exposure draft in 2010 entitled Leases (ASC 840).
The 2010 exposure draft was met with numerous criticisms that compelled the FASB to issue a second,
replacement exposure draft on May 16, 2013 entitled Leases (Topic 842), a revision of the 2010 proposed
FASB Accounting Standards Update, Leases (ASC 840).
Ultimately, in February 2016, the FASB issued a final standard in ASU 2016-02.
ASU 2016-02 replaces existing lease accounting rules found in ASC 840, Leases, with newly issued
ASC 842, Leases.
The new ASC 842 affects any entity that enters into a lease with a few specified scope exemptions.
The main differences between previous GAAP in ASC 840 and new ASC 842 are:
• Most operating leases previously kept off balance sheet under ASC 840 are now
capitalized under the new ASC 842.
• In ASC 842, all leases with a lease term more than 12 months must be capitalized, even if
those leases have been expensed as operating leases in existing ASC 840.
1. CFO.com.

3 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

ASC 842 retains a distinction between finance leases and operating leases. The classification criteria for
distinguishing between finance leases and operating leases are substantially similar to the classification
criteria for distinguishing between capital leases and operating leases in the previous leases guidance.
The result of retaining a distinction between finance leases and operating leases is that under the lessee
accounting model in ASC 842, the effect of leases in the statement of income and the statement of cash
flows is largely unchanged from previous GAAP in ASC 840.
Issuance of ASU 2018-01
In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-01, Leases (Topic 842)- Land Easement Practical
Expedient for Transition to Topic 842. The amendments made by ASU 2018-01 are effective on the
same dates as the underlying changes to lease accounting made by ASU 2016-02.
ASU 2018-01 addresses the applicability of the new lease standard to land easements, such as rights of
way that represent the right to use, access, or cross another entity’s land for a specific purpose.
Under existing GAAP prior to the application of ASU 842, there is a difference in the way in which
entities account for land easements. Some entities treat them as leases while others account for them
as intangible assets or fixed assets under other GAAP sections.
Stakeholders have been concerned that applying the new lease standard to land easements would be
costly, complex, and not necessarily useful given that many easements have an unlimited life of use.
To address those concerns, the FASB issued ASU 2018-01 to offer an optional transition practical
expedient that allows an entity not to evaluate existing or expired land easements under the new lease
standard if they were not previously accounted for as leases under the current lease rules.
ASU 2018-01 is addressed further on in this course.

II. BASIC CONCEPTS OF ASU 2016-02
A. GENERAL RULES
1.

Core principle in ASU 2016-02:
The core principle of ASU 2016-02 is that:
An entity should use the right-of-use model to account for leases which
requires an entity to recognize assets and liabilities arising from a lease.
This represents a significant change from existing lease requirements, which do not
require lease assets and lease liabilities to be recognized for many leases, particularly
those classified as operating leases.
In accordance with ASU 2016-02’s right-of-use model:
a)

A lessee recognizes assets and liabilities for all leases that have a maximum
possible lease term of more than 12 months.
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b)

2.

A lessee that has a lease with a term of 12 months or less, may use a shortterm lease option to either keep the lease off balance sheet, or recording a
lease asset and liability.2

Lessee’s side of the lease transaction- ASU 2016-02:
From the lessee’s perspective, ASU 2016-02 makes significant changes to the accounting
for leases, contrary to the existing GAAP’s capital versus operating lease approach.
Under the new rules:
a)

A lessee recognizes a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability)
and a corresponding right-of-use asset representing its right to use the
leased asset (the underlying asset) for the lease term.

b)

The lessee’s recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and
cash flows arising from a lease depend on whether the lessee is expected
to consume a major part of the economic benefits of the underlying leased
asset.

c)

Two types of leases for the lessee: ASU 2016-02 provides two categories of
leases for the lessee:
•

Finance leases (Type A), and

•

Operating leases (Type B).

Note
The only difference between the two types of leases is how total expense is recorded.
Otherwise, the initial measurement and recording of the lease liability and asset is the
same for both types of leases.

1)

Finance Lease (Type A lease): A finance lease has the following attributes:

a.

Lessee expects to consume a major part of the economic benefits
(life) of the asset:
•

Applies to most leases of assets other than property (for
example, equipment, aircraft, cars, trucks).

b.

Lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments.

c.

Lessee recognizes interest and amortization expense separate from
each other on the statement of income as follows:

2. Under the short-term lease option, the lease also must not have an option where it is reasonably certain that the option will be
exercised at the commencement date.
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•

Interest expense is recognized on an accelerated basis for
the unwinding of the discount on the lease liability using the
effective interest method.

•

Amortization expense is recognized on the right-of-use asset
on a straight-line basis.

•

Total expense (interest and amortization) is accelerated and
shown in two expense components: Interest expense and
amortization expense.

2)

Operating Lease (Type B lease):

a.

Lessee does not expect to consume a major part of the economic
benefits (life) of the asset:
•

Applies to most leases of property (that is, land and/or a
building or part of a building).

b.

Lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially
measured at the present value of lease payments (same as finance
lease).

c.

Lessee recognizes a single lease expense, combining interest
expense with amortization expense.
•

Total lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis
throughout the lease.

The following chart compares the lease types of the new ASU 2016-02 with existing GAAP for lessees.

Comparison of Existing GAAP Versus New ASU 2016-02
GAAP for Leases- Lessee Side
Description
Lease type

Lease
classifications

Current GAAP for Leases
Pre- ASU 2016-02
Leases are classified as operating
or capital leases (financing
arrangements) based on satisfying
one of four criteria:
• 75% rule
• 90% rule
• Bargain purchase
• Transfer of ownership
Operating leases- not capitalized

New GAAP- ASU 2016-02
All leases with lease term of more than 12
months must be capitalized:
• Measure and record a right-of-use
asset and lease liability recorded at
present value of payments over the
lease term

Finance (Type A) leases- capitalized

Capital leases- asset and liability Operating (Type B) leases- capitalized
capitalized
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Comparison of Existing GAAP Versus New ASU 2016-02
GAAP for Leases- Lessee Side
Description
Short-term lease
exception

Lease term

Variable rents

Income statement
(statement of
comprehensive
income)

Re-assessment
of lease
3.

Current GAAP for Leases
Pre- ASU 2016-02

New GAAP- ASU 2016-02

None

Leases with lease term of 12 months or
less and no option to purchase- lessee
has the choice of not to capitalize the
lease and continue to record rent expense
Lease term includes non-cancellable Lease term includes the non-cancellable
period together with any periods for
periods
options to extend or terminate the lease
Option periods generally not included
when it is reasonably certain the lessee
in lease term
will exercise an option to extend the lease
Contingent rents excluded from
Variable rents included in lease payments
lease payments. When paid, they are if based on an index or rate
period costs
Two approaches:
Two approaches:
– Operating leases- lease expense is – Finance lease (Type A): Interest and
recorded on a straight-line basis
amortization expense are measured on
an accelerated basis and recorded and
– Capital leases- depreciation and
presented as two separate expenses on
interest expense is recorded
the income statement
– Operating lease (Type B): Lease
expense is recorded and measured on a
straight-line basis and presented as one
line item on the income statement as a
combination of interest and amortization
Once measured, the lease terms are Lease terms are reassessed in certain
generally not re-assessed
instances

Lessor’s side of the lease transaction:
From the lessor’s perspective, ASU 2016-02 amendments provide for three potential
types of leases:
•

Sales-type lease

•

Direct financing lease, or

•

Operating lease.
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Sales-type lease:
The lessor classifies a lease as a sales-type lease if the lessee is expected to consume a major part of
the economic benefits (life) of the asset.
• Most leases of assets other than property (for example, equipment, aircraft, cars, trucks)
fall into the sales-type lease category.
Under a sales-type lease, the lessor:
a)

Derecognizes (removes) the underlying asset.

b)

Recognizes any profit relating to the lease at the commencement date.

c)

Records two new assets as follows:

d)

1)

Lease receivable: Reflecting the right to receive lease payments, and

2)

Residual asset: Reflecting the right the lessor retains in the underlying
asset at the end of the lease.

Recognizes interest income on an accelerated basis on the unwinding of
both the lease receivable and the residual asset over the lease term.

Direct financing lease:
When none of the criteria to classify a lease as a sales-type lease are met, a lessor shall classify the
lease as either a (an):
• Direct financing lease, or
• Operating lease.
a)

b)

If the lease is not a sales-type lease, it is classified as a direct financing lease
if two criteria are met:
1)

The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual
value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease
payments and/or any other third party unrelated to the lessor equals or
exceeds substantially all (90% or more) of the fair value of the underlying
asset.

2)

It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments plus any
amount necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee.

In general, a direct financing lease is the same as a sales-type lease except
for two differences that are summarized as follows:
1)

A direct financing lease defers any selling profit and includes it in the
measurement of the net investment in the lease. A sales-type lease
recognizes selling profit into income at the commencement of the lease.
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2)

A direct financing lease defers initial direct costs and records them as part
of the net investment in the lease while a sales-type lease expenses such
costs in most cases.

Operating lease:
From a lessor’s perspective, if the lease does not qualify as a sales-type lease (Type A) and does qualify
as a direct financing lease, it defaults to an operating lease.
a)

Under the operating lease rules, a lessor:
1)

4.

Applies an approach similar to existing operating lease accounting in
which the lessor does the following:
•

Retains the leased asset on the lessor’s balance sheet, and

•

Recognizes lease (rental) income over the lease term typically
on a straight-line basis.

Other key elements found in ASU 2016-02:
There are several other important elements in the ASU that affect both lessees and
lessors:

5.

•

The ASU exempts from the new standard any short-term leases with a lease
term (including option periods) of 12 months or less and that have no option
to purchase.

•

Option payments and option lease terms are included in the present value
calculation if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the lease
extension or lease purchase option.

•

The lease standard does not provide for the grandfathering of existing leases
on the lease implementation date. Thus, on the implementation date, active
leases must be adjusted to the new standard.

•

The ASU includes numerous new disclosures related to leases.

Confusion over the use of the term “operating lease” and the use of Type A and B
leases:

ASU 2016-02 has several nuances that are likely to confuse the reader. One of them is the use of the
term “operating lease” to define leases on both the lessee and lessor side. The operating lease term
is a hold over from existing lease rules found in ASU 840. Under the new ASU 2016-02 amendments,
a lessee’s lease classified as an operating lease is capitalized while an operating lease classified by a
lessor is not.
Recall that under existing, pre-ASU 2016-02 authority (found in ASC 840), a lessee’s operating lease is
not recorded on the balance sheet. Instead, the lease is kept off-balance sheet with the lessee recording
rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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With respect to ASU 2016-02, the term “operating lease” is used on both the lessee and lessor sides of
the lease transaction as follows:
Lessee’s operating lease: Lease is capitalized with a right-of-use asset and lease
obligation, with total lease expense recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
Lessor’s operating lease: Lease is not recorded. Underlying asset is retained on the
lessor’s books with rental income recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The author suggests that the FASB, in creating ASU 2016-02, should have used new descriptions of
leases under the new standard to differentiate from the terms used in previous ASC 840. One of those
lease descriptions that should not have been used in ASU 2016-02 is the use of the term “operating
lease.” That term is linked to previous GAAP and should have been retired.
To illustrate the confusion, previous GAAP does not capitalize an operating lease, while under new ASU
2016-02, an operating lease is capitalized. Moreover, a lessor’s operating lease in ASU 2016-02 is not
recorded.
What a mess!
Throughout this course, the author has added a suffix “Type A” and “Type B” to differentiate the types of
lessee leases under ASU 2016-02. (ASU 2016-02 does not use the terms “Type A” and “Type B” even
though the author does use them to help describe leases.)
The following table illustrates how the suffixes are used through the course.

Lessee Lease Classification
(ASU 2016-02)
Finance lease
Operating lease

Author’s Description
Used in Course
Finance lease (Type A)
Operating lease (Type B)

The author expects that by adding the suffix Type A and Type B to finance and operating leases, it will be
easier for the reader to differentiate between the two types of leases classified by a lessee, both of which
are capitalized in ASU 2016-02.
6.

Effective date
The ASU is effective for calendar year 2019 for public companies, and for calendar
year 2020 for all other entities (including nonpublic entities). Early application of the
amendments in ASU 2016-02 is permitted for all entities.
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TEST YOUR KNOWLEDGE #1
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of the
information presented in the chapter (assignment). They are included as an additional tool to enhance
your learning experience and do not need to be submitted in order to receive CPE credit.
We recommend that you answer each question and then compare your response to the suggested
solutions on the following page(s) before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter
(assignment).
1.

Under pre-ASU 2016-02 GAAP (Leases (ASC 840) (formerly FASB No. 13)), for
a lease to qualify as a capital lease, which one of the following is a qualifying
condition:
A. the future value of the minimum lease payments must be equal to or exceed
10% or more of the fair value of the asset
B. the lease term must be no more than 50% of the remaining useful life of the
leased asset
C. there is a bargain purchase at the end of the lease
D. there must not be a transfer of ownership

2.

Which of the following models does the new ASU 2016-02 lease standard
use:
A. right-of-use model
B. operating lease model
C. capital lease model
D. true lease model

3.

Under the new lease standard, which one of the following leases is exempt
from being recorded on the balance sheet:
A. capital leases
B. leases with a term of 12 months or less
C. related party leases
D. finance leases
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4.

Under the new lease standard, expense on the lessee’s income statement
consists of which of the following components under a finance (Type A)
lease:
A. rent expense
B. interest and depreciation expense
C. rent and interest expense
D. interest and amortization expense

5.

How are options accounted for under the new lease standard:
A. option payments and option lease terms are included in the present value
calculation in certain instances
B. the lease term includes lease options only once they are exercised
C. options are ignored altogether in determining lease term
D. options are considered in the lease payments but not the lease term
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES #1
Below are the solutions and suggested responses for the questions on the previous page(s). If you
choose an incorrect answer, you should review the pages as indicated for each question to ensure
comprehension of the material.
1.

A. Incorrect. For a lease to qualify as a capital lease, the present value of the minimum
lease payments must be equal to or exceed 90% or more (and not 10%) of the fair value
of the asset.
B. Incorrect. For a lease to qualify as a capital lease, the lease term must be at least 75%
(not more than 50%) of the remaining useful life of the leased asset.
C. CORRECT. If there is a bargain purchase at the end of the lease, the lease is a capital
lease.
D. Incorrect. If there is a transfer of ownership, the lease qualifies as a capital lease.
(See pages 1 to 2 of the course material.)

2.

A. CORRECT. The new lease standard uses the right-of-use model under which assets
and liabilities arising from the lease are recorded on the balance sheet.
B. Incorrect. Although certain leases under the new model are called operating leases, the
model is not referred to as an operating lease model.
C. Incorrect. The term “capital lease” is part of existing GAAP and is not used in the new
model even though the new model does capitalize assets and liabilities.
D. Incorrect. The concept of “true lease” is found in taxation and not in GAAP.
(See page 4 of the course material.)

3.

A. Incorrect. The term “capital leases” is part of existing GAAP and is not used in the new
lease standards.
B. CORRECT. ASU 2016-02 allows leases with a term of 12 months to be kept off balance
sheet.
C. Incorrect. ASU 2016-02 does not provide any special rules for related-party leases.
Instead, such leases are treated like any other leases.
D. Incorrect. Finance leases are one type of lease that must be capitalized by a lessee
under ASU 2016-02.
(See pages 4 to 5 of the course material.)
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4.

A. Incorrect. Leases with lease terms of 12 months or less are not capitalized, and
therefore, lease payments are recorded to rent expense. Finance (Type A) leases do
not record rent expense.
B. Incorrect. Interest is recorded but amortization is the second component, not
depreciation. The right-of-use lease asset is an intangible asset for which amortization,
not depreciation, is recorded.
C. Incorrect. For a finance (Type A) lease, interest expense, not rent expense, is a
component of a lease recorded under the new standard. Rent expense applies to a
short-term lease (12 months or less) that is not capitalized.
D. CORRECT. Both amortization and interest expense are components of expense
recorded for a finance (Type A) lease under the new lease standard. Amortization relates
to the asset capitalized while interest expense relates to a portion of the payments of
the lease obligation.
(See pages 5 to 6 of the course material.)

5.

A. CORRECT. Option payments and option lease terms are included in the present value
calculation if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the lease extension or
lease purchase option.
B. Incorrect. The new standard does not provide for lease options being considered in the
lease term only once the option is exercised. Both the lease term and payment are
reflected in the lease calculations in certain instances.
C. Incorrect. The new standard states that options are considered in lease calculations in
certain instances.
D. Incorrect. Options are considered in both the lease payments and lease term in certain
instances.
(See page 9 of the course material.)
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Assignment 2 Objectives
After completing this chapter, you should be able to:
•
•
•
•

Recall a type of lease for which the ASU 2016-02 rules do not apply.
Recognize some of the criteria that determine whether a contract is or is not a lease.
Identify some of the types of economic benefits a lessee can obtain from a leased asset.
Recognize a right that ASU 2016-02 states does not prevent a lessee from having the right to direct
use of an identified asset.

III. INTRODUCTION
1.

ASU 2016-02 is separated into three sections as follows:
Section A: Leases-Amendments: This section codifies the FASB’s decision in the lease
project and creates a new ASC Topic 842.
Section B: Conforming Amendments: Amendments in this section conform guidance
throughout the Accounting Standards Codification as a result of the FASB’s decisions in
the lease project.
Section C: Background Information and Basis for Conclusions: Offers background
information as to the reasons why the FASB made specific amendments found in ASU
2016-02.

2.

Section A, which introduces newly issued ASC 842, Leases, includes the following
subtopics:
a)

Overall

b)

Lessee

c)

Lessor

d)

Sale and Leaseback Transactions

e)

Leveraged Lease Arrangements

IV. DEFINITIONS USED IN ASU 2016-02
The following are some of the terms used throughout ASU 2016-02:
Commencement Date: The date on which a lessor makes an underlying asset available
for use by a lessee.
Contract: An agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights
and obligations.
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Direct Financing Lease: From the perspective of a lessor, a lease that meets none of
the criteria to be a sales-type lease or an operating lease.
Discount Rate for the Lease: The discount rate for the lease is the rate implicit in the
lease unless that rate cannot be readily determined. In that case, the lessee is required
to use its incremental borrowing rate.
Economic Life: Either the period over which an asset is expected to be economically
usable by one or more users or the number of production or similar units expected to be
obtained from an asset by one or more users.
Fair Value: The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Finance Lease: From the lessee’s perspective, a lease that meets one or more of the
five criteria and results in the lease obligation and right-of-use asset being recorded on
the lessee’s balance sheet.
Incremental Borrowing Rate: The rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay
to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease
payments in a similar economic environment.
Initial Direct Costs: Incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if
the lease had not been obtained.
Lease: A contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use
of identified property, plant, or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.
Lease Liability: A lessee’s obligation to make the lease payments arising from a lease,
measured on a discounted basis.
Lease Modification: A change to the terms and conditions of a contract that results in
a change in the scope of or the consideration for a lease (for example, a change to the
terms and conditions of the contract that adds or terminates the right to use one or more
underlying assets or extends or shortens the contractual lease term).
Lease Receivable: A lessor’s right to receive lease payments arising from a sales-type
lease or a direct financing lease plus any amount that a lessor expects to derive from the
underlying asset following the end of the lease term to the extent that it is guaranteed
by the lessee or any other third party unrelated to the lessor, measured on a discounted
basis.
Lease Term: The noncancellable period for which a lessee has the right to use an
underlying asset, together with all of the following: a) Periods covered by an option to
extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, b) Periods
covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to
16 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

exercise that option, and c) Periods covered by an option to extend (or not to terminate)
the lease in which exercise of the option is controlled by the lessor.
Lessee: An entity that enters into a contract to obtain the right to use an underlying
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Lessor: An entity that enters into a contract to provide the right to use an underlying
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Leveraged Lease: From the perspective of a lessor, a lease that was classified as a
leveraged lease in accordance with the leases guidance in effect before the effective
date and for which the commencement date is before the effective date.
Net Investment in the Lease: For a sales-type lease, the sum of the lease receivable
and the unguaranteed residual asset. For a direct financing lease, the sum of the lease
receivable and the unguaranteed residual asset, net of any deferred selling profit.
Operating Lease: From the perspective of a lessee, any lease other than a finance
lease. From the perspective of a lessor, any lease other than a sales-type lease or a
direct financing lease.
Period of Use: The total period of time that an asset is used to fulfill a contract with a
lessee (customer) (including the sum of any nonconsecutive periods of time).
Probable: The future event or events are likely to occur.
Rate Implicit in the Lease: The rate of interest that, at a given date, causes the
aggregate present value of: (a) the lease payments and (b) the amount that a lessor
expects to derive from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term to equal
the sum of (1) the fair value of the underlying asset minus any related investment tax
credit retained and expected to be realized by the lessor, and (2) any deferred initial
direct costs of the lessor.
Residual Value Guarantee: A guarantee made to a lessor that the value of an underlying
asset returned to the lessor at the end of a lease will be at least a specified amount.
Right-of-Use Asset: An asset that represents a lessee’s right to use an underlying asset
for the lease term.
Sales-Type Lease: From the perspective of a lessor, a lease that meets one or more of
five criteria.
Short-Term Lease: A lease that, at the commencement date, has a lease term of 12
months or less and does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.
Standalone Price: The price at which a lessee (customer) would purchase a component
of a contract separately.
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Sublease: A transaction in which an underlying asset is re-leased by the lessee (or
intermediate lessor) to a third party (the sublessee) and the original (or head) lease
between the lessor and the lessee remains in effect.
Underlying Asset: An asset that is the subject of a lease for which a right to use that
asset has been conveyed to a lessee. The underlying asset could be a physically distinct
portion of a single asset.
Unguaranteed Residual Asset: The amount that a lessor expects to derive from the
underlying asset following the end of the lease term that is not guaranteed by the lessee
or any other third party unrelated to the lessor, measured on a discounted basis.
Variable Lease Payments: Payments made by a lessee to a lessor for the right to use
an underlying asset that vary because of changes in facts or circumstances occurring
after the commencement date, other than the passage of time.

V. SCOPE AND SCOPE EXCEPTIONS
1.

An entity shall apply ASU 2016-02 to all leases, including subleases.

2.

The ASU does not apply to the following:
a)

Leases of intangible assets, covered by ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and
Other.

b)

Leases to explore for or use minerals, oil, natural gas, and similar nonregenerative resources, covered by ASC 930, Extractive Activities— Mining,
and ASC 932, Extractive Activities—Oil and Gas.

c)

Leases of biological assets, including timber covered by ASC 905, Agriculture.

d)

Leases of inventory per ASC 330, Inventory.

e)

Leases of assets under construction, covered by ASC 360, Property, Plant,
and Equipment.

Note
The exclusion of leases of intangible assets encompasses intangible rights to explore
related to natural resources and rights to use land that contains those natural resources.
The exclusion does not apply to rights of use where the right includes more than the right
to explore for natural resources. The exclusion also does not extend to any equipment
used to explore for the natural resources.
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VI. IDENTIFYING A LEASE
1.

At inception of a contract, an entity (lessee and lessor) shall determine whether that
contract is or contains a lease.

2.

A contract is or contains a lease if the contract:
Conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant, or equipment (an
identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
a)

3.

A period of time may be described in terms of the amount of use of an
identified asset (for example, the number of production units that an item of
equipment will be used to produce).

In assessing whether a contract has a lease, there must be the following two elements:
ELEMENT 1: There must be an identified asset, and
ELEMENT 2: The lessee must have a right to control the use of the identified
asset for a period of time.

4.

An entity shall reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease only if the terms and
conditions of the contract are changed.

5.

In making the determination about whether a contract is, or contains a lease, an entity
shall consider all relevant facts and circumstances.

6.

Contract combinations
a)

An entity shall combine two or more contracts, at least one of which is,
or contains a lease, entered into at or near the same time with the same
counterparty (or related parties) and consider the contracts as a single
transaction if any of the following criteria are met:
1)

The contracts are negotiated as a package with the same commercial
objective(s);

2)

The amount of consideration to be paid in one contract depends on the
price or performance of the other contract; or

3)

The rights to use underlying assets conveyed in the contracts (or some of
the rights of use conveyed in the contracts) are a single lease component.

Element 1: There must be an identified asset
1.

A lease must have an identified asset.
a)

If there is no identified asset, there is no lease.

b)

To be an identified asset, the asset must be either property, plant or
equipment.
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2.

3.

An asset typically is identified by being:
a)

Explicitly specified in a contract, or

b)

Implicitly specified at the time that the asset is made available for use by the
lessee (customer).

There is no identified asset if the lessor (supplier) has the substantive right to substitute
the asset (substantive substitution rights) throughout the period of use, even if the asset
is specified.
a)

A lessor’s (supplier’s) right to substitute an asset is substantive only if both of
the following conditions exist:
1)

The lessor (supplier) has the practical ability to substitute alternative
assets throughout the period of use.

a.

The lessor (supplier) has the practical ability if:
•

A lessee (customer) cannot prevent the lessor (supplier) from
substituting an asset, and

•

Alternative assets are readily available to the lessor (supplier)
or could be sourced by the lessor (supplier) within a
reasonable period of time.

b.

If the lessor (supplier) has a right or an obligation to substitute the
asset only on or after either a particular date or the occurrence of
a specified event, the lessor (supplier) does not have the practical
ability to substitute alternative assets throughout the period of use.

c.

A lessor (supplier) does not have the practical ability to substitute
alternative assets if the lessor (supplier) is required to substitute an
asset:
•

For repairs or maintenance, if the leased asset is not operating
properly, or

•

For a technical upgrade that is available.

2)

The lessor (supplier) would benefit economically from the exercise of its
right to substitute the asset.

a.

A lessor (supplier) benefits economically if the expected benefits
exceed the costs of substituting the asset.
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Note
If the asset is located at the lessee’s (customer’s) premises or elsewhere, the costs
associated with substitution are generally higher than when located at the lessor’s
(supplier’s) premises and, therefore, are more likely to exceed the benefits associated
with substituting the asset. Thus, it is more difficult to justify that the lessor (supplier)
would benefit economically from substitution where the asset is located other than on
the lessor’s (supplier’s) premises. The exception might be where the contract requires
that the lessee pay some or all of the substitution costs thereby mitigating the costs of
substitution incurred by the lessor (supplier).
b.

An entity’s evaluation of whether a lessor’s (supplier’s) substitution
right is substantive is based on facts and circumstances at inception
of the contract and shall exclude consideration of future events that,
at inception, are not considered likely to occur.
Examples of future events that, at inception of the contract, would not
be considered likely to occur and, thus, should be excluded from the
evaluation include, but are not limited to, the following:

c.

4.

•

An agreement by a future lessee (customer) to pay an abovemarket rate for use of the asset

•

The introduction of new technology that is not substantially
developed at inception of the contract

•

A substantial difference between the lessee’s (customer’s)
use of the asset, or the performance of the asset and the use
or performance considered likely at inception of the contract,
or

•

A substantial difference between the market price of the asset
during the period of use and the market price considered likely
at inception of the contract.

If the lessee (customer) cannot readily determine whether the lessor
(supplier) has a substantive substitution right, the lessee (customer)
shall presume that any substitution right is not substantive.

A capacity portion of an asset is an identified asset if it is physically distinct, such as a
floor of a building or a segment of a pipeline that connects a single lessee (customer) to
the larger pipeline.
a.

A capacity or other portion of an asset that is not physically distinct (for
example, a capacity portion of a fiber optic cable) is not an identified
asset, unless it represents substantially all of the capacity of the asset
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and thereby provides the lessee (customer) with the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset.
Element 2: The lessee must have the right to control the use of the identified asset for a period
of time
1.

To have a lease, the second element that must be satisfied is that the lessee must have
the right to control the use of the identified asset for a period of time.

2.

An entity has the right to control the use of the identified asset if it has:

3.

a)

The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset.

b)

The right to direct the use of the identified asset.

Right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified
asset
a)

To control the use of an identified asset, a lessee (customer) is required to
have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of
the asset throughout the period of use (for example, by having exclusive use
of the asset throughout that period).

b)

A lessee (customer) can obtain economic benefits from use of a leased asset
directly or indirectly in many ways, such as by:
•

Using the asset,

•

Holding the asset, or

•

Subleasing the asset.

c)

The economic benefits from use of an asset include its primary output and
by-products (including potential cash flows derived from these items) and
other economic benefits from using the asset that could be realized from a
commercial transaction with a third party.

d)

When assessing the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of an asset, an entity shall consider the economic benefits that result
from use of the asset within the defined scope of a lessee’s (customer’s) right
to use the asset in the contract.

Examples:
1)

If a contract limits the use of a motor vehicle to only one particular territory
during the period of use, an entity shall consider only the economic benefits
from use of the motor vehicle within that territory and not beyond.
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2)

If a contract specifies that a lessee (customer) can drive a motor vehicle only
up to a particular number of miles during the period of use, an entity shall
consider only the economic benefits from use of the motor vehicle for the
permitted mileage and not beyond.

e)

If a contract requires a lessee (customer) to pay the lessor (supplier) or
another party a portion of the cash flows derived from use of an asset as
consideration, those cash flows paid as consideration shall be considered to
be part of the economic benefits that the lessee (customer) obtains from use
of the asset.

Example: If a lessee (customer) is required to pay the lessor (supplier) a percentage
of sales from use of retail space as consideration for that use, that requirement does
not prevent the lessee (customer) from having the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the retail space. That is because the cash flows arising
from those sales are economic benefits that the lessee (customer) obtains from use of
the retail space, a portion of which it then pays to the lessor (supplier) as consideration
for the right to use that space.
4.

Right to direct the use of the identified asset
a)

To control the use of an identified asset, a lessee must have the right to
direct the use of an identified asset throughout the period of use in either of
the following situations:
1)

The lessee (customer) must have the right to direct how and for what
purpose the asset is used throughout the period of use, or

2)

If the relevant decisions about how and for what purpose the asset is used
are predetermined, at least one of the following two conditions must exist:

a.

The lessee has the right to operate the asset (or to direct others to
operate the asset in a manner that it determines) throughout the
period of use without the lessor (supplier) having the right to change
those operating instructions.

b.

The lessee designed the asset (or specific aspects of the asset) in a
way that predetermines how and for what purpose the asset will be
used throughout the period of use.
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Note
In assessing whether a lessee (customer) has the right to direct the use of an asset, an
entity shall consider only rights to make decisions about the use of the asset during the
period of use unless the lessee (customer) designed the asset (or specific aspects of the
asset).
An entity shall not consider decisions that are predetermined before the period of use.
For example, if a lessee (customer) is able only to specify the output of an asset before
the period of use, the lessee (customer) does not have the right to direct the use of that
asset.
The relevant decisions about how and for what purpose an asset is used can be
predetermined in a number of ways. For example, the relevant decisions can be
predetermined by the design of the asset or by contractual restrictions on the use of
the asset.
b)

A lessee (customer) has the right to direct how and for what purpose an asset
is used throughout the period of use if, within the scope of its right of use
defined in the contract, it can change how and for what purpose the asset is
used throughout that period.
1)

In making this assessment, a lessee (customer) considers the decisionmaking rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose
an asset is used throughout the period of use.

a.

Decision-making rights are relevant when they affect the economic
benefits to be derived from use. The decision-making rights that
are most relevant are likely to be different for different contracts,
depending on the nature of the asset and the terms and conditions of
the contract.

b.

Examples of decision-making rights that generally grant the right to
direct how and for what purpose an asset is used, within the defined
scope of the lessee’s (customer’s) right of use, include the following:
•

The right to change the type of output that is produced by
the asset (for example, deciding whether to use a shipping
container to transport goods for storage, or deciding on the
mix of products sold from a retail unit).

•

The right to change when the output is produced (for example,
deciding when an item of machinery or a power plant will be
used).
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c)

•

The right to change where the output is produced (for
example, deciding on the destination of a truck or a ship or
deciding where a piece of equipment is used or deployed).

•

The right to change whether the output is produced and the
quantity of that output (for example, deciding whether to
produce energy from a power plant and how much energy to
produce from that power plant).

Examples of decision-making rights that do not grant the right to direct how
and for what purpose an asset is used include rights that are limited to
operating or maintaining the asset.

Note
Although rights such as those to operate or maintain an asset often are essential to the
efficient use of an asset, they are not rights to direct how and for what purpose the asset
is used and often are dependent on the decisions about how and for what purpose the
asset is used. Such rights (that is, to operate or maintain the asset) can be held by the
lessee (customer) or the lessor (supplier). The lessor (supplier) often holds those rights
to protect its investment in the asset. However, rights to operate an asset may grant the
lessee (customer) the right to direct the use of the asset if the relevant decisions about
how and for what purpose the asset is used are predetermined.
d)

Protective rights of the lessor (supplier) do not prevent the lessee from having
the right to direct the use of an identified asset.
1)

2)

Protective rights are typically terms and conditions in a contract designed
to protect certain rights of a lessor (supplier) including:
•

The lessor’s (supplier’s) interest in the asset or other assets,

•

Its personnel, or

•

Compliance with laws or regulations.

Examples of protective rights include:
•

A contract provision that requires a lessee to follow particular
operating practices or inform the lessor (supplier) of changes
in how the asset will be used, or

•

A contract provision that specifies the maximum amount of
use of an asset or limit where or when the lessee can use the
asset.
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Observation
Embedded in most contracts are certain rights that protect the lessor (supplier) from
damages potentially created by the lessee (customer). For example, a lease contract for
equipment will likely have language that will restrict the lessee from using the asset for
particular uses that might damage the underlying leased asset. Moreover, there could
be a limit as to the number of miles that a car can be driven or machine hours that a
machine can be used to mitigate damage beyond normal wear and tear. Additionally,
a restriction on use might be required to ensure compliance with laws and regulations
,such as restricting use of a truck in restricted driving areas. These rights are considered
protective rights and do not, by themselves, affect the lessee’s (customer’s) right to
direct the use of the asset.
5.

Other issues related to right to control the leased asset:
a)

If the lessee (customer) in the contract is a joint operation or a joint
arrangement, an entity shall consider whether the joint operation or joint
arrangement has the right to control the use of an identified asset throughout
the period of use.

b)

If the lessee (customer) has the right to control the use of an identified asset
for only a portion of the term of the contract, the contract contains a lease for
that portion of the term.

How does a lessee avoid lease accounting- the asset substitution loophole?
Many lessees and lessors will try to avoid the ASU 2016-02 rules and the requirement to record lease
assets and liabilities. For most nonpublic companies, there is little or no benefit from implementing the
new lease standard. The costs of compliance are high and the large amount of lease obligation debt
recorded can cripple a company through a high debt-equity ratio. One small concession, discussed
further on in this course, is that EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization)
might increase with respect to a finance (Type A) lease. Otherwise, ASU 2016-02 is a waste of time for
most nonpublic entities and their lenders.
Many companies will try to avoid ASU 2016-02.
How can lessees and lessors avoid lease accounting under ASU 2016-02?
There are three options:
• Option 1: Convert leases to short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
• Option 2: Use a special-purpose framework, such as tax-basis of accounting, which does
not recognize ASU 2016-02 rules.
• Option 3: Insert into the lease “substitution of asset” loophole language.
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These options are discussed further on in this course.
The “substitution of asset” loophole
Remember, for there to be a lease, there must be two elements. Miss one of the elements, and you have
a service, not a lease. No lease means no ASU 2016-02 compliance. It’s that simple.
a.

Element 1: There must be an identified asset in the lease and the lessor cannot have
the substantive right to substitute the asset other than for repairs, maintenance and
technological upgrades.

b.

Element 2: The lessee must have the right to control the use of the identified asset for a
period of time.

If you want to avoid ASU 2016-02, there is one simple piece of language to include in the lease contract.
That is, permit the lessor to substitute the leased asset for an asset with one of equal or better value
and use at any time, with proper notice. That substitution right should be available to the lessor outside
the right of substitution for repairs, maintenance and technological upgrades. Further, the benefit of the
substitution must exceed the cost, from the perspective of the lessor. The ASU states that if the leased
asset is not located on the lessor’s (supplier’s) premises, the costs of substitution might be deemed
to exceed the benefits to the lessor. Thus, if the leased asset is located on the lessee’s (customer’s)
premises, the author suggests that there be language in the lease that states that if there is a substitution,
the lessee will pay for some or all of the substitution costs, such as freight costs.
The fact that the right exists in the lease does not mean the lessor will use it.
If the lessor has the substantive right to substitute the identified asset, Element 1 (having an identified
asset) is not satisfied and there is no lease. Instead, there is a service contract for which no asset or
liability is recorded. Income and expense is recognized on an accrual basis.
The following examples illustrate the application of ASU 2016-02 to identifying a lease.

Illustrations of Identifying a Lease
Source: ASU 2016-02, as modified by the author.
Example 1—Contract for Rail Cars
• A contract between Lessee and a freight carrier (Lessor) provides Lessee with the use
of 10 rail cars of a particular type for five years.
• The contract contains leases of rail cars. Lessee has the right to use 10 rail cars for five
years.
• The contract specifies the rail cars; the cars are owned by Lessor.
• There are 10 identified cars. The cars are explicitly specified in the contract.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
• Lessee determines when, where, and which goods are to be transported using the cars.
• When the cars are not in use, they are kept at Lessee’s premises.
• However, the contract has a protective right which specifies that Lessee cannot transport
particular types of cargo, such as explosives.
• Once delivered to Lessee, the cars can be substituted only when they need to be
serviced or repaired. Otherwise, and other than on default by Lessee, the Lessor cannot
retrieve the cars during the five-year period.
• The contract also has a service component:
▫▫

The contract also requires Lessor to provide an engine and a driver when
requested by Lessee.

▫▫

Lessor keeps the engines at its premises and provides instructions to the
driver detailing Lessee’s requests to transport goods.

▫▫

The engine used to transport the rail cars is not an identified asset because
it is neither explicitly specified nor implicitly specified in the contract.

▫▫

Lessor can choose to use any one of a number of engines to fulfill each
of Lessee’s requests, and one engine could be used to transport not only
Lessee’s goods, but also the goods of other lessees (customers) (for
example, if other lessees require the transport of goods to destinations
close to the destination requested by Lessee and within a similar timeframe,
Lessor can choose to attach up to 100 rail cars to the engine).

Conclusion:
The contract satisfies the two elements to be considered a lease.
Element 1: The contract provides for an identified asset.
a.

Lessor cannot substitute assets except when being serviced or repaired.

Element 2: Lessee has the right to control the use of the 10 rail cars throughout the five-year period of
use because:
a.

Lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
cars over the five-year period of use, and

b.

Lessee has the right to direct the use of the cars throughout the period of use, including
when they are not being used to transport Lessee’s goods.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
•

The contractual restrictions on the cargo that can be transported by the
cars are protective rights of Lessor and merely define (but do not restrict)
the scope of the Lessee’s right to use the cars.

•

Lessee makes all relevant decisions about how and for what purpose the
cars are used by being able to decide when and where the rail cars will be
used and which goods are transported using the cars.

•

Lessee also determines whether and how the cars will be used when not
being used to transport its goods, such as whether and when they will be
used for storage.

•

Lessee has the right to change these decisions during the five-year period
of use.

Although having an engine and driver, controlled by Lessor, to transport the rail cars is essential to the
efficient use of the cars, Lessor’s decisions in this regard do not give it the right to direct how and for
what purpose the rail cars are used. Consequently, Lessor does not control the use of the cars during
the period of use.
Change the facts
• The contract between Lessee and Lessor requires Lessor to transport a specified
quantity of goods by using a specified type of rail car in accordance with a stated
timetable for a period of five years.
• The actual rail car used is not identified in the contract.
• The timetable and quantity of goods specified are equivalent to Lessee having the use
of 10 rail cars for five-years.
• Lessor provides the rail cars, driver, and engine as part of the contract.
• The contract states the nature and quantity of the goods to be transported and the type
of rail car to be used to transport the goods. Lessor has a large pool of similar cars that
can be used to fulfill the requirements of the contract.
• Lessor can choose to use any one of a number of engines to fulfill each of Lessee’s
requests, and one engine could be used to transport not only Lessee’s goods, but also
the goods of other lessees. The cars and engines are stored at Lessor’s premises when
not being used to transport goods.
Conclusion:
The contract does not contain a lease of rail cars or of an engine because it does not satisfy the two
elements to be considered a lease.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
Instead, the contract should be treated as a service contract for which ASU 2016-02 lease rules do not
apply.
Element 1: There is no identified asset for the following reasons:
• The contract does not identify specific rail cars and the engines used to transport
Lessee’s goods.
• Lessor has the substantive right to substitute the rail cars and engine because Lessor
has the practical ability to substitute each car and the engine throughout the period of
use without Lessee’s approval.
Element 2: Lessee does not have the right to control the use of the car and engine throughout the fiveyear period of use.
An entity has the right to control the use of the identified asset if it has:
a.

The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset, and

b.

The right to direct the use of the identified asset.

Lessor directs the use of the rail cars and engine by selecting which cars and engine are used for each
particular delivery and obtains substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the rail cars and
engine.
Lessee does not direct the use and does not have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from use of an identified car or an engine.
The Lessor is providing freight capacity, not an asset for the direct use of the Lessee.
Example 2: Concession Space
• A coffee company (Lessee) enters into a contract with an airport operator (Lessor) to
use a space in the airport to sell its goods for a three-year period.
• The contract states the amount of space and that the space may be located at any one
of several boarding areas within the airport.
• Lessor has the right to change the location of the space allocated to Lessee at any time
during the period of use.
• There are minimal costs to Lessor associated with changing the space for the Lessee.
Lessee uses a kiosk (that it owns) that can be moved easily to sell its goods. There are
many areas in the airport that are available and that would meet the specifications for
the space in the contract.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
Conclusion:
The contract does not contain a lease and is merely a service contract. Both elements of being a lease
are not satisfied.
Element 1: There is no identified asset in the contract for the following reasons:
a.

Although the amount of space Lessee uses is specified in the contract, there is no
identified asset.

b.

The Lessor has the substantive right to substitute the space.

Element 2: The second requirement is that the lessee must have the right to control the use of the
space.
An entity has the right to control the use of the identified asset if it has:
a.

The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset, and

b.

The right to direct the use of the identified asset.

In this example, whether the Lessee does control the use of the space is moot because there is no
identified asset (Element 1 is not satisfied). Thus, there is not a lease.
Example 3: Fiber-Optic Cable
Case A: Contract Contains a Lease
• Customer (Lessee) enters into a 15-year contract with a utilities company (Lessor)
for the right to use three, specified, physically distinct dark fibers within a larger cable
connecting Hong Kong to Tokyo.
• The contract contains a lease of dark fibers. Lessee has the right to use the three dark
fibers for 15 years.
• There are three identified fibers which are explicitly specified in the contract and are
physically distinct from other fibers within the cable.
• Lessor cannot substitute the fibers other than for reasons of repairs, maintenance, or
malfunction.
• Lessee makes the decisions about the use of the fibers by connecting each end of the
fibers to its electronic equipment, lighting the fibers, and deciding what data and how
much data those fibers will transport.

31 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
• If the fibers are damaged, Lessor is responsible for the repairs and maintenance.
Lessor owns extra fibers but must substitute those for Lessee’s fibers only for reasons
of repairs, maintenance, or malfunction.
Conclusion:
Contract is a lease in that it satisfies both elements required to be considered a lease.
Element 1: The contract identifies special leased assets. Lessor does not have substantive substitution
rights except when the asset is being serviced or repaired.
Element 2: Lessee has the right to control the use of the fibers throughout the 15-year period of use
because:
a.

Lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
fibers over the 15-year period of use. Lessee has exclusive use of the fibers throughout
the period of use.

b.

Lessee has the right to direct the use of the fibers.
•

Lessee makes the relevant decisions about how and for what purpose the
fibers are used by deciding when and whether to light the fibers and when
and how much output the fibers will produce.

•

Lessee has the right to change these decisions during the 15-year period
of use.

Although Lessor’s decisions about repairing and maintaining the fibers are essential to their efficient
use, those decisions do not give Lessor the right to direct how and for what purpose the fibers are
used. Lessor does not control the use of the fibers during the period of use.
Example 4: Retail Unit
• Lessee (customer) enters into a contract with property owner (Lessor) to use Retail Unit
A for a five-year period.
• Lessee has the right to use Retail Unit A for five years and signs a contract for the fiveyear period.
• Retail Unit A is part of a larger retail space with many retail units.
• The contract requires Lessee (customer) to make fixed payments to Lessor as well as
variable payments that are a percentage of sales from Retail Unit A.
• Lessor can require Lessee to relocate to another retail unit. In that case, Lessor is
required to provide Lessee with a retail unit of similar quality and specifications to Retail
Unit A and to pay for Lessee’s relocation costs.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
• Lessor would benefit economically from relocating Lessee only if a major new tenant
were to decide to occupy a large amount of retail space at a rate sufficiently favorable to
cover the costs of relocating Lessee and other tenants in the retail space that the new
tenant will occupy.
• Although it is possible that a major new tenant might want space in the facility, at
inception of the contract, it is not likely that those circumstances will arise.
• The contract requires Lessee to use Retail Unit A to operate its well-known store brand
to sell its goods during the hours that the larger retail space is open.
• Lessee makes all of the decisions about the use of the retail unit during the period of
use. For example, Lessee decides on the mix of goods sold from the unit, the pricing of
the goods sold, and the quantities of inventory held.
• Lessee also controls physical access to the unit throughout the five-year period of use.
• Lessor provides cleaning and security services as well as advertising services as part
of the contract.
Conclusion: Contract is a lease because it satisfies both of the required elements to be considered a
lease.
Element 1: There is an identified asset.
a.

Retail Unit A is an identified asset and is explicitly specified in the contract.

b.

Lessor has no substantive substitution rights.
•

Although Lessor has the practical ability to substitute the retail unit, it could
benefit economically from substitution only in specific circumstances.
Lessor’s substitution right is not substantive because, at inception of the
contract, those circumstances of obtaining a major retail tenant are not
considered likely to arise.

Element 2: Lessee has the right to control the use of the Retail Unit A throughout the 5-year period of
use based on several supporting facts:
a.

Lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of
Retail Unit A over the five-year period of use.
•

Lessee has exclusive use of Retail Unit A throughout the period of use.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
•

b.

The variable payment made as a percentage of sales represents
consideration that Lessee pays Lessor for the right to use the retail unit. It
does not prevent Lessee from having the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of Retail Unit A.

Lessee (customer) has the right to direct the use of Retail Unit A.
•

The contractual restrictions on the goods that can be sold from Retail Unit
A and when Retail Unit A is open define the scope of Lessee’s right to use
Retail Unit A and does not affect the Lessee’s right to direct the use of the
space.

•

Lessee makes the relevant decisions about how and for what purpose
Retail Unit A is used by being able to decide the mix of products that will be
sold in the retail unit and the sale price for those products.

•

Lessee has the right to change these decisions during the five-year period
of use.

Note: Although cleaning, security, and advertising services are essential to the efficient
use of Retail Unit A, these Lessor decisions do not give it the right to direct how and
for what purpose Retail Unit A is used. Lessor does not control the use of Retail Unit A
during the period of use, and Lessor’s decisions do not affect Lessee’s control of the
use of Retail Unit A.
Example 5: Truck Rental
• Customer (Lessee) enters into a contract with Supplier (Lessor) for the use of a truck for
18 months to transport cargo from New York to San Francisco.
• The contract contains a lease of a truck. Lessee (customer) has the right to use the
truck for the duration of the 18-months.
• There is no option to purchase the truck at the end of the lease.
• There is an identified asset in the contract.
• The truck is explicitly specified in the contract, and Lessor does not have the right to
substitute the truck. Lessor does not have substitution rights.
• Lessee is able to choose the details of the journey, such as speed, route, rest stops,
etc., within the parameters of the contract.
• The cargo to be transported and the timing and location of pickup in New York and
delivery in San Francisco are specified in the contract.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
• The contract has certain protective rights, such as:
•

Only cargo specified in the contract is permitted to be transported on this
truck for the period of the contract.

•

The truck can be driven a maximum distance.

• Lessee is responsible for driving the truck from New York to San Francisco.
Conclusion:
The contract is a lease because it satisfies the two elements required to be considered a lease.
Element 1: There is an identified asset in the contract, with the Lessor having no substantive substitution
rights.
Element 2: Lessee has the right to control the use of the truck throughout the period of use because:
a.

Lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of
the truck over the period of use. Lessee has exclusive use of the truck throughout the
period of use.

b.

Lessee has the right to direct the use of the truck.
•

Even though there are some restrictions as to the type of cargo delivered
and the maximum distance to be driven, those rights are protective rights
that do not affect the key decision-making rights that affect the Lessee’s
economic benefits.

•

How and for what purpose the truck will be used (that is, the transport
of specified cargo from New York to San Francisco within a specified
timeframe) are predetermined in the contract.

•

Lessee directs the use of the truck because it has the right to operate the
truck (such as speed, route, and rest stops) throughout the period of use.

•

Lessee makes all of the decisions about the use of the truck that can be
made during the period of use through its control of the operations of the
truck.

Change the facts:
Same facts as Example 5, except the lease term is only six months, instead of 18 months.
The lease qualifies for the short-term lease election because the lease term is 12 months or less and
there is no option to purchase.
Under the short-term lease exception, the Lessee may elect not to capitalize the lease on the balance
sheet and record rent expense on a straight-line basis.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
Example 6: Aircraft
• Customer (Lessee) enters into a contract with an aircraft owner (Lessor) for the use of
an explicitly specified aircraft for a two-year period. The contract details the interior and
exterior specifications for the aircraft.
• Lessee has the right to use the aircraft for two years.
• Lessor has certain substitution rights as follows:
•

Lessor is permitted to substitute the aircraft at any time during the twoyear period. Any substitute aircraft must meet the interior and exterior
specifications in the contract.

•

There are significant costs incurred by Lessor to substitute an aircraft to
meet Lessee’s specifications.

•

Lessor also is required to substitute the aircraft for repairs.

• There are contractual and legal restrictions in the contract on where the aircraft can fly.
• Subject to the restrictions on where the aircraft can fly, Lessee determines where and
when the aircraft will fly and which passengers and cargo will be transported on the
aircraft.
• Lessor is responsible for operating the aircraft, using its own crew. Lessee is prohibited
from hiring another operator for the aircraft or operating the aircraft itself during the term
of the contract.
Conclusion:
The contract contains a lease because it satisfies both elements to qualify as a lease.
Element 1: There is an identified asset.
a.

The aircraft is explicitly specified in the contract.

b.

Although Lessor can substitute the aircraft, its substitution right is not substantive
because:
•

Lessor will incur significant costs to substitute the aircraft to meet the
specifications required by the Lessee and the Lessor is not expected to
benefit economically from substituting the aircraft.

•

Lessor is required to substitute the aircraft for repairs.
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Illustrations of Identifying a Lease (continued)
Element 2: Lessee has the right to control the use of the aircraft throughout the two-year period of use
because:
a.

Lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
aircraft over the two-year period of use.
•

b.

Lessee has exclusive use of the aircraft throughout the period of use.

Lessee the right to direct the use of the aircraft.
•

The restrictions on where the aircraft can fly define the scope of Lessee’s
right to use the aircraft.

•

Within the scope of its right of use, Lessee makes the relevant decisions
about how and for what purpose the aircraft is used throughout the twoyear period of use because it decides whether, where, and when the aircraft
travels as well as the passengers and cargo it will transport.

•

Lessee has the right to change these decisions throughout the two-year
period of use.

Although the operation of the aircraft by Lessor is essential to its efficient use, Lessor’s decisions in
operating the aircraft do not give it the right to direct how and for what purpose the aircraft is used.
Therefore, Lessor does not control the use of the aircraft during the period of use, and Lessor’s
decisions do not affect Lessee’s control of the use of the aircraft.
Separating Components of a Contract
1.

After determining that a contract contains a lease, an entity shall identify the separate
lease components within the contract.

2.

Components of a contract transfer a good or service and can consist of:

3.

•

Lease components: Any component that transfers the right to use a leased
asset is evaluated and measured separately under the lease standard, and

•

Non-lease components: Those other components within the contract that
transfer a good or service other than use of the leased asset are excluded
from the application of the lease standard, such as:
•

Service and management service contracts, and

•

CAM (common area maintenance) costs.

An entity shall consider the right to use an underlying asset to be a separate lease
component (that is, separate from any other lease components of the contract) if both of
the following criteria are met:
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a)

The lessee can benefit from the right of use either on its own or together with
other resources that are readily available to the lessee.
•

b)

Readily available resources are goods or services that are sold or
leased separately by the lessor or other lessors or resources that the
lessee already has obtained from the lessor or from other transactions
or events.

The right of use is neither highly dependent on nor highly interrelated with
the other right(s) to use underlying assets in the contract.
•

A lessee’s right to use an underlying asset is highly dependent on
or highly interrelated with another right to use an underlying asset if
each right of use significantly affects the other.

4.

To classify and account for a lease of land and other assets, an entity shall account for
the right to use land as a separate lease component unless the accounting effect of doing
so would be insignificant (for example, separating the land element would have no effect
on lease classification of any lease component or the amount recognized for the land
lease component would be insignificant).

5.

The consideration in the contract shall be allocated to each separate lease component
and non-lease component of the contract.
a)

Components of a contract include only those items or activities that transfer a
good or service to the lessee.

b)

If an item or activity does not transfer a good or service to a lessee, it is not
considered a component of the contract.
•

c)

Activities that do not transfer a good or service to the lessee or amounts
paid solely to reimburse costs of the lessor are not components in a
contract and are not allocated any of the consideration in the contract.

Non-lease components of a contract include:
•

Common area maintenance (CAM) charges because they transfer a
service (maintenance) to the lessee that does not involve use of the
leased asset.
Example: CAM charges for cleaning of the lobby, snow removal, and
utilities are costs that are components as they transfer a service to
the lessee and would otherwise have to be undertaken or paid for by
the lessee. Such CAM charges do not involve use of the leased asset
and, therefore, are not considered a lease component. CAM charges
are not factored into the calculation of the lease obligation and are
considered a maintenance expense.

d)

The following are not separate components of a contract and do not receive
an allocation of the consideration in the contract:
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•

Administrative tasks to set up a contract or initiate the lease that do
not transfer a good or service to the lessee.

•

Reimbursement or payment of the lessor’s costs, such as
reimbursement of:
•

Real estate taxes, and

•

Insurance charges.

Example: A lessor may incur various costs in its role as a lessor or
as owner of the underlying asset. A requirement for the lessee to pay
those costs, whether directly to a third party or as a reimbursement to
the lessor, does not transfer a good or service to the lessee separate
from the right to use the underlying asset.
6.

An entity shall account for each lease component separately from the nonlease
components of the contract unless the lessee makes an accounting policy election in (7)
below.

How are CAM charges and reimbursements accounted for in lease contracts?
CAM charges
CAM charges are not part of the lease because they do not involve transfer of the right to use the leased
asset. Instead, CAM charges transfer a non-lease service to the lessee in the form of maintenance
services and are treated as a separate non-lease component in the contract. The transferred service
involves providing maintenance services and not use of the leased asset. Consequently, CAM charges
may be included in the lease contract but have nothing to do with the lease obligation calculation and are
not included in lease expense or cost. Instead, CAM charges are accounted for as follows:
a.

If CAM charges are included in the fixed lease payments under the contract, the total
fixed lease payments must be separated into two components:
•

Fixed lease component, and

•

CAM non-lease component.

b.

The fixed lease component is part of lease payments used in the present value
computation of the lease obligation.

c.

The CAM non-lease component is excluded from lease payments, not capitalized, and
are recorded to maintenance expense as incurred.

Reimbursements for lessor expenses
As for reimbursements of lessor expenses, such as real estate taxes and insurance, those costs are not
part of CAM charges and follow these rules:
a.

If the fixed lease payment includes the reimbursement for real estate taxes and insurance,
the reimbursements are included as part of lease payments used in the calculation of the
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lease obligation (present value calculation). The reason is because reimbursements are
not considered a separate component of a contract.
b.

If, instead, the reimbursements (e.g., real estate taxes and insurance, among others) are
not part of the fixed lease payments, they are considered variable lease expense when
incurred.

7.

Accounting policy election- practical expedient:
a)

As a practical expedient, a lessee may, as an accounting policy election by
class of underlying asset, choose not to separate nonlease components from
lease components and instead to account for each separate lease component
and the nonlease components associated with that lease component as a
single lease component.

Observation
The practical expedient is effective in dealing with leases that have both CAM charges
and fixed lease payments. By using the practical expedient, the lessee combines both
lease payments and fixed CAM charges into on single component used in the present
value computation for the lease obligation.
8.

Below are examples of the application of the ASU 2016-02 rules to separate components
of a contract.

Examples: Separating Components of a Contract
Source: ASU 2016-02, as modified by author.
Example 1: Activities or Costs That Are Not Components of Contract – Payments for Taxes and
Insurance Are Variable
• Lessor and Lessee enter into a five-year lease of a building.
• The contract requires the Lessee to pay for the costs relating to the asset, including the
real estate taxes and the insurance on the building.
• The real estate taxes would be owed by Lessor regardless of whether the Lessee
leased the building.
• Lessor is the named insured on the building insurance policy (that is, the insurance
protects Lessor’s investment in the building, and Lessor will receive the proceeds from
any claim).
• The annual lease payments are fixed at $10,000 per year, plus the annual real estate
taxes and insurance premium vary and are billed to Lessee at the end of each year.
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Examples: Separating Components of a Contract (continued)
Conclusion:
Lease payments used in the present value computation of the lease obligation include only the fixed
payment of $10,000 for the five years, and do not include the annual reimbursement of real estate
taxes and insurance.
The real estate taxes and the building insurance are not separate components of the contract. The
contract includes a single lease component, the right to use the building, which is included in lease
payments at the fixed amount of $10,000.
Lessee’s payments of those amounts solely represent a reimbursement of Lessor’s costs and do not
represent payments for the transfer of goods or services in addition to the right to use the building. The
real estate taxes and insurance expenses would be incurred by the Lessor regardless of whether the
building was leased to the Lessee.
The annual reimbursement of real estate taxes and insurance premiums paid by Lessee are variable
and are recognized as a variable lease payment and included in total lease expense or cost as incurred.
Thus, in this example, the results follow:
• The lease obligation is computed using the fixed lease payments of $50,000 ($10,000
x 5 years).
• When incurred, the annual reimbursement for real estate taxes and insurance is
recorded as variable lease expense.
Example 2: Payment for Taxes and Insurance Are Fixed
• Assume the same facts and circumstances as Example 1, except that the fixed annual
lease payment is $13,000.
• There are no additional payments for real estate taxes or building insurance; however,
the fixed payment is itemized in the contract (that is, $10,000 for rent, $2,000 for real
estate taxes, and $1,000 for building insurance).
Conclusion:
The taxes and insurance are not separate components of the contract.
The contract includes a single lease component, the right to use the building, for which the lessee is
paying $13,000 annually, including a fixed amount for taxes and insurance.
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Examples: Separating Components of a Contract (continued)
The $65,000 in payments that the Lessee will make over the five-year lease term ($13,000 x 5 years)
are all lease payments for the single component of the contract and, therefore, are included in the
present value computation of the lease obligation. For purposes of computing the lease obligation, the
present value of lease payments shall include the fixed amount of $13,000 for five years, including the
fixed real estate taxes and insurance.
Example 3: Common Area Maintenance
Assume the same facts as Example 2, except that the lease is of space within the building, rather than
for the entire building.
Fixed annual payment of $13,000 covers the following:
• Fixed rent payments ($10,000)
• Real estate taxes and insurance reimbursement to the lessor ($1,000), and
• Common area maintenance (CAM) activities for cleaning of common areas, parking lot
maintenance, and providing utilities to the building ($2,000).
Conclusion:
The real estate taxes and insurance are not separate components of the contract.
However, the portion of the $13,000 payments related to CAM charges ($2,000) is a separate
component because Lessor’s activities related to the CAM charges transfer non-lease services to
Lessee.
Lessee receives a service from Lessor in the form of the common area maintenance activities it would
otherwise have to undertake itself or pay another party to provide.
The common area maintenance is a non-lease component in this contract, because Lessor performs
the activities as needed (for example, plows snow or undertakes minor repairs when and as necessary)
over the same period.
Therefore, the contract includes two components:
• A lease component for the right to use the building, including the taxes and insurance
($11,000), and
• A nonlease component for the CAM charges at $2,000 per year.
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Examples: Separating Components of a Contract (continued)
The consideration in the contract of $65,000 ($13,000 x 5 years) is allocated between those 2
components; the amount allocated to the lease component is the lease payments used in the present
value computation of the lease obligation. The other nonlease component for the CAM charges is
not recorded as part of the lease. Instead, it is recorded as a maintenance expense each month as
incurred.
Example 4: Common Area Maintenance (Variable Payments)
Same facts as Example 3 except that payments are as follows:
• Fixed annual payment of $10,000
• Reimbursement for real estate taxes and insurance billed and paid at the end of the
year, and
• CAM charges billed and paid at the end of the year.
Conclusion:
The $10,000 annual payment is included in lease payments for purposes of computing the present
value of the lease obligation. Thus, the lease obligation is computed based on the present value of the
$10,000 of lease payments for five years.
When incurred at the end of each year, the reimbursement for real estate taxes and insurance is
recorded as variable lease expense or cost.
When incurred at the end of the year, the CAM charges paid are recorded as a maintenance expense
and not recorded as part of the lease cost.
Example 4A:
Same facts as Example 4 except that the lease requires the lessee to make a monthly fixed estimated
payment toward the reimbursement of the real estate taxes and insurance, and the CAM charges,
which is adjusted to actual at the end of the year.
Conclusion:
The fact that estimated payments are made toward the end-of-year actual reimbursements and CAM
charges has no bearing on how the transaction is recorded. As the monthly estimated payments are
made, they can either be captured in a deposit account or recorded in expense until ultimately adjusted
to actual at the end of the year.
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Examples: Separating Components of a Contract (continued)
Example 5: Use Practical Expedient to Not Separate Lease from Nonlease Components
Assume a lessee leases space within the building with a fixed annual payment of $13,000 for five
years, that covers the following:
• Fixed rent payments ($10,000)
• Taxes and insurance for the lessor ($1,000), and
• Common area maintenance (CAM) activities for cleaning of common areas, parking lot
maintenance, and providing utilities to the building ($2,000).
The lessee elects the practical expedient not to separate lease and nonlease components of a contract.
Conclusion:
There is only one component for the contract which is the $13,000 per year. Under the practical
expedient, the lessee elects not to separate nonlease components from lease components and instead
to account for the components as a single lease component.
In this example, the component for CAM charges (a nonlease component) is combined with the lease
component for the use of the building (including the insurance and taxes reimbursement) into one
lease component. Thus, lease payments for computing present value and the lease obligation include
a single annual lease amount of $13,000 over the five-year lease term.
9. Lessee allocation rules
a.

Unless a lessee makes an accounting policy election in accordance with Paragraph (7)
above, a lessee shall allocate the consideration in the contract to the separate lease
components and the nonlease components as follows:
1)

The lessee shall determine the relative standalone price of the separate
lease components and the nonlease components based on their observable
standalone prices.
•

2)

If observable standalone prices are not readily available, the lessee
shall estimate the standalone prices, maximizing the use of observable
information. A residual estimation approach may be appropriate if the
standalone price for a component is highly variable or uncertain.

The lessee shall allocate the consideration in the contract on a relative
standalone price basis to the separate lease components and the nonlease
components of the contract.
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Note
A price is observable if it is the price that either the lessor or similar lessor (supplier)
sells similar lease or nonlease components on a standalone basis.

3)

4)
b.

The consideration in the contract for a lessee includes all of the lease
payments, as well as all of the following payments that will be made during
the lease term:
•

Any fixed payments (such as monthly service charges) or insubstance fixed payments, less any incentives paid or payable to the
lessee, other than those included as part of lease payments.

•

Any other variable payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date.

Initial direct costs should be allocated to the separate lease components on
the same basis as the lease payments.

A lessee shall remeasure and reallocate the consideration in the contract upon either of
the following:
1)

A remeasurement of the lease liability (for example, a remeasurement
resulting from a change in the lease term or a change in the assessment
of whether a lessee is or is not reasonably certain to exercise an option to
purchase the underlying asset), or

2)

The effective date of a contract modification that is not accounted for as a
separate contract.

Example:
Lessee executes a lease that requires monthly lease payments of $10,000 for five years. The lease
payments include use of the leased asset and CAM charges. The CAM charges are not separately
stated in the contract.
Lessee does not elect to use the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components within
the contract.
Lessee estimates the value of the CAM services to be worth about $2,000 per month on a standalone
basis. That is, if Lessee had to replace the maintenance services provided by the lessor, it would cost
the Lessee about $2,000.
Lessee estimates that the standalone price of the lease itself, without the CAM charges, is the remainder
of the payments of $8,000 per month.
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Conclusion:
The contract includes two components as follows:
• Lease component, for use of the leased asset, and
• Non-lease component, for CAM services.
Under ASU 2016-02, the components must be separated based on standalone prices.
Thus, the $10,000 per month is separated into:
Lease component
Non-lease component- CAM charges

$8,000
2,000
$10,000

The $8,000 per month lease component is part of lease payments used in the present value computation
of the lease obligation based on $8,000 x 60 months.
The $2,000 non-lease component is not part of the lease, is not capitalized, and is recorded as
maintenance expense each month as incurred.

Observation
The previous example illustrates the tediousness of separating CAM charges in the
lease contract and treating them as a non-lease component. It is common for leases not
to separate CAM charges and to include them as part of the monthly fixed payment. In
such instances, ASU 2016-02 requires the lessee to carve out a part of the fixed payment
for the CAM charges (nonlease component) even if such charges are not identified
separately within the lease contract. In such instances, it may be more practical to make
the practical expedient election under which the lessee is not required to separate the
non-lease component (CAM charges) from the lease component remainder. However,
one risk of making the election is that CAM charges would be included as part of lease
payments, resulting in a higher present value calculation of the lease obligation.
Land Easements- ASU 2018-01
ASU 842-10-65-1 defines a land easement (commonly referred to as a right of way) as:
“a right to use, access, or cross another entity’s land for a specified purpose.”
Land easements may or may not meet the definition of a lease in ASU 2016-02.
As previously addressed, ASU 2016-02 states that a lease has two elements:
ELEMENT 1: There must be an identified asset, and
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ELEMENT 2: The lessee must have a right to control the use of the identified asset for a
period of time.
Most land easements exist in perpetuity so that the easement does not convey the right to use the
underlying land for a period of time. Thus, if the easement has no defined period of time, it fails to satisfy
Element 2 (for a period of time) and may not be a lease. Instead, it is likely treated as an intangible
asset, accounted for under ASC 350, Intangibles- Goodwill and Other.
Example: Company X is a distributor of natural gas and has two pipelines. Each pipeline was constructed
on land for which X has perpetual easements and pays fees for those easements.
Conclusion: Because the easements are perpetual and do not have a defined period of time, the
easements fail Element 2 and do not meet the definition of a lease under ASU 2016-02. Consequently,
the easements should be treated as intangible assets or be accounted for under other GAAP.
ASU 2018-01’s practical expedient
In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-01, Leases (Topic 842)- Land Easement Practical
Expedient for Transition to Topic 842, to offer companies a practical expedient to address land easements
in connection with the new lease standard found in ASU 2016-02.
The practical expedient only applies to existing or expired land easements that have not been previously
accounted for as leases under existing GAAP’s ASC 840.
Under ASU 2018-01:
1.

With respect to existing or expiring land easements not previously accounted for as
leases under existing GAAP, an entity may elect not to assess whether they are leases
under the new standard.

Note
Because the election does not require for the easement to be assessed to determine
whether it is a lease, the easement is excluded from the new lease standard rules and
must be accounted for under other GAAP (such as intangible assets, etc.).

2.

For purposes of the practical expedient, a land easement (also commonly referred to as a
right of way) refers to a right to use, access, or cross another entity’s land for a specified
purpose.

3.

If elected, the practical expedient is applied to all its existing and expired land easements
that have not been previously accounted for as leases under ASC 840.

4.

This practical expedient may be elected separately or in conjunction with either one or
both of the other practical expedients offered in the new lease standard.
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5.

An entity that elects this practical expedient for existing or expired land easements, shall
apply the lease rules in ASU 2016-02 to land easements entered into (or modified) on or
after the effective date of ASU 2016-02.

6.

An entity that previously accounted for existing or expired land easements as leases
under ASC 840 is not be eligible for this practical expedient for those land easements.

Note
If an easement was accounted for as a lease under the existing GAAP rules, the practical
expedient is not available, and the entity must assess the easement to determine
whether it is a lease and subject to the new lease standard.

A quick summary of how this practical expedient works follows:
1.

Under the practical expedient election, the new lease rules do not apply to:
•

2.

Any easements in effect prior to the effective date of the new lease standard
that are not accounted for as a leases under existing GAAP.

The practical expedient election is not available to and the new lease rules may apply to:
•

Any easements in effect prior to the effective date of the new lease standard
that are accounted for as leases under existing GAAP.

•

Any new easements entered into or modified on or after the effective date of
the new lease standard.

Example 1: Company X is a real estate developer. At the effective date of the new lease standard, X
has easements on several pieces of land. Under existing GAAP, the easements are not accounted for as
leases and, instead, are accounted for under the intangible asset rules.
Conclusion: Because the easements are in existence at the effective date of the new standard and have
not been accounted for as leases under existing GAAP, the practical expedient is available. Consequently,
if the practical expedient is elected, X is not required to assess the easements to determine whether they
are leases under the new lease standard and is not required to treat the easements as leases. Thus, the
easements are accounted for under other GAAP, such as under the intangible asset rules.
Example 2: Company X is a real estate developer. At the effective date of the new lease standard, X has
easements on several pieces of land. Under existing GAAP, the easements are accounted for as leases
and, instead are accounted for under the intangible asset rules.
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Conclusion: Because the easements are in existence at the effective date of the new standard and
have been accounted for as leases under existing GAAP, the practical expedient is not available.
Consequently, X must assess the easements to determine whether they are leases under the new
standard. If the easements qualify as leases under the new ASU 2016-02 definition, the easements
should be accounted for as leases under new ASU 2016-02.
Example 3: Company X is a real estate developer. X enters into several new land easements entered
into after the effective date of the new lease standard.
Conclusion: Because the easements are entered into after the effective date of the new lease standard,
the practical expedient is not available. Consequently, X must assess the new easements to determine
whether they are leases under the new standard. If the easements qualify as leases under the new ASU
2016-02 definition, the easements should be accounted for as leases under new ASU 2016-02.
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TEST YOUR KNOWLEDGE #2
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of the
information presented in the chapter (assignment). They are included as an additional tool to enhance
your learning experience and do not need to be submitted in order to receive CPE credit.
We recommend that you answer each question and then compare your response to the suggested
solutions on the following page(s) before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter
(assignment).
1.

Which of the following is an element that must exist for there to be a lease:
A. there must be a description of an asset
B. the lessee must have the right to retain physical custody of the asset on a
regular basis
C. the asset must be identified explicitly in the contract
D. the asset must be property, plant or equipment

2.

Company J has two contracts with a company that leases equipment. One
contract contains a lease. J should combine the two contracts and treat them
as a single transaction if which one of the following criteria is met:
A. the contracts are negotiated within one year of each other
B. the amount of consideration to be paid in one contract is independent of the
price of the other contract
C. the rights to use the underlying assets are treated as a single component
D. the two contracts have consideration which is similar in value to each other

3.

A lessor has the practical ability to substitute alternative assets in which of
the following instances:
A. to repair the leased asset
B. for maintenance of the leased asset
C. for a technical upgrade that is available
D. so that the lessor can benefit from selling the leased asset
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4.

Which of the following would not be an example of decision-making rights
that grant the right of a lessee to direct how and for what purpose a leased
asset is used:
A. the right to change the type of output that is produced by the asset
B. the right to change when the output is produced
C. the right to operate and maintain the leased asset
D. the right to change where the output is produced

5.

A contract provision that does which of the following would be considered a
protective right found in a lease contract:
A. a contract provision that requires the lessee to follow particular operating
practices
B. a contract provision that defines the lease term
C. a contract provision that requires the lessee to make a specific payment by a
prescribed date
D. a contract provision that defines the leased asset

6.

Sandy Lane CPA is working on her client’s leases and complying with the new
ASU 2016-02 requirements. Sandy is trying to identify separate components
of each lease contract. Which of the following is a component:
A. administrative costs to set up the contract
B. reimbursement to the lessor for insurance
C. payment of common area maintenance (CAM) charges
D. reimbursement to the lessor for real estate taxes

7.

Wally Gator is a CPA and getting a headache from reviewing the new ASU
2016-02 rules. In reviewing certain lease contracts, Wally notices that the
contracts might have several components. Wally would rather be fishing and
does not want to work that hard to separate the components. What is Wally’s
perfect solution:
A. elect not to capitalize any of the components
B. consolidate the components into one non-lease component
C. elect not to separate the components
D. there is no solution as ASU 2016-02 requires that components be separated
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8.

Mr. Bill is a CPA applying the ASU 2016-02 rules to his client. His client’s
contract has several components. How should Bill allocate consideration to
the components:
A. based on fair value
B. based on standalone prices
C. consideration should not be allocated
D. based on the ratio of lease and nonlease transactions
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES #2
Below are the solutions and suggested responses for the questions on the previous page(s). If you
choose an incorrect answer, you should review the pages as indicated for each question to ensure
comprehension of the material.
1.

A. Incorrect. There must be an identified asset and not just a description of an asset.
B. Incorrect. The lessee must have the right to control the use of the asset, not merely
retain physical custody of the asset on a regular basis
C. Incorrect. Although the asset might be identified explicitly in the contract, it can also be
implicitly specified at the time the asset is made available to the lessee.
D. CORRECT. A leased asset must involve use of either property, plant or equipment.
Other types of assets, including intangible assets, do not qualify under the lease
standard.
(See page 19 of the course material.)

2.

A. Incorrect. ASU 2016-02 requires that the contracts are negotiated as a package with the
same commercial objective. Negotiating as a package suggests they are negotiated at
approximately the same time, and not within one year of each other.
B. Incorrect. The ASU states that the amount of consideration in one contract must depend
on the price or performance of the other contract. Thus, the contracts are interdependent,
and not independent.
C. CORRECT. One of the criteria that ASU 2016-02 requires to combine the contracts into
a single transaction is that the rights to use the underlying assets or the some or all of
the rights in the contracts must be treated as a single component.
D. Incorrect. The ASU does not provide a requirement that the consideration between the
two contracts be similar in value to each other.
(See page 19 of the course material.)
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3.

A. Incorrect. The general rule is that a lessor does not have the ability to substitute
alternative assets if the lessor must do so to accommodate a needed repair, particularly
if the leased asset is not working properly.
B. Incorrect. If a lessor substitutes the leased asset to perform maintenance of the leased
asset, that action does not demonstrate the lessor’s practical ability to substitute assets.
C. Incorrect. The ASU states that a technical upgrade to the substituted asset that is
available is not deemed to show the lessor’s practical ability to substitute alternative
assets.
D. CORRECT. One element that demonstrates that a lessor has the practical ability to
substitute assets is if the lessor benefits economically from the substitution. In general,
that occurs if the expected benefits from the substitution exceed the costs of doing so.
(See page 20 of the course material.)

4.

A. Incorrect. The right to change the type of output that is produced by the asset is an
example of a decision-making right that grants the right to direct how and for what
purpose the leased asset is used. One example is where a lessee decides whether to
use a shipping container to transport goods or for storage. Another is deciding the mix
of products sold from a retail unit.
B. Incorrect. The right to change when the output is produced is an example of a decisionmaking right that grants the right to direct how and for what purpose the leased asset is
used. One example is where the lessee decides when an item of machinery or a power
plant will be used.
C. CORRECT. In general, the right to operate and maintain the leased asset is not a
decision-making right that grants to the lessee the right to direct how and for what
purpose a leased asset is used. Even though such a right as operating and maintaining
the leased asset is critical to the use of the asset, these rights do not involve directing
how and for what purpose the asset is used.
D. Incorrect. Having the right to change where the output is produced is an example of
a decision-making right that grants the right to direct how and for what purpose the
leased asset is used. One example is deciding on the destination of a truck or a ship or
deciding where a piece of equipment is used or deployed.
(See page 24 of the course material.)
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5.

A. CORRECT. A protective right is one that is designed to protect certain rights of the
lessor. Such a protective right would be one that requires the lessee to follow particular
operating practices, particularly those that might protect the underlying leased asset.
B. Incorrect. Although defining the lease term would typically be included in the lease
contract, such an element is not a protective clause as it does not protect a right of the
lessor (supplier) in the leased asset.
C. Incorrect. A clause that requires the lessee to make specific payment by a prescribed
date is a contract term but not categorized as a protective clause as it does not protect
the lessor’s interest in the leased asset.
D. Incorrect. Defining the leased asset is not a protective clause as it does not protect the
lessor’s interest in the leased asset.
(See page 25 of the course material.)

6.

A. Incorrect. Administrative costs to set up the contract or to initiate the lease contract are
not a separate component as they do not result in the transfer of a good or service to
the lessee.
B. Incorrect. Reimbursement to the lessor for insurance is not a separate component
because the cost would be incurred by the lessor anyway and does not result in a
transfer of a good or service to the lessee.
C. CORRECT. In general, common area maintenance (CAM) charges qualify as a
separate component because they transfer a service to the lessee and would otherwise
have to be undertaken and paid for by the lessee.
D. Incorrect. Like insurance, the reimbursement to the lessor for real estate taxes is not
a separate component because the cost would be incurred by the lessor anyway and
does not result in a transfer of a good or service to the lessee.
(See page 38 of the course material.)

7.

A. Incorrect. ASU 2016-02 provides guidance on separating components but does not
permit an entity not to capitalize any of the components. The separation of components
has nothing to do with overriding the general concept that most leases must be
capitalized.
B. Incorrect. If components are combined, they are combined into one lease component.
Nothing in the ASU permits establishing one non-lease component.
C. CORRECT. ASU 2016-02 offers a practical expedient under which a lessee may
make an accounting policy election to choose not to separate nonlease components
from lease components. Instead, the components are combined into one single lease
component.
D. Incorrect. The solution is the practical expedient, which allows for the combining of
components into one single component.
(See page 40 of the course material.)
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8.

A. Incorrect. Fair value is not used in the allocation of consideration to components.
B. CORRECT. The ASU requires an allocation of contract consideration based on
standalone prices of each of the separate contract components.
C. Incorrect. Because contracts can have both lease and nonlease components, an
allocation of consideration is required.
D. Incorrect. Allocation based on transactions is not the basis authorized by ASU 2016-02.
Instead, it is based on contract consideration using observable standalone prices to
make the allocation.
(See page 44 of the course material.)
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Assignment 3 Objectives
After completing this chapter, you should be able to:
• Identify a threshold for a lease term to be considered a major part of an asset’s remaining economic
life.
• Recognize why an entity might not want to use the risk-free rate to compute the present value of
lease payments.
• Identify how a lessee should account for initial direct costs.
• Recognize items that are and are not components of a lease term.
• Recall the method a lessee should use to record interest expense on a lease obligation.

VII. LESSEE RULES
A. LEASE CLASSIFICATION - LESSEE
1.

ASU 2016-02 requires an entity to classify each separate lease component at the
commencement date. In most cases, there is one lease component per lease.

2.

Once the classification is done, an entity shall not reassess the lease classification after
the commencement date unless:

3.

a)

The lease contract is modified and the modification is not accounted for as a
separate contract.

b)

There is a change in the lease term or the assessment of whether the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the underlying leased
asset.

A lessee shall classify a lease as either a(an):
Finance lease (Type A lease)- Lessee expects to consume a major part of
the economic benefits of the leased asset.
Operating lease (Type B lease)- Lessee does not expect to consume a major
part of the economic benefits of the leased asset. An operating lease is
defined as any lease that does not qualify as a finance lease.

4.

Finance lease- lessee
a)

A lease is a finance lease if the lessee expects to consume a major part of
the economic benefits of the leased asset when the lease meets any one of
the following five criteria at the lease commencement date:
Criterion 1: The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the
lessee by the end of the lease term.
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Criterion 2: The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying
asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.
Criterion 3: The lease term is for the major part of the remaining economic
life of the underlying asset.
1)

75% or more of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset is a
major part of the remaining economic life of that underlying asset.
Exception: If the commencement date falls within the last 25% of the
total economic life of the underlying leased asset, the 75% criterion
(Criterion 3) cannot be used for purposes of classifying the lease.

Note
If a single lease component contains the right to use more than one underlying asset, an
entity shall consider the remaining economic life of the predominant asset in the lease
component in computing the 75% test.

Criterion 4: The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any
residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the
lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the
underlying asset.
1)

90% or more of the fair value of the underlying asset amounts to
substantially all the fair value of the underlying asset.

a.

The ASU is silent as to which interest rate a lessee should use to
apply the 90% test. Absent authority, the lessee should use rates
authorized elsewhere within the ASU:
First, use the rate implicit in the lease, if available.
Then, use the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.3

3. Further on in this course, the author addresses use of the risk-free rate of return (e.g., U.S. Treasury Rate) to make the
present value computation of the lease obligation. The question is whether a lessee is permitted to use the risk-free rate of
return in performing the 90% test (Criterion 4). ASU 2016-02 is silent on the matter.
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Note
The ASU states that in some cases, it may not be practicable for an entity to determine
the fair value of an underlying asset for purposes of performing the 90% test (Criterion
4). The term “practicable” means that a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made
without undue cost or effort. In situations in which it is not practicable for a lessee
to determine the fair value of an underlying asset, the lease classification should be
determined based on the other four criteria without consideration to the 90% test
(Criterion 4).
Criterion 5: The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is
expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term.
Below is a brief discussion of each of the five criteria.
Criterion 1: Transfer of ownership criterion
The transfer of ownership criterion (Criterion 1) is met in leases that have language that:
a.

States that upon the lessee’s performance in accordance with the terms of the lease,
that the lessor should execute and deliver to the lessee such documents (including, if
applicable, a bill of sale) as may be required to release the underlying asset from the
lease and to transfer ownership to the lessee.

b.

Requires the payment by the lessee of a nominal amount (for example, the minimum fee
required by the statutory regulation to transfer ownership) in connection with the transfer
of ownership.

Note
A provision in a lease that ownership of the underlying asset is not transferred to the
lessee if the lessee elects not to pay the specified fee (whether nominal or otherwise) to
complete the transfer is an option to purchase the underlying asset. Such a provision
does not satisfy the transfer-of-ownership criterion (Criterion 1).
Criterion 2: The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying asset that the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
ASU 2016-02 provides that if a lease has an option to purchase the underlying leased asset and it is
reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the option, Criterion 2 is met and the lease is categorized
as a finance lease (Type A) lease.
a.

The determination of whether the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option is
made at the commencement date, and not subsequent to the commencement date.
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Criterion 3: Lease term is a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying leased
asset
In Criterion 3, ASU 2016-02 applies a 75 percent rule in determining whether the lease term is a major
part of the remaining economic life.
It states that:
“If the lease term is 75 percent or more of the remaining economic life of the underlying
asset, the lease term is considered a major part of the remaining economic life of the
asset. In such a case, Criterion 3 is satisfied and the lease is a finance lease from the
lessee’s perspective.”
In determining the lease term, there are a few rules:
a.

The lessee should include any options to extend the lease if it reasonably certain the
lessee will exercise its option to extend the lease.

b.

If the commencement date is within the last 25 percent of the total economic life of the
leased asset, Criterion 3 cannot be used to test whether there is a finance lease. Instead,
a lessee must use one of the other four criteria.

c.

If a lease has several lease components with different remaining economic lives, the
lessee should use the remaining economic life of the most predominant asset within the
lease, to apply to the calculation of the entire lease.

Criterion 4: Present value is 90% or more of the fair value
Criterion 4 states that if the present value of the lease payments (and any residual value not already
reflected in the lease payments) is 90 percent or more of the fair value of the leased asset, the lease
consumes a major part of the economic benefit of the leased asset. Thus, Criterion 4 is satisfied and the
lease is considered a finance (Type A) lease.
a.

In determining the present value, lease payments should include the payments of any
lease option periods and any option to purchase, if it is reasonably certain that the lessee
will exercise those options.

b.

The present value calculation should include a residual value at the end of the lease term.

Which interest rate should a lessee use in making the 90% present value calculation in Criterion
4?
The ASU does not require that the lessee use the implicit interest rate to make the 90% calculation,
although use of the implicit rate is required by the lessor. Absent the requirement to use the implicit
interest rate, the author believes it is appropriate to follow the guidance found in the ASU in calculating
the lease obligation which is to first use the implicit rate in the lease, if available. If the implicit rate is not
available, use the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.
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Further on in this course, the author addresses the present value computation of the lease obligation.
In that section, the ASU permits use of a risk-free rate (such as the U.S. Treasury rate) for nonpublic
lessees in computing the lease obligation. The question is whether a lessee is permitted to use the
risk-free rate of return in performing the 90% test (Criterion 4) to determine whether a lease is a finance
lease. The ASU is silent on the issue.
Criterion 5: Alternative use
Criterion 5 states that for a lessee, a lease is classified as a finance lease (Type A lease) if the leased
asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end
of the lease term.
ASU 2016-02 states that in assessing whether an underlying asset has an alternative use to the lessor
at the end of the lease term and the lessor’ ability to readily direct that asset for another use (such as sell
it or lease it to an entity other than the lessee), a lessee should consider the effects of:
• Contractual restrictions, and
• Practical limitations.
The ASU provides the following guidance in making the assessment of alternative use:
a.

A contractual restriction on a lessor’s ability to direct an underlying asset for another use
must be substantive (e.g., enforceable) for the asset not to have an alternative use to the
lessor.

b.

A practical limitation on a lessor’s ability to direct an underlying asset for another use
exists if the lessor would incur significant economic losses to direct the underlying asset
for another use.
•

A significant economic loss could arise because the lessor either would incur
significant costs to rework the asset or would only be able to sell or re-lease
the asset at a significant loss.
For example, a lessor may be practically limited from redirecting assets that
either have design specifications that are unique to the lessee or that are
located in remote areas.

ASU 2016-02 states that the possibility of the contract with the lessee (customer) being terminated is not
a relevant consideration in assessing whether the lessor would be able to readily direct the underlying
asset for another use.
5.

Operating lease (Type B lease)- lessee
a)

When none of the five criteria to classify a lease as a finance (Type A) lease
are met, a lessee shall classify the lease as an operating (Type B) lease.
That means an operating lease fails all of the five criteria related to a finance
lease:
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•

Fails Criterion 1: The lease does not transfer ownership of the underlying
asset to the lessee at the end of the lease term.

•

Fails Criterion 2: The lease does not grant the lessee an option to purchase
the leased asset or there is an option to purchase and it is not reasonably
certain that the lessee will exercise it at the commencement date.

•

Fails Criterion 3: The lease term is not 75% or more of the remaining
economic life of the leased asset.

•

Fails Criterion 4: The present value of the lease payments (and any residual
value guaranteed by the lessee) is less than 90% of the fair value of the
leased asset.

•

Fails Criterion 5: The underlying asset is not of such a specialized nature that
it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease
term.
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Below are examples illustrating the classification of leases from the lessee’s perspective.

Examples: Classification of Leases- Lessee
Source: The author.
Example 1: Criterion 1- Transfer of Ownership
Company X is a lessee who executes a five-year lease. The lease states that, at the end of the lease,
the leased asset ownership transfers to X by X paying a nominal amount of $1.
Conclusion:
Because the lease calls for transfer of ownership at the end of the lease for a nominal amount of $1.00,
Criterion 1 is satisfied and the lease is classified as a finance lease.
Example 2: Criterion 2- Lease Grants Lessee Option to Purchase
Company X is a lessee that executes a five-year lease that has an option to purchase the leased asset
at the end of the lease at a defined price.
At the commencement date, it is reasonably certain that X will exercise the option to purchase the
leased asset at the end of the lease.
Conclusion:
Criterion 2 is met and the lease is categorized as a finance lease (Type A) lease. The reason is because
it is reasonably certain X will exercise the option to purchase at the commencement date.
Example 3: Criterion 3- Lease Term Is 75% or More of Remaining Economic Life
Company X is a lessee that executes a lease effective January 1, 20X1, the commencement date.
The lease has a term of five years, plus two, five-year options to extend (total of 15 years).
The leased asset has a remaining economic life at January 1, 20X1 of 20 years.
Company X states that it is reasonably certain to exercise both options because X has extensive
amount of funds invested in leasehold improvements that it cannot take with it once the lease ends.
Conclusion:
The lease term for determining Criterion 3 is 15 years (the base five-year lease plus two, five-year
options that X is reasonably certain to exercise based on facts in place at the January 1, 20X1
commencement date).
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Examples: Classification of Leases- Lessee (continued)
Thus, the lease term is 75% of the remaining economic life of the leased asset calculated as:
Lease term at commencement date:
Base lease
Options to extend where it is reasonably
certain to exercise (5 years x 2 option periods)
Total lease term
Remaining economic life
%

5 years
10 years
15 years
20 years
75%

Because the lease term, at the commencement date, is 75% or more of the remaining economic life
of the leased asset, the lease term is deemed to be a major part of the remaining economic life of the
underlying leased asset.
The result is that Criterion 3 is satisfied and the lease is classified as a finance (Type A) lease.
Change the facts:
Assume it is not reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise either of the lease options.
Conclusion:
The lease term for determining Criterion 3 is five years (the base five-year lease only at the January 1,
20X1 commencement date).
Thus, the lease term is only 25% of the remaining economic life of the leased asset calculated as:
Lease term at commencement date:
Base lease
Options to extend (1)
Total lease term
Remaining economic life
%
(1): Option periods are not included in the lease term because
the lessee is not reasonably certain to exercise the options.

5 years
NONE
5 years
20 years
25%

Because the lease term is only 25 percent of the remaining economic life, Criterion 3 is not satisfied.
Therefore, unless the lease satisfies one of the other four criteria, the lease is classified as an operating
lease (Type B lease), and not a finance lease (Type A lease).
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Examples: Classification of Leases- Lessee (continued)
Example 4: Criterion 4- Present Value Is 90% or More of Fair Value of Leased Asset
Company X, a lessee has a new lease on a piece of equipment. The lease commencement date is
January 1, 20X1. The lease has a five-year term, and one, five-year option to extend. The annual
lease payments, due at the end of the lease, are $100,000 per year for the first five years. The lease
payments for the five-year option period are $110,000 per year.
It is not reasonably certain that X will exercise the option to extend the lease.
The fair value of the equipment at the commencement date is $900,000.
X estimates the equipment will have a residual value of $220,000 at the end of five years and $50,000
at the end of 10 years.
The implicit interest rate in the lease is 4 percent.
Conclusion:
In determining whether the lease is a finance (Type A) lease or an operating (Type B) lease, X can use
Criterion 4, which is the 90 percent present value calculation. Under Criterion 4, a lease is classified
as a finance lease if the present value of the lease payments equals or exceeds 90 percent of the fair
value of the leased asset at the commencement date.
Because X is not reasonably certain to exercise the five-year extension option, the lease term is five
years. Thus, the present value calculation should reflect five years of lease payments at $100,000 plus
the residual value at the end of the lease, which is estimated at $220,000.
The default rate to use is the implicit rate in the lease, which is 4%.
Following is the calculation:

End of
Year

Fixed
Annual
Lease
Payments

Residual
Value

Total Lease
Payments

PV Factor
4%

Present
Value

1
2
3
4
5

$100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000

$0
0
0
0
220,000

$100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
320,000

.96154
.92456
.88900
.85480
.82193

$96,154
92,456
88,900
85,480
263,018
$626,008

Present value
Fair value of leased asset
%
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$626,008
900,000
69%

Examples: Classification of Leases- Lessee (continued)
The present value of the lease payments is only 69% of the fair value at the commencement date.
Consequently, Criterion 4 is not satisfied. Unless X meets one of the other four criteria (75% test,
transfer of ownership, option to purchase, or alternative use test), the lease will not qualify to be
classified as a finance lease. Thus, by default, it will be classified as an operating (Type B) lease for
the lessee.
Change the facts:
X is reasonably certain it will exercise the five-year lease option extension.
Conclusion:
Because X is reasonably certain to exercise the lease option extension, the present value calculation
should be based on ten years of cash flow (five-year base lease plus the five-year extension), and the
residual value at the end of the lease.
The calculation is noted below:

End of
Year

Fixed
Annual
Lease
Payments

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

$100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
110,000
110,000
110,000
110,000
110,000

Residual
Value
$0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50,000

Present value
Fair value of leased asset
%

Total Lease
Payments

PV Factor
4%

$100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
110,000
110,000
110,000
110,000
160,000

.96154
.92456
.88900
.85480
.82193
.79032
.75992
.73069
.70259
.67557

Present
Value
$96,154
92,456
88,900
85,480
82,193
86,935
83,591
80,376
77,284
108,091
$881,460

$881,460
900,000
98%

Because the present value exceeds 90% of the fair value of the leased asset at the commencement
date of the lease, Criterion 4 is satisfied. Thus, the lease should be classified as a finance lease. There
is no need to test any of the other four criteria once X has satisfied Criterion 4.
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Examples: Classification of Leases- Lessee (continued)
Observation: Like the 75% test (Criterion 3), how the lessee handles the lease options to extend
directly impacts the present value calculation. In Example 4, it was not reasonably certain that X would
exercise the five-year lease option to extend the lease. Thus, the present value computation was
based on five years of cash flows resulting in a present value calculation, as a percentage of fair value,
of only 69%.
However, when the facts change and it is reasonably certain that X will exercise the option to extend
the lease, the present value calculation is based on ten years of cash flows, resulting in a present
value percentage of 98%.
A simple change as to whether the lessee reasonably expects to or not to exercise the option to extend,
dramatically changes the present value computation. In the first Example of Criterion 4, the lease is
classified as an operating lease based on the present value equaling 69% of the fair value of the
leased asset. Yet, in the second example, it is classified as a finance lease because the percentage
is 98%. The sole difference between the two examples is the inclusion of the lease term and lease
payments in the present value calculation based on whether the lessee is reasonably certain it will
exercise the lease extension.

Observation
The previous examples illustrate how a lessee can manipulate the results simply by how
it uses the option periods within the calculation. Option periods are included in the lease
term if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise those option extensions. The
term “reasonably certain” is discussed further on in this course. However, the author is
giving the reader a bit of foreshadowing; the only one who can determine “reasonably
certain” is the lessee and the lessee can reach any conclusion it wishes. If the lessee
wants to classify a lease as a finance lease, it reaches the conclusion that it is “reasonably
certain” to exercise the options to extend the lease, thereby increasing the major part
of the remaining economic life threshold to 75 percent. If, instead, a lessee wants the
lease classified as an operating (Type B) lease, it concludes it is not reasonably certain
to exercise the options, thereby reducing the percentage to 25 percent. The one simple
change of how the lessee handles the option periods can dramatically change how the
lease is classified.
As for the accountant or auditor, it is virtually impossible to challenge the lessee’s
conclusion about it being reasonably certain to exercise or not exercise an option to
extend.
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6.

Other considerations in determining lessee lease classification
a)

Subleases
1)

b)

Leases between related parties
1)

c)

When classifying a sublease, an entity shall classify the sublease with
reference to the underlying asset (for example, the item of property, plant,
or equipment that is the subject of the lease) rather than with reference to
the right of-use asset.

Leases between related parties should be classified in accordance with
the lease classification criteria applicable to all other leases based on
the legally enforceable terms and conditions of the lease. In the separate
financial statements of the related parties, the classification and accounting
for the leases should be the same as for leases between unrelated parties.

Lessee indemnification for environmental contamination
1)

A provision that requires lessee indemnification for environmental
contamination, whether for environmental contamination caused by
the lessee during its use of the underlying asset over the lease term
or for preexisting environmental contamination, should not affect the
classification of the lease.

B. INITIAL MEASUREMENT OF LEASE- LESSEE
1.

2.

At the commencement date, a lessee shall measure and recognize a:
•

Lease liability, and

•

Right-of-use asset.

Lease liability
a)

The lease liability shall be measured at the present value of the lease
payments not yet paid, discounted using the discount rate for the lease at
lease commencement.

b)

The discount rate used to determine the present value of the lease payments
for a lessee is based on information available at the commencement date.
1)

A lessee should use the rate implicit in the lease whenever that rate is
readily determinable.
•

2)

The rate implicit in the lease is the rate that, when used to
present value the lease payments, results in a present value
equal to the fair value of the leased asset.

If the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, a lessee uses its
incremental borrowing rate.
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•

3)

Incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that a lessee
would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over
a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a
similar economic environment.

Practical expedient- risk-free rate of return:
•

A nonpublic entity is permitted to elect to use a risk-free
discount rate (U.S. Treasury rate) for the lease, determined
using a period comparable with that of the lease term, as an
accounting policy election for all leases.

•

A nonpublic entity that chooses to use the risk-free rate of
return must apply it to all leases and must disclose that it has
elected to use it.

What is the implicit rate in the lease?
ASU 2016-02 requires a lessee to use the implicit rate in the lease as the discount rate in present value
calculations to determine the lease obligation. If that rate is not readily determinable, the lessee should
use its incremental borrowing rate. There is also the option for a nonpublic entity to elect to use the riskfree rate of return, such as the U.S. Treasury rate applicable to the lease term.
ASU 2016-02 defines the rate implicit in the lease as:
“The rate of interest that, at a given date, causes the aggregate present value of (a) the
lease payments and (b) the amount that a lessor expects to derive from the underlying
asset following the end of the lease term to equal the sum of (1) the fair value of the
underlying asset minus any related investment tax credit retained and expected to be
realized by the lessor and (2) any deferred initial direct costs of the lessor.”
In layman’s terms, the rate implicit in the lease is the internal rate of return (IRR) that equates the present
value of the lease payments to the fair value of the leased asset, at the commencement date.
Lease payments x PV factor at ___% discount rate = Fair value of leased asset
Example 1: Rate Implicit in the Lease
Lessee enters into a 10-year lease with annual payments due at the end of each year of $50,000 (total
payments $500,000).
The fair value of the leased asset is $400,000.
Conclusion:
The rate implicit in the lease is the rate that equates the present value of the annual lease payments to
the fair value of the asset.
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In this case:
Fair value of leased asset
Annual lease payments
PV of an annuity factor of an interest rate required to
convert 10 years @ $50,000 per year to $400,000.

(A)
(B)

$400,000
$50,000

(A)/(B)

8.0

In looking at a present value table, the interest rate that has a present value factor of an annuity for 10
years of 8.0 is 3.74%.
The rate implicit in the lease is 3.74% which is the rate the lessee should use to perform its present
value computations and the lease obligation at the commencement of the lease.
If the lessee had not been able to determine the rate implicit in the lease, it would be required to use its
own incremental borrowing rate.
Observation: In most cases, a lessee will not use the rate implicit in the lease as it requires the lessee
to know the fair value of the leased asset. Generally, the lessor, but not the lessee, knows the fair value
of the asset and might not share that value with the lessee. Thus, the lessee will typically use its own
incremental borrowing rate in lieu of the rate implicit in the lease.
Example 2: Discount Rate
In 20X1, Company X, a nonpublic entity, enters into several five-year leases on equipment, each of
which has an asset fair value ranging from $60,000 to $100,000 each.
X is unable to determine the rate implicit in each lease.
X determines that the incremental borrowing rate for equipment financing the $60,000 to $100,000
range is about 4 percent.
In 20X1, the five-year, zero-coupon U.S. Treasury rate is 1.7%, which is the risk-free rate of return.
Conclusion:
In computing the lease liability based on the present value of lease payments, ASU 2016-02 requires
that an entity use the implicit rate in the lease.
If the implicit rate is not available, the lessee should use its incremental borrowing rate.
Alternatively, if the entity is not a public entity (e.g., it is a nonpublic entity), it may elect to use the riskfree rate of return (the U.S. Treasury rate).
In this example, the implicit rate in the lease is not available. Therefore, X should use the incremental
borrowing rate of 4%. Alternatively, because X is a nonpublic entity, it may elect to use the risk-free
rate of return for a five-year U.S. Treasury, which is 1.7%.
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Example 3: Portfolio Approach to Establishing the Discount Rate for the Lease
Source: ASU 2016-02, as modified by the author.
Lessee, a nonpublic entity, is the parent of several consolidated subsidiaries.
During 20X1, two subsidiaries entered into a total of 400 individual leases of large computer servers,
each with terms ranging between four and five years, and annual payments ranging between $60,000
and $100,000, depending on the hardware capacity of the servers.
In the aggregate, total lease payments for these leases amount to $30 million.
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the rate implicit in the lease.
Based on its credit rating and the collateral represented by the leased servers, Lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate on $60,000 through $100,000 loan amounts (the range of lease payments on each of
the 400 leases) would be approximately 4%.
Lessee notes that 5-year zero-coupon U.S. Treasury instruments are currently yielding 1.7% (a riskfree rate).
Conclusion:
Because the new leases all have similar terms (four or five years) and the Lessee’s credit rating and
interest rate environment is steady throughout the year, Lessee can use a single discount rate for all
400 of its new leases.
Given that the lessee does not know the rate implicit in the leases, it should use its incremental
borrowing rate of 4%. Alternatively, because the company is nonpublic, it may elect to use the risk-free
rate of return of 1.7%.
Although the entity is using a single discount rate for the entire year’s leases, it could choose to use a
different discount rate in effect at the commencement date of each individual lease.
Why shouldn’t a lessee simply use the risk-free rate to compute the present value of lease
payments?
If an entity is a nonpublic entity, ASU 2016-02 permits that entity to use the risk-free rate of return in
the present value computation, to arrive at the lease obligation. The risk-free rate of return is the U.S.
Treasury rate for the lease term.
So, why wouldn’t a lessee use the U.S. Treasury rate all the time?
The reason is that the U.S. Treasury rate is significantly lower than the incremental borrowing rate.
For example, in 2017, the U.S. Treasury rate for a five-year note is hovering around 2% while the
incremental borrowing rate is in the 4% to 6% range. If a nonpublic entity elects to use the risk-free rate
of return to compute the present value of lease payments, the lease obligation and related right-of-use
asset are likely to be significantly higher than if the entity had used its incremental borrowing rate. The
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lower the rate, the higher the present value result and higher lease obligation. The higher the lease
obligation, the higher right-of-use asset.
Rarely will an entity use the risk-free rate of return as the penalty to do so is too high.
Is a lessee permitted to use the risk-free rate of return for other present value computations,
such as the 90% present value test?
ASU 2016-02 is silent on the issue.
The only section of ASU 2016-02 that addresses use of the risk-free rate of return is in Paragraph 84220-30-3, Initial Measurement, which addresses how a lessee should measure its lease obligation. No
such risk-free rate guidance is provided in the section of the ASU pertaining to the 90% present value
computation in determining the classification of the lease as a finance lease.
The author has addressed this issue with the FASB staff who has unofficially concluded that it believes
the risk-free rate of return may be used by any nonpublic entity in making any present value computation
within ASU 2016-02 provided the risk-free rate is used consistently for all present value computations
related to all leases. That would include using the risk-free rate in making the 90% test (Criterion 4).
The FASB staff’s conclusion is not consistent with ASU 2016-02 and is unofficial.
Even though using of the risk-free rate for the 90% present value computation might be permitted, the
author questions whether its use in the 90% test would be distortive and likely result in a grossly higher
present value computation than if an incremental borrowing rate or implicit rate were to be used. By
using the risk-free rate, leases that might otherwise result in a present value computation of less than
90% might be catapulted into exceeding 90% of the fair value of the leased asset. In such a case, a
lease that might be classified as an operating (Type B lease), could be classified as a finance lease.
Example: Comparison of Incremental Borrowing Rate vs. Risk-Free Rate of Return
Company X, a nonpublic lessee, executes a 10-year lease on January 1, 20X1.
Annual payments are $50,000 payable at the beginning of each year during the 10-year period.
X’s incremental borrowing rate to borrow funds to purchase equipment with a 10-year term is 5%.
The risk-free rate of return (U.S. Treasury rate) is 2.5%.
X does not know the rate implicit in the lease.
X is deciding whether to use the incremental borrowing rate (5%) or the nonpublic, risk-free rate of return
(2.5%) to compute the lease obligation.
Conclusion:
The calculation of the lease obligation using both the incremental borrowing rate of 5% and the risk-free
rate of return of 2.5% is shown below:
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Computation of Present Value of Lease Payments
5% Incremental Borrowing Rate
Payment
Date
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Annual
Lease Payment
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000

Present Value
Factor (5%)
1.0000
.9524
.9070
.8638
.8227
.7835
.7462
.7107
.6768
.6446

Present Value
to 1-1-X1
$50,000
47,620
45,350
43,193
41,136
39,177
37,312
35,535
33,843
32,231

$500,000

$405,397

Computation of Present Value of Lease Payments
2.5% Risk-Free Rate of Return (10-Year Treasury Rate)
Payment
Date
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Annual
Lease Payment
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000

Present Value
Factor (2.5%)
1.0000
.9756
.9518
.9286
.9060
.8839
.8623
.8413
.8207
.8007

$500,000
Entry: Using Incremental Borrowing Rate (5%):
Right-of-use asset
Lease obligation
Entry: Using Risk-Free Rate of Return (2.5%):
Right-of-use asset
Lease obligation
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Present Value
to 1-1-X1
$50,000
48,780
47,590
46,430
45,300
44,195
43,115
42,065
41,035
40,035
$448,545

dr
405,397

cr
405,397

448,545
448,545

By using the incremental borrowing rate of 5%, the present value calculation is $405,397, as compared
with a higher calculation of $448,545 using the risk-free rate of return. Using the risk-free rate of return
results in a significantly higher capitalization of the right-of-use asset and lease obligation.
3.

Right-of-use asset
a)

At the commencement date, the lessee should measure and record a rightof-use asset.

b)

The cost of the right-of-use asset shall be measured and recorded based on
the sum of the following elements:

c)

1)

The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability

2)

Any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement
date, minus any lease incentives received

3)

Any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee

Initial direct costs
1)

At the commencement date, initial direct costs for a lessee are included as
part of the cost of the right-of-use asset.

2)

Initial direct costs are defined as:
“Incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if the
lease had not been obtained (executed).”

3)

Examples of initial direct costs include:

a.

Commissions.

b.

Payments made to an existing tenant to incentivize that tenant to
terminate its lease.

4)

The following items are examples of costs that are not initial direct costs:

a.

General overhead, including, for example, depreciation, occupancy
and equipment costs, unsuccessful origination efforts, and idle time.

b.

Costs related to activities performed by the lessor for advertising,
soliciting potential lessees, servicing existing leases, or other ancillary
activities.

c.

Costs related to activities that occur before the lease is obtained, such
as costs of obtaining tax or legal advice, negotiating lease terms and
conditions, or evaluating a prospective lessee’s financial condition.
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Observation
In the final ASU 2016-02, the FASB made a significant change in identifying initial
direct costs to be capitalized as part of the right-of-use asset. In the 2013 Exposure
Draft, the FASB suggested broadening the list of initial direct costs to include costs to
negotiate and arrange the lease, such as legal fees, regardless of whether the lease is
finalized. In the final ASU 2016-02, the FASB decided that initial direct costs for a lessee
should include only incremental costs that a lessee would not have incurred if the lease
had not been obtained (executed). Thus, the final statement provides that initial direct
costs are generally limited to commissions and payments made to existing tenants to
obtain the leased premises, but should not include costs that are not incremental, such
as lessee payroll costs, external legal costs, and G&A.
Example 1: Initial Direct Costs- Lessee
Lessee and Lessor enter into an operating lease.
The following costs are incurred by the lessee in connection with the lease:
External legal costs
Allocation of employee costs for time negotiating lease
terms and conditions
Commissions to broker representing lessee
Payments made to existing tenants to obtain the lease4
Total costs- lessee

$15,000
7,000
10,000
20,000
$52,000

Conclusion: Lessee includes $30,000 of initial direct costs in the initial measurement of
the right-of-use asset. The $30,000 consists of the $10,000 of commissions and $20,000
payments made to existing tenants to obtain the lease.
Both expenses represent incremental costs that would not have been incurred if the
lease had not been obtained (executed) by the parties. That is, if the lessee had not
executed the lease, the lessee would not have incurred the $10,000 of commissions and
$20,000 of payments to existing tenants.
The external legal costs do not qualify as initial direct costs because these costs would
be incurred even if both parties failed to consummate a final lease. Similarly, internal
employment costs are not initial direct costs because these costs would have been
incurred, regardless of whether a lease is executed.
__________________________________________________________________________________
4. ASU 2016-02 does not differentiate between whether the lessee or lessor makes payments to existing tenants. Typically, this
cost would be incurred by the lessor to vacate premises for a new tenant/lessee. However, because the ASU is silent as to who
pays this cost, it could conceivably be paid by the lessee as well.
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Example 2: Computation of Right-of-Use Asset
Company X enters into a five-year lease that commences of January 1, 20X1.
The lease liability is calculated at the present value of five years of monthly lease
payments of $10,000, discounted using a 4% incremental borrowing rate as $543,000.
Commissions paid on the lease are $10,000.
Prior to the lease commencement date of January 1, 20X1, X paid $20,000 to use the
leased facilities.
Conclusion: The right-of-use asset is recorded at $573,000 consisting of:
Lease liability
Initial direct costs- commissions
Lease payments made prior to commencement date

$543,000
10,000
20,000
$573,000

The initial entry by the lessee to record a lease on the January 1, 20X1 commencement date is as
follows:
Entry at January 1, 20X1 commencement date
Right-of-use asset
Lease obligation- PV lease payments
AP- commissions on lease
AP- lease payments before commencement date

dr
573,000

cr
543,000
10,000
20,000

C. LEASE MODIFICATIONS - LESSEE
ASU 2016-02 differentiates between a lease modification that is accounted for as a separate contract as
compared with one that is not.
1.

Modification accounted for as a separate contract
a)

An entity shall account for a modification to a contract as a separate contract
(that is, separate from the original contract) when both of the following
conditions are present:
1)

2)

The modification grants the lessee an additional right of use not included
in the original lease, such as:
•

The right to use an additional asset, or

•

The right to use additional space such as expanding the retail
space.

The lease payments increase commensurate with the standalone price for
the additional right of use, adjusted for the circumstances of the particular
contract.
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For example, the standalone price for the lease of one floor of an office
building in which the lessee already leases other floors in that building may
be different from the standalone price of a similar floor in a different office
building, because it was not necessary for a lessor to incur costs that it would
have incurred for a new lessee.
2.

Modification not accounted for as a separate contract
a)

If a lease is modified and that modification is not accounted for as a separate
contract, the entity shall do the following:
1)

2)

b)

Reassess the classification of the existing lease (finance versus operating
lease) as of the effective date of the modification based on its modified
terms and conditions and the facts and circumstances as of that date such
as:
•

Fair value, and

•

Remaining economic life of the underlying leased asset.

Account for initial direct costs, lease incentives, and any other payments
made to or by the entity in connection with a modification to a lease in the
same manner as those items would be accounted for in connection with a
new lease.

If the lease is modified and not accounted for as a separate contract, the
lessee should reallocate the remaining consideration in the contract and
remeasure the lease liability using a discount rate for the lease determined
at the effective date of the modification if a contract modification does any of
the following:
1)

Grants the lessee an additional right of use not included in the original
contract

2)

Extends or reduces the term of an existing lease other than through the
exercise of a contractual option to extend or terminate the lease
Example: The lease term from five to ten years or vice versa

3)

Fully or partially terminates an existing lease (such as reducing the assets
subject to the lease), or

4)

Changes the consideration in the contract only.

What is the offset of the entry if there is a modification of an existing lease?
ASU 2016-02 states that if there is a remeasurement of the liability due to a modification, the following is
the offset to the entry:
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1.

General rule: The general rule is that the lessee shall recognize the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the corresponding right-of-use
asset.
Entry: Lease Modification
Right-of-use asset
Lease obligation
To record a modification of the lease

2.

dr
XX

cr
XX

Exception to the general rule: If the modification is due to fully or partially terminating an
existing lease, the adjustment is as follows:
•

The lessee shall decrease the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset on a
basis proportionate to the full or partial termination of the existing lease.

•

Any difference between the reduction in the lease liability and the
proportionate reduction in the right-of-use asset shall be recognized as a
gain or a loss at the effective date of the modification.

Special rule for change in classification from finance to operating lease
If a finance (Type A) lease is modified and the modified lease is classified as an operating (Type B) lease,
any difference between the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset after recording the adjustment
required and the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset that would result from applying the initial
operating right-of-use asset measurement to the modified lease, shall be accounted for in the same
manner as a rent prepayment or a lease incentive.
Below are examples that illustrate the application of ASU 2016-02 to lease modifications from the
lessee’s perspective.

Examples: Lease Modifications- Lessee
Source: ASU 2016-02, as modified by the author.
Example 1: Lease Modification Accounted for as a Separate Contract
• Lessee enters into a 10-year lease for 12,000 square feet of office space.
• At the beginning of Year 6, Lessee and Lessor agree to modify the lease for the
remaining five years to include an additional 10,000 square feet of office space in the
same building.
• The increase in the lease payments is commensurate with the market rate at the date
the modification is agreed for the additional 10,000 square feet of office space.
Conclusion:
Lessee should account for the modification as a new contract, separate from the original lease contract.
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Examples: Lease Modifications- Lessee (continued)
The reasons are because:
• The modification grants Lessee an additional right of use (additional 10,000 square feet
of space) as compared with the original contract, and
• The increase in the lease payments is commensurate with the standalone price of the
additional right of use of the additional 10,000 square feet of space.
Thus, from the effective date of the modification, Lessee has two separate contracts, each of which
contain a single lease component, as follows:
a.

The original, unmodified contract for 20,000 square feet of office space, and

b.

The new contract for 10,000 additional square feet of office space, respectively.

Lessee should not make any adjustments to the accounting for the original lease because of this
modification.
Lessee should calculate a separate lease obligation and right-of-use asset for the modification at the
commencement date.
Example 2: Modification That Increases the Lease Term- No Change in the Lease Classification
• Lessee and Lessor enter into a 10-year lease for 10,000 square feet of office space in a
building with a remaining economic life of 50 years.
• Annual payments are $100,000, paid in arrears.
• Lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date is 6%.
• At inception, the lessee determines the classification of the lease (finance versus
operating) by testing the five criteria.
• Based on the tests, none of the five criteria are satisfied to qualify as a finance lease.
Therefore, the lease is classified as an operating (Type B) lease and a right-of-use asset
and lease liability are recorded.
• In Years 1-5, the lessee accounts for the lease as an operating (Type B) lease and
records interest and amortization.
• At the beginning of Year 6, Lessee and Lessor agree to modify the lease such that the
total lease term increases from 10 years to 15 years.
• The annual lease payments increase to $110,000 per year for the remaining 10 years
(Years 6-15) after the modification.
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Examples: Lease Modifications- Lessee (continued)
• Lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is 7% at the date the modification is agreed to by
the parties.
• At the beginning of Year 6:
▫▫

Lessee’s lease liability and its right-of-use asset under the original lease
(five years remaining) both equal $421,236.

▫▫

The lease modification date, the Lessee’s liability and its right-of-use asset,
computed using the new 7% discount rate and the new terms of $110,000
per year for 10 years, equals $772,594.

Conclusion:
• The lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease contract.
• The reason is because the modification does not grant an additional right of use to the
lessee; rather, it modifies an attribute (the lease term) of the right to use the original
10,000 square feet of office space that the Lessee already controls. That is, after the
modification, Lessee still controls only a single right of use transferred to Lessee at the
original lease commencement date.
• Therefore, the first step is to reassess the lease classification (finance versus operating
lease). In doing so, at the effective date of the modification, Lessee reassesses
classification of the lease. In this example, it is assumed that in reassessing the lease
classification, the lease is still classified as an operating (Type B) lease.
• Next, the Lessee remeasures the lease liability based on the 10-year remaining lease
term, 10 remaining payments of $110,000, and its new incremental borrowing rate of
7% at the modification date.
• In this example, both the asset and liabilities are adjusted at the beginning of Year 6
(the modification date) as follows:
At lease modification date
Beginning of Year 6
Balances- original terms
Revised for modification
Modification adjustment
Entry:
Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
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Right-of-use
Asset

Lease
Liability

$421,236
772,594
$351,358

$421,236
772,594
$351,358

dr
$351,358

cr
$351,358

Examples: Lease Modifications- Lessee (continued)
• The modified lease liability equals $772,594. The increase to the lease liability of
$351,358 is recorded as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. (There is no income or
loss effect from the modification.)
• Starting in Year 6, the lease continues to be accounted for as an operating lease using
the new asset and liability amount of $772,594.
• That means, starting in Year 6, interest is computed on the liability amount of $772,594
on an accelerated, direct-reduction basis.
• Amortization expense is recorded on the right-of-use asset in an amount that brings the
total expense to $77,259 per year ($772,594/10 years = $77,259).
Example 3: Change in Lease Classification
• Assume the same facts as Example 2, except that the underlying asset is equipment
with a 12-year remaining economic life at the effective date of the modification.
• At the beginning of Year 6 (modification date) the lessee reassesses the lease
classification and reclassifies the lease as a finance lease, instead of an operating
lease.
The reason for the classification as a finance lease is because the new remaining lease
term (10 years) is a major part (greater than 75%) of the 12-year remaining economic
life of the equipment. Thus, Criterion 3 is satisfied.
• Consistent with Example 2, at the effective date of the modification (beginning of Year
6), the lessee remeasures its lease liability based on the 10-year remaining lease
term, 10 remaining payments of $110,000, and its incremental borrowing rate of 7%.
Consequently, the modified lease liability equals $772,594.
• The increase to the lease liability of $351,358 is recorded as an adjustment to the rightof-use asset (that is, there is no income or loss effect from the modification).
• However, different from Example 2, beginning on the effective date of the modification,
Lessee accounts for the 10-year modified lease as a finance lease.
• That means that going forward, the revised right-of-use asset ($772,594) and lease
liability ($772,594) are accounted for as a finance lease.
• The $772,594 asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the new 10-year period
while interest expense is recorded on the lease liability on a direct reduction basis. Total
lease expense (amortization and interest expense) is recorded on an accelerated basis.
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D. LEASE PAYMENTS - LESSEE
At the commencement date, a lessee must capture the amount and timing of lease payments used in
the present value computation to arrive at the lease obligation.
1.

ASU 2016-02 provides that lease payments consist of the following payments relating to
the use of the leased asset during the lease term:
a)

Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease
incentives paid or payable to the lessee.

b)

Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate (such as the
Consumer Price Index or a market interest rate), initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date.

c)

The exercise price of an option to purchase the underlying asset if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option.

d)

Payments for penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Note
For the lease term to reflect a reduction for exercising an option to terminate the lease,
the lessee must be reasonably certain to exercise the option to terminate.

e)

Fees paid by the lessee to the owners of a special-purpose entity for
structuring the transaction.

Note
Such fees shall not be included in the fair value of the underlying asset for purposes
of applying the 90% present value calculation (Criterion 4) for determining the lease
classification.

f)

Residual value guarantees- amounts that are probable of being owed by the
lessee under residual value guarantees.

84 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

Note
Generally, there is no residual value guarantee amount if there is an option to purchase
and it is reasonably certain the lessee will exercise that option to purchase.

2.

The calculation of the present value of lease payments at the commencement date is as
follows:

An assumed 4% discount rate (incremental borrowing rate) has been inserted as a place holder.

Lease Payments

Year

Fixed
Annual
Lease
Payments

Variable
Payments
Based on
Index/Rate

Exercise
Price of
Option to
Purchase
(A)

Total
Lease
Payments

1
2
3
4
5

$XX
XX
XX
XX
XX

XX
XX
XX
XX
XX

$0
0
0
0
XX

$XX
XX
XX
XX
XX

PV Factor
4%

Present
Value
of Lease
Payments

1.0000
.96154
.92456
.88900
.85480

$XX
XX
XX
XX
XX

Present value- lease obligation

$XX

Note: The above formula does not reflect additional lease payment amounts for payment of penalties
to terminate a lease, fees paid to owners of a special-purpose entity, and any residual value guarantee
amounts.
(a): Exercise price of option to purchase is included in lease payments only if, at the commencement
date, it is reasonably certain the lessee will exercise the option.
3.

Fixed payments as part of lease payments
a)

Fixed payments are part of total lease payments used in the present value
computation of the lease liability.
1)

The term fixed payments is defined in ASU 2016-02 as the sum of:

a.

Fixed payments (defined payments in the lease contract)

b.

In substance fixed payments, and

c.

A reduction for any lease incentives paid or payable to the lessee.
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4.

2)

In substance fixed payments are defined as payments that may appear to
be variable but are, in effect, fixed and unavoidable, and may include, for
example, any of the following:

a.

Payments that do not create genuine variability (such as those that
result from clauses that do not have economic substance), and

b.

The lower of the payments to be made when a lessee has a choice
about which set of payments it makes, although it must make at least
one set of payments.

3)

Fixed payments are reduced by any lease incentives payable to the lessee.

a.

Lease incentives include both of the following:
•

Payments made to or on behalf of the lessee , and

•

Losses incurred by the lessor as a result of assuming a
lessee’s preexisting lease with a third party.

Variable lease payments5
a)

ASU 2016-02 states that variable lease payments are included as part of
total lease payments if the payments depend on an index or a rate (such as a
Consumer Price Index or a market interest rate).

b)

If there is an index or rate, variable lease payments are initially measured
using the index or rate at the commencement date.

c)

If the variable lease payments are not dependent on an index or rate, the
variable payments are not included as part of lease payments in computing
the present value of the lease obligation.

d)

Variable lease payments are included in lease payments used to calculate
the lease liability if:

e)

•

The lease payments depend on an index or rate, such as a CPI index.
Each year, the lessee must adjust the lease obligation to reflect the
present value of the remaining lease payments using the latest index
in effect at the end of that year, or

•

The lease payments are in-substance, fixed payments, such as
minimum annual increase of 2% per year.

Lease payments based on performance (such as a percentage of sales, with
no minimum) are not reflected in the lease payments in computing the lease
obligation. Instead, such payments are recorded annually as part of lease
expense as actual sales are generated.

__________________________________________________________________________________
5. The ASU notes that some leases contain indemnification clauses that indemnify lessors on an after-tax basis for certain
tax benefits that the lessor may lose if a change in the tax law precludes realization of those tax benefits. Although the
indemnification payments may appear to meet the definition of variable lease payments, those payments are not of the nature
normally expected to arise under variable lease payment provisions.
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Example: Company X is a lessee of retail space. The lease calls for monthly fixed lease
payments of $5,000, plus 2% of sales over $2,000,000. The 2% override payment is
made after year end once actual final sales are calculated for the previous year.
Conclusion: The monthly payments of $5,000 are fixed payments and included in the
present value of lease payments to compute the lease obligation. The 2% of sales is
a variable payment that is not based on a rate or index and is not included as part of
lease payments in the present value computation. Instead, such variable payments are
recorded annually as part of lease expense once actual sales are computed.
5.

Exercise price of an option to purchase- lease payments
a)

ASU 2016-02 adds into its amendments a requirement that a lessee must
perform an assessment to determine whether the amount of a purchase
option should be included in the lease payments that are part of the present
value computation of the lease obligation.

b)

Rule: At the commencement date of the lease, if it is reasonably certain that
the lessee will exercise the option to purchase the leased asset at the end
of the lease, the amount of the purchase price is included as part of lease
payments.

c)

Reasonably certain assessment:
1)

In making the reasonably certain assessment, the lessee should consider
all economic factors relevant to that assessment including:
•

Contract-based,

•

Asset-based,

•

Market-based, and

•

Entity-based factors.

2)

Examples of economic factors to consider in performing the reasonably
certain assessment, include, but are not limited to, any of the following:

a.

Contractual terms and conditions compared with current market
rates, such as:
•

The amount of lease payments in any optional period

•

The amount of any variable lease payments or other
contingent payments, such as payments under termination
penalties and residual value guarantees, and

•

The terms and conditions of any options that are exercisable
after the initial optional periods as compared with the market
rates (e.g., option price as compared with the estimated
residual value at the end of the lease).
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b.

Significant leasehold improvements that are expected to have
significant economic value for the lessee when the option to extend
or terminate the lease or to purchase the underlying asset becomes
exercisable.

c.

Costs relating to the termination of the lease and the signing of a new
lease, such as negotiation costs, relocation costs, costs of identifying
another underlying asset suitable for the lessee’s operations, or costs
associated with returning the underlying asset in a contractually
specified condition or to a contractually specified location.

d.

The importance of that underlying asset to the lessee’s operations,
considering, for example, whether the underlying asset is a
specialized asset and the location of the underlying asset.

What if the option to purchase is at a market rate or right-of-first-refusal basis?
Many leases have option to purchase provisions that do not offer a fixed option price. Instead, the option
to purchase might be at a market rate in effect at the option date. Alternatively, there might be an option
in the form of a right-of-first-refusal under which the lessee has the right to match any prospective buyer’s
offer to purchase.
In either case, it is difficult, if not impossible, for the reasonably certain threshold to be met. Thus, the
exercise price of the purchase option should not be reflected in the lease payments because it cannot be
measured at the commencement date.

Examples: Option to Purchase- Lease Payments
Example 1: Including Option to Purchase as Part of Lease Payments
Company X is a lessee and enters into a five-year lease of equipment with annual lease payments of
$100,000 due on the first day of each year.
X has an option to purchase the equipment at the end of the lease for $10,000. X estimates the residual
value at the end of the lease will be about $25,000.
The initial direct costs related to the lease are $5,000 for a commission paid.
Because the option price of $10,000 is significantly lower than the estimated residual value of $25,000
at the end of the lease, X believes it is reasonably certain it will exercise its purchase option at the end
of the lease.
Conclusion:
Because it is reasonably certain that X will exercise its option to purchase at the end of the lease, X
should include the $10,000 cost to purchase in the computation of lease payments used in the present
value computation.
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Examples: Option to Purchase- Lease Payments (continued)
Assume the discount rate (incremental borrowing rate) is 4%.
The stream of lease payments and the present value computation is as follows:

Year

Fixed Annual
Lease
Payments

Payment
of Lease
Option to
Purchase

Total Lease
Payments

PV Factor
4%

Present
Value

Beg- 1
Beg- 2
Beg- 3
Beg- 4
Beg- 5
End- 5

$100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
0

$0
0
0
0
0
10,000

$100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
10,000

1.00000
.96154
.92456
.88900
.85480
.82193

$100,00
96,154
92,456
88,900
85,480
8,219
$471,209

Because it is reasonably certain that the lease option will be exercised at the end of the lease, the
payment of the lease purchase option of $10,000 is included in the stream of lease payments and used
in the present value calculation.
The result is that the present value of lease payments of $471,209 is the lease obligation and the rightof-use asset is $476,209 computed as follows:
PV of lease payments
Initial direct costs- commissions

Entry at commencement date:
Right-of-use asset
AP- commissions
Lease liability

$471,209
5,000
$476,209
dr

cr

476,209
5,000
471,209

Example 2: Including Option to Purchase as Part of Lease Payments
Company Z enters into a five-year lease for specialized equipment with an annual lease payment of
$65,000 due at the end of year.
Z has a purchase option to purchase the specialized equipment for $90,000 at the end of the five
years, which is expected to be the fair value at that time.
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Examples: Option to Purchase- Lease Payments (continued)
The equipment was constructed specifically for the lessee and is vital to the lessee’s business.
Z concludes that it is reasonably certain it will exercise the purchase option due to numerous factors,
including the specialization of the equipment, and the importance of the equipment to the lessee’s
operations.
Conclusion:
Z should include the $90,000 payment for the purchase option in its lease payments in computing the
present value. The reason is because it is reasonably certain that Z will exercise that option.
6.

Payments for penalties for terminating the lease- lease payments
a)

ASU 2016-02 states that lease payments include payments for penalties for
terminating the lease if the lease term also reflects the lessee exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

b)

In order for the lease term to reflect a reduction for exercising an option to
terminate the lease prior to the end of the lease term, the lessee must be
reasonably certain to exercise the option to terminate.
Example:
Company Y enters into a 10-year lease of an asset, which it can terminate at
the end of each year beginning at the end of Year 6.
Lease payments are $50,000 per year during the 10-year term, payable at
the beginning of each year.
If Lessee terminates the lease at the end of Year 6, Lessee must pay penalty
to Lessor of $20,000. The termination penalty decreases by $5,000 in each
successive year.
At the commencement date, Lessee concludes that it is reasonably certain to
exercise the option to terminate. That is, Lessee will not continue to use the
underlying asset after Year 6.
In making the determination, the Lessee considered all relevant factors,
including the significance of the termination penalty and other factors
(contract-based, asset-based, entity-based, and market-based).
Accordingly, the lease term is six years.
Conclusion: At the commencement date, Lessee determines lease payments
as follows:
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Fixed lease payments: $50,000 x 6 years
Termination penalty due at the end of Year 6

7.

Residual value guarantees as part of lease payments
a)

b)

ASU 2016-02 requires that a lessee must include in lease payments certain
amounts owed by the lessee under residual value guarantees under the
following rules:
1)

Amounts for residual value guarantees are included in lease payments
only if it is probable of being owed by the lessee.

2)

If the lessor has the right to require the lessee to purchase the underlying
asset by the end of the lease term, the stated purchase price is included in
lease payments as a guaranteed residual value that the lessee is obligated
to pay based on circumstances outside its control.

The following items are excluded from residual value guarantees and are not
included as part of lease payments used in the present value computation:
1)

A lease provision requiring the lessee to make up a residual value
deficiency that is attributable to damage, extraordinary wear and tear, or
excessive usage.
•

Such amounts are treated as variable lease payments not
linked to an index or rate in that the amount is not determinable
at the commencement date.

•

Payments for a residual value deficiency at the end of the
lease is recorded as part of lease expense once incurred.

2)

Amounts paid in consideration for a guarantee by an unrelated third party
are executory costs and are not included in the lessee’s lease payments.

3)

A residual value guarantee obtained by the lessee from an unrelated third
party for the benefit of the lessor.
•

8.

$300,000
20,000
$320,000

Such amounts should not be used to reduce the amount of
the lessee’s lease payments except to the extent that the
lessor explicitly releases the lessee from obligation, including
the secondary obligation, which is if the guarantor defaults, a
residual value deficiency must be made up.

Payments excluded from lease payments
a)

Lease payments do not include any of the following:
1)

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
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9.

2)

Any guarantee by the lessee of the lessor’s debt

3)

Amounts allocated to non-lease components

4)

Residual value deficiency that is attributable to damage, extraordinary
wear and tear, or excessive usage

5)

Obligations to return or restore a leased asset to its original condition

Obligations to restore an underlying leased asset to its original condition
a)

ASU 2016-02 provides guidance on dealing with lease agreement obligations
to restore or return the leased asset to its original condition at the end of the
lease.

b)

Obligations that require a lessee to return an underlying asset to its original
condition if it has been modified by the lessee do not meet the definition of
lease payments or variable lease payments.
1)

c)

Such payments should be accounted for as asset retirement and
environmental obligations under ASC 410-20, Asset Retirement and
Environmental Obligations.

Costs that are incurred by the lessee at the end of the lease and used to
dismantle and remove an underlying asset at the end of the lease term are
generally considered lease payments or variable lease payments.
Example: Obligations to restore an underlying leased asset to its
original condition- lease payments
Company X is a lessee and executes a five-year lease.
X plans to make significant improvements to the leased premises to
customize the facility for its own use.
The lease requires that X remove the lessee-installed leasehold improvements
and restore the premises to its original condition at the end of the lease.
X estimates it will cost it about $50,000 to restore the premises at the end of
the lease.
Conclusion:
The obligation to restore the premises at the end of the lease is not part of the
lease payments. Instead, it should be accounted for as an asset retirement
and environmental obligation under ASC 410-20, Asset Retirement and
Environmental Obligations.
Change the facts:
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The lease requires that the lessee pay $50,000 at the end of the lease to
remove the leasehold improvements from the premises.
Conclusion:
Costs to dismantle or remove an underlying asset at the end of the lease
term are generally considered lease payments. Because the amount to be
paid is fixed, the $50,000 should be included as part of lease payments used
in the present value calculation.

E. LEASE TERM AND PURCHASE OPTIONS- LESSEE
In computing the lease obligation, a lessee must compute the present value of lease payments over the
lease term.
ASU 2016-02 expands the lease term to include not only the noncancellable term within the lease, but
also terms related to lease extensions.
1.

The lease term begins at the commencement date and includes any rent-free periods
provided to the lessee by the lessor.

2.

Under ASU 2016-02, at the commencement date, a lessee shall determine the lease term
that is used in the present value calculation.

3.

The lease term consists of the following components:

4.

a)

The noncancellable period of the lease

b)

Periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option

c)

Periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably
certain not to exercise that option, and

d)

Periods covered by an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease in
which exercise of the option is controlled by the lessor.

At the commencement date, an entity shall assess the periods in 3(a) through (d) above
in the lease term and shall consider all relevant factors that create an economic incentive
for the lessee, such as:
•

Contract-based

•

Asset-based

•

Entity-based, and

•

Market-based.

a)

These factors shall be considered together, and the existence of any one
factor does not necessarily signify that a lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise or not to exercise an option.
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5.

Noncancellable period in the lease term
a)

The starting point in determining the lease term is the noncancellable period
which should be easily defined by the lease contract.
Example: If a lease has a five-year term, with two, five-year options to
extend, the noncancellable period is likely to be the first five-year period.

b)

6.

An entity should determine the noncancellable period of a lease when
determining the lease term.
1)

When assessing the length of the noncancellable period of a lease, an
entity should apply the definition of a contract and determine the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

2)

A lease is no longer enforceable when both the lessee and the lessor each
have the right to terminate the lease without permission from the other
party with no more than an insignificant penalty.

Option to extend the lease term and the reasonably certain assessment
a)

The lease term includes any option to extend the lease if certain criteria are
met:
1)

At the commencement date of the lease, if it is reasonably certain that the
lessee will exercise the option to extend the lease, the extension period is
included as part of the lease term. ASU 2016-02 uses the same definition
of “reasonably certain” used to evaluate options to purchase as part of the
assessment of lease payments.

2)

Reasonably certain assessment:

a.

In making the reasonably certain assessment, the lessee should
consider all economic factors relevant to that assessment including:

b.

•

Contract-based

•

Asset-based

•

Market-based, and

•

Entity-based factors.

Examples of economic factors to consider in making the reasonably
certain assessment include, but are not limited to, any of the following:
i.

Contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods
compared with current market rates, such as:
•

The amount of lease payments in any optional period.
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•

The amount of any variable lease payments or other
contingent payments, such as payments under
termination penalties and residual value guarantees.

•

The terms and conditions of any options that are
exercisable after the initial optional periods as compared
with the market rates (e.g., option price as compared with
the estimated residual value at the end of the lease).

ii.

Significant leasehold improvements that are expected to have
significant economic value for the lessee when the option to
extend or terminate the lease or to purchase the underlying
asset becomes exercisable.

iii.

Costs relating to the termination of the lease and the signing of
a new lease, such as negotiation costs, relocation costs, costs
of identifying another underlying asset suitable for the lessee’s
operations, or costs associated with returning the underlying
asset in a contractually specified condition or to a contractually
specified location.

iv.

The importance of that underlying asset to the lessee’s
operations, considering, for example, whether the underlying
asset is a specialized asset and the location of the underlying
asset.

Example:
Effective January 1, 20X1, Company X, a lessee, executes a five-year lease
that has two, five-year options (a total of 15 years).
X is a restaurant located in downtown Boston in a key location.
X expects to spend approximately $2 million on leasehold improvements,
none of which can be removed from the premises at the end of the lease.
At the commencement date, January 1, 20X1, X needs to determine the
lease term to be used to compute the present value of lease payments, and
the lease obligation.
Because X is spending a significant amount on leasehold improvements ($2
million), X is reasonably certain it will exercise at least one of the five-year
options, but not reasonably certain about the second option.
Conclusion:
In determining the lease term, X should include the first five-year option in
the lease term so that the lease term is 10 years for purposes of computing
lease payments and the present value of lease payments. The first five-year
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option is included in the lease term because it is reasonably certain that X
will exercise the five-year option given the extensive leasehold improvements
spent by the Lessee.
7.

Option to terminate a lease- lease term
a)

8.

At the commencement date, a lease term is adjusted (reduced) for an option
to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option to terminate.
1)

In order for an option to terminate the lease to be considered an adjustment
(reduction) to the lease term, the lessee only must have the right to
terminate the lease.

2)

If only a lessor has the right to terminate a lease, the noncancellable period
of the lease includes the period covered by the option to terminate the
lease, and no adjustment to the lease term is made to reflect the potential
reduction for the termination period.

Lease term- commencement date of lease
a)

The lease term begins on the commencement date.
1)

ASU 2016-02 defines the commencement date as:
“The date on which a lessor makes an underlying asset available for
use by a lessee.”

b)

The timing of when lease payments begin under the contract does not affect
the commencement date of the lease.

c)

Commencement date for a master lease

Note
There may be multiple commencement dates resulting from a master lease agreement.
That is because a master lease agreement may cover a significant number of underlying
assets, each of which are made available for use by the lessee on different dates. Although
a master lease agreement may specify that the lessee must take a minimum number of
units or dollar value of equipment, there will be multiple commencement dates unless
all of the underlying assets subject to that minimum are made available for use by the
lessee on the same date.
What if the lessee obtains control of the leased asset prior to operations beginning?
ASU 2016-02 states that the lessor may make the underlying asset available for use by the lessee
before the lessee’s operations begin or prior to the lessee making lease payments under the terms of the
lease.
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During this period, the lessee has the right to use the underlying asset and may do so for the purpose of
constructing a lessee asset and making leasehold improvements.
There is no distinction between the right to use an underlying asset during a construction period and the
right to use that asset after the construction period. Therefore, lease costs associated with ground or
building leases that are incurred during a construction period should be recognized by the lessee under
ASC 842.
Once the leased asset is available for use by the lessee, the lease term commences, regardless of
whether operations have begun by the lessee.
Further, the lease contract may require the lessee to make lease payments only after construction
is completed and the lessee begins operations. This fact has no bearing on the lease term which
commences once the lessor makes the leased asset available for use by the lessee.

F. SUBSEQUENT REASSESSMENT OF LEASE ELEMENTS- LESSEE
The general rule is that once a lease is measured and recorded at the commencement date, it is not
reassessed or remeasured throughout the lease term.
However, ASU 2016-02 provides guidance under which a lessee is required to reassess any of the
following:
• Lease term
• Option to purchase, extend or terminate a lease, and
• Lease payments.
1.

Reassessing the lease term or options
a)

A lessee shall reassess the lease term or a lessee option to purchase the
underlying asset only if and at the point in time that certain events occur.

b)

A reassessment of the lease term or a lessee option to purchase is required
in any of the following instances:
1)

There is a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that
is within the control of the lessee that directly affects whether the lessee is
reasonably certain to:

a.

Exercise or not to exercise an option to extend or terminate the lease,
or

b.

Purchase the underlying asset.

2)

There is an event that is written into the contract that obliges the lessee
to exercise (or not to exercise) an option to extend or terminate the lease.
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c)

d)

2.

3)

The lessee elects to exercise an option even though the entity had
previously determined that the lessee was not reasonably certain to do so.

4)

The lessee elects not to exercise an option even though the entity had
previously determined that the lessee was reasonably certain to do so.

Examples of significant events or significant changes in circumstances that
a lessee should consider in reassessing the lease term or lessee’s option to
purchase include, but are not limited to, the following:
1)

Constructing significant leasehold improvements that are expected to
have significant economic value for the lessee when the option becomes
exercisable

2)

Making significant modifications or customizations to the underlying asset

3)

Making a business decision that is directly relevant to the lessee’s ability to
exercise or not to exercise an option (for example, extending the lease of a
complementary asset or disposing of an alternative asset)

4)

Subleasing the underlying asset for a period beyond the exercise date of
the option.

A change in market-based factors (such as market rates to lease or purchase
a comparable asset) should not, in isolation, trigger reassessment of the
lease term or a lessee option to purchase the underlying asset.

Reassessing lease payments
a)

A lessee shall remeasure the lease payments if any of the following occur:
1)

The terms of the lease are modified, and that modification is not accounted
for as a separate contract.

2)

A contingency upon which some or all of the variable lease payments that
will be paid over the remainder of the lease term are based such that those
payments now meet the definition of lease payments.
Example: An event occurs that results in variable lease payments
that were linked to the performance or use of the underlying asset
becoming fixed payments for the remainder of the lease term.

Note
When a lessee remeasures the lease payments in accordance with this paragraph,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate shall be measured using the
index or rate at the remeasurement date.
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3)

There is a change in any of the following:

a.

The lease term is reassessed.
•

b.

The assessment of whether the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise or not to exercise an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
•

c.

A lessee shall determine the revised lease payments to reflect
the change in the assessment of the purchase option.

Amounts probable of being owed by the lessee under residual value
guarantees.
•

3.

If the lessee revises the lease term, the lease payments
should be revised based on the revised lease term.

A lessee shall determine the revised lease payments to reflect
the change in amounts probable of being owed by the lessee
under residual value guarantees.

Remeasurement of the lease liability- lessee
a)

After the commencement date, a lessee shall remeasure the lease liability if
there are changes in lease payments.

b)

A lessee shall recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Exception: If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero, a lessee shall recognize any remaining amount of the remeasurement
in profit or loss.

c)

Updating the discount rate:
1)

If there is a remeasurement of the lease liability, the lessee shall update
the discount rate for the lease at the date of remeasurement based on
the remaining lease term and the remaining lease payments unless the
remeasurement of the lease liability is the result of one of the following:

a.

A change in the lease term or the assessment of whether the lessee
will exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset and the
discount rate for the lease already reflects that the lessee has an
option to extend or terminate the lease or to purchase the underlying
asset.

b.

A change in amounts probable of being owed by the lessee under a
residual value guarantee.

c.

A change in the lease payments resulting from the resolution of a
contingency upon which some or all of the variable lease payments
that will be paid over the remainder of the lease term are based.
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Example 1: Reassessment
Company X executes a five-year lease that has a five-year option to extend
and is effective January 1, 20X1.
At the January 1, 20X1 commencement date, it is not reasonably certain that
X will exercise the option to extend.
Therefore, X measures and records a finance (Type A) lease based on the
five-year term without considering the five-year option in the lease payments
and lease term.
On January 1, 20X4, X exercises the option to extend the lease. On that
date, there is now two years left on the original lease and five years on the
option (a total of seven years).
Conclusion:
On January 1, 20X4, ASU 2016-02 requires that the lease be reassessed if
a lessee elects to exercise an option even though the entity had previously
determined that the lessee was not reasonably certain to do so.
X is required to reassess both the lease term and lease payments and
recompute the lease obligation as follows at January 1, 20X4:
1)

Remeasure the lease obligation: compute a new present value using:
•

Seven-years of lease payments,

•

A seven-year lease term, and

•

A discount rate at January 1, 20X4.

2)

Recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

3)

The right-of-use asset should revise its amortization life to reflect the new
seven-year life.

G. SHORT-TERM LEASES - LESSEE
A lessee may elect not to capitalize certain short-term leases and, instead, account for them the same
way in which operating leases are accounted for under existing lease standards.
1.

2.

ASU 2016-02 defines a short-term lease as a lease that, at the commencement date:
a)

Has a lease term of 12 months or less, and

b)

Does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise.

Under the short-term lease rules:
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a)

As an accounting policy, a lessee may elect not to apply the recognition
requirements in ASU 2016-02 to short-term leases.

b)

Instead, a lessee may do the following:
1)

Recognize the lease payments in the income statement as rent expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term and variable lease payments in
the period in which the obligation for those payments is incurred.

c)

The accounting policy election for short-term leases shall be made by class
of the underlying asset to which the right of use relates.

d)

If the lease term or the assessment of a lessee option to purchase the
underlying asset changes such that, after the change, the remaining lease
term extends more than 12 months from the end of the previously determined
lease term or the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise its option to
purchase the underlying asset, the lease no longer meets the definition of a
short-term lease and the lessee shall apply the ASU 2016-02 immediately as
if the date of the change in circumstances is the commencement date.
Example 1: Short-Term Lease
Lessee enters into a 12-month lease of a vehicle, with an option to purchase
the asset at the end of the lease. Monthly payments are $5,000 (total of
$60,000 for the 12-month lease period).
Lessee has considered all relevant factors and determined that it is not
reasonably certain to exercise the option to purchase.
Lessee seeks to make an accounting policy election not to recognize a rightof-use asset and lease obligation that arise from short-term leases.
Conclusion:
Lessee can make the short-term lease policy election not to recognize the
right-of-use asset and liability obligation.
The lease qualifies as a short-term lease for two reasons:
a.

At the lease commencement, it is not reasonably certain that the
lessee will exercise the option to purchase, and

b.

The lease term is 12 months or less.

The lease meets the definition of a short-term lease because the lease
term is 12 months or less and it is not reasonably certain that any option to
purchase will be exercised.
Consequently, consistent with Lessee’s accounting policy election, Lessee
does not recognize the right-of-use asset and the lease liability arising from
this lease. Instead, each month, Lessee makes the following entry:
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Entry each month
Rent expense
Cash, AP
To record monthly rent

dr
5,000

cr
5,000

Example 2: Short-Term Lease
Same facts as Example 1, except that at the lease commencement date, it is
reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise its option to purchase.
Conclusion:
The lease does not qualify as a short-term lease. Even though the lease term
is 12 months or less, it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise its
option to purchase.
Having an option to purchase where it is reasonably certain, at the
commencement date, that the lessee will exercise the option to purchase,
disqualifies the lease for short-term lease treatment.
Thus, the lease is not exempt from the ASU 2016-02 rules and a right-of-use
asset and lease obligation must be recorded as either a finance lease (Type
A) or an operating lease (Type B).
Example 3: Short-Term Lease
Lessee enters into a 12-month lease of a vehicle, with an option to extend for
another 12 months.
There is no option to purchase in the lease.
Monthly payments are $5,000 (total of $60,000 for the 12-month lease
period).
Lessee has considered all relevant factors and determined that it is not
reasonably certain to exercise the option to extend.
Lessee seeks to make an accounting policy election not to recognize a rightof-use asset and lease obligation that arise from short-term lease.
Conclusion:
Because at lease commencement, Lessee is not reasonably certain to
exercise the option to extend, the lease term is 12 months.
The lease meets the definition of a short-term lease because the lease term
is 12 months and there is no lease option to purchase.
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Consequently, consistent with Lessee’s accounting policy election, Lessee
does not recognize the right-of-use asset and the lease liability arising from
this lease. Instead, each month, Lessee makes the following entry:
Entry each month
Rent expense
Cash, AP
To record monthly rent

dr
5,000

cr
5,000

Example 4: Short-Term Lease
Same facts as Example 3, except that six months into the lease, Lessee
decides it is reasonably certain it will exercise its option to extend by another
12 months.
Conclusion:
Once it is reasonably certain it will exercise the 12-month option to extend the
lease, the lease term is now 18 months (6 months remaining plus 12-month
option to extend). Thus, the lease no longer qualifies as a short-term lease.
ASU 2016-02 states that if the lease term changes such that after the change,
the remaining lease term extends more than 12 months from the end of the
previously determined lease term, the lease no longer meets the definition of
a short-term lease.
On the date on which it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise
the option to extend, the lessee should apply the lease requirements in ASU
2016-02. That means it should classify the lease (finance versus operating),
and record a right-of-use asset and lease obligation. Moving forward, it should
record interest and amortization at amounts depending on the classification
of the lease.

Observation
Most short-term leases do not have lease options so that they are either tenants at will
or 12-month leases. In such situations, it is likely that the lease is a short-term lease and
that no recording of a lease asset and liability is needed.
With respect to related-party leases, it is easy to avoid the new lease standard by
ensuring that all related party leases are either tenant at will arrangements or 12-month
leases. Moreover, if there is no formal lease agreement, the lease is a tenant-at-will
arrangement to which the short-term lease exception applies.
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H. SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT AND ACCOUNTING FOR LEASES- LESSEE
Once a lease is measured and recorded at the commencement date, the lessee is required to follow
certain rules to account for the lease after the commencement date. Those rules pertain to how to
measure the right-of-use asset and lease obligation, including recording lease expense.
1.

After the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the lease liability and right-of-use
asset as follows.

2.

Lease obligation- subsequent measurement and accounting
a)

b)

3.

•

Increased to reflect the recognition of interest using the effective
interest method, and

•

Reduced to reflect the lease payments made during the period.

Interest is recorded using the effective interest method:
•

The lessee shall record interest expense related to the lease
obligation using the effective interest method.

•

The amount of interest shall be reflective of the unwinding of the
discount on the lease liability in each period during the lease term
as the amount that produces a constant periodic discount rate on
the remaining balance of the liability, taking into consideration the
reassessment.

Right-of-use asset- subsequent measurement and accounting
a)

4.

After the initial measurement of the lease liability on the commencement
date, the lease obligation shall be adjusted by the following:

The right-of-use asset shall be measured at cost less any accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses, taking into
consideration the reassessment requirements.

Recognition of lease expense- finance (Type A) and operating (Type B) leases
a)

After the commencement date, a lessee shall recognize in expense all of the
following, unless the costs are included in the carrying amount of another
asset.
Finance (Type A) lease:
A finance lease (Type A lease) has two recurring expense elements:
•

Interest expense: recorded through the lease obligation using the
effective interest method, and

•

Amortization expense: recorded on the right-of-use asset, computed
on a straight-line basis.
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Operating (Type B) lease:
An operating (Type B lease) has one single lease cost, based on combining
two recurring expense elements:
•

Interest expense: recorded through the lease obligation using the
effective interest method, and

•

Amortization expense: calculated at an amount that brings the
total combined lease cost to a straight-line expense based on the
remaining cost and lease term, at the beginning of each period.

Note
For an operating (Type B) lease, the periodic lease cost shall not be less than interest
expense computed using the effective interest method.

b)

In addition to interest and amortization expense computed for finance (Type
A) or operating (Type B) leases, a lessee should include in expense the
following nonrecurring element:
1)

c)

Any variable lease payments that were not included in the lease liability in
the period in which the obligation for those payments is incurred.6

Regardless of whether there is a finance (Type A) or operating (Type B)
lease, lease expense elements consist of the following:
Recurring elements:
•

Interest expense

•

Amortization expense

Non-recurring element:
•
5.

Variable lease payments not tied to an index or rate

Interest expense
a)

The amount of interest expense is the same for both types of leases in that it
is computed on the lease obligation, using the effective interest method.

__________________________________________________________________________________
6. Variable lease payments included in the computation of the lease liability include those linked to an index or rate, such as a
CPI index. All other variable lease payments are not included in the computation of the lease obligation and are recorded as
part of lease expense as incurred. Examples include lease payments due as a percentage of sales or another performance
achievement.
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6.

Amortization expense on the right-of-use asset
a)

A lessee shall amortize the right-of-use asset from the commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end
of the lease term.
1)

b)

c)

If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee or
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the
underlying asset, the lessee shall amortize the right-of-use asset to the
end of the useful life of the underlying asset.

As for amortization expense, the amount recognized differs between a
finance lease versus an operating lease.
1)

Finance lease: Records amortization expense on the right-of-use asset on
a straight-line basis.

2)

Operating lease: Records amortization expense at an amount needed to
bring the total lease expense (interest and amortization) equal to a straightline amount of the total cost of the lease over the lease term.

Details on computing amortization expense follow:
Finance (Type A) lease: A lessee shall amortize the right-of-use asset on a
straight-line basis, unless another systematic basis is more representative of
the pattern in which the lessee expects to consume the right-of-use asset‘s
future economic benefits.
1)

A lessee shall amortize the right-of-use asset from the commencement
date to the earlier of: a) the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset,
or b) the end of the lease term.

2)

If the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
lessee shall amortize the right-of-use asset over that asset’s useful life.

Operating (Type B) lease: For an operating (Type B) lease, a lessee shall
determine the amortization of the right-of-use asset for the period as the
following:
Annual straight-line lease expense:
Total remaining lease cost at the beginning of year = Annual straight-line cost
Remaining life
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Compute the amount of amortization for the year:
Annual straight-line cost7
Less: Interest expense from the lease obligation (effective interest method)
Equals: Amount of amortization expense recorded on the right-of-use asset
Example 1: Operating Lease
Company X signs a 10-year lease with annual lease payments ranging from $100,000
in Year 1 to $130,000 in the last year. Total payments over the 10 years is $1,200,000.
The lease is classified as an operating (Type B) lease.
X records a right-of-use asset and lease obligation for $900,000, the present value of the
lease payments at the incremental borrowing rate.
Entry at commencement date:
Right-of-use asset
Lease obligation
To record lease

dr
900,000

cr
900,000

For Year 1, interest expense on the lease obligation is $36,000.
Entry- Year 1:
Interest expense (given)
Lease obligation
Cash
To record Year 1 lease payment and interest
computed using the effective interest method

dr
36,000
64,000

cr

100,00

Conclusion:
Amortization expense on the right-of-use asset is $84,000 in Year 1, computed as
follows:
Total lease cost (10 years)
Remaining number of years
Annual straight-line expense
Less: interest recorded in Year 1
Amortization expense- Year 1

$1,200,000
10
120,000
(36,000)
$84,000

__________________________________________________________________________________
7. Paragraph 842-20-25-6 provides that the total expense (interest and amortization) should consist of the remaining lease
cost allocated over the remaining lease term on a straight-line basis. The ASU also permits use of another method, other than
straight-line, where another systematic and rational basis is more representative of the pattern in which benefit is expected
to be derived from the right-of-use asset. There are also special rules for the period after which there is an impairment of the
leased asset.
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Entry- Year 1:
Amortization expense
Right-of-use asset
To amortize right-of-use asset

dr
84,000

cr
84,000

Total lease expense consists of interest on the lease obligation plus amortization
expense on the right-of-use asset. Because the lease is an operating (Type B) lease,
annual lease expense is the straight-line amount of the total lease cost over the entire
lease term. In this example, total lease cost over 10 years is $1,200,000. That means
that annual expense in Year 1 is $120,000 ($1,200,000 divided by 10 years). Interest
expense is $36,000 so that the amount of amortization recorded in Year 1 is $84,000,
the amount to bring the total expense to $120,000.
Example 2: Finance Lease
Same facts as Example 1, except the lease is a finance (Type A) lease.
Conclusion:
Total lease expense is computed as follows:
For Year 1, interest expense on the lease obligation is $36,000.
Entry- Year 1:
Interest expense (given)
Lease obligation
Cash
To record Year 1 lease payment and interest
computed using the effective interest method

dr
36,000
64,000

cr

100,000

Amortization is computed on a straight-line basis over the ten-year lease term as follows:
Right-of-use asset- cost
Lease term
Amortization expense- Year 1
Entry- Year 1:
Amortization expense
Right-of-use asset
To amortize right-of-use asset

$900,000
10
$90,000
dr
90,000

cr
90,000

Total lease expense in Year 1 for the finance (Type A) lease is as follows:
Interest expense
Amortization expense
Total lease expense- Year 1 - finance lease
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$36,000
90,000
$126,000

A comparison of lease expense for the operating lease (Example 1) versus finance lease
(Example 2) follows:
Operating
(Type B) Lease
Example 1

Finance
(Type A) Lease
Example 2

$36,000
84,000
$120,000

$36,000
90,000
$126,000

Interest expense
Amortization expense
Total lease expense- Year 1 - finance lease

Observation
The above examples illustrate the fact that total lease expense for a finance (Type A)
lease is higher than lease expense for an operating (Type B) at the front-end of the lease
and reverses in the later years. The reason is because lease expense for a finance lease
is accelerated while lease expense for an operating lease is recorded on a straight-line
basis.
The following chart illustrates lease expense for the two types of leases.

COMPARISON OF LEASE EXPENSE: FINANCE (TYPE A) VERSUS OPERATING
(TYPE B) LEASE
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Observation
The above chart illustrates the difference between total lease expense for a finance
(Type A) lease and an operating (Type B) lease. With respect to a finance (Type A)
lease, total lease expense is accelerated consisting of accelerated interest expense and
straight-line amortization. With respect to an operating (Type B) lease, total expense is
recorded on a straight-line basis consisting of two components. First, there is interest
expense which is recorded on an accelerated basis using the effective interest method.
The second component of expense, amortization, is recorded at an amount so that the total lease
expense for the year is a straight-line amount of total expense for the entire lease term.

I. OTHER RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT ISSUES- LESSEE
1.

2.

Impairment of a right-of-use leased asset
a)

A lessee shall determine whether the right-of-use asset is impaired and, in
certain instances, shall recognize any impairment loss in accordance with
ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment.

b)

If a right-of-use asset is impaired, after the impairment, it shall be measured
at its carrying amount immediately after the impairment less any accumulated
amortization. A lessee shall amortize the right-of-use asset from the date of
the impairment to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use
asset or the end of the lease term.

Amortization of leasehold improvements
a)

Leasehold improvements shall be amortized by a lessee over the shorter of:
•

The useful life of those leasehold improvements, and

•

The remaining lease term.

b)

Exception: If the lease transfers ownership of the leased asset to the lessee
or the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the
underlying asset, the lessee shall amortize the leasehold improvements over
their estimated useful life.

c)

Leasehold improvements acquired in a business combination or an
acquisition by a not-for-profit entity shall be amortized over the shorter of
the useful life of the assets and the remaining lease term at the date of
acquisition.
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In amortizing leasehold improvements, should options to extend the lease be included in the
remaining lease term?
Yes. Although ASU 2016-02 does not address it, in determining the remaining lease term, the lessee
should include any options to extend where it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise its option
to extend the lease.
Example 1:
Company B installs leasehold improvements that have a useful life of 20 years.
The remaining lease term is five years. There is an option to extend the lease for an
additional 5 years (total of 10 years) and it is reasonably certain that B will exercise the
option to extend.
Conclusion:
The leasehold improvements should be amortized over the shorter of the useful life of
the leasehold improvements and the remaining lease term.
In this case, the remaining lease term is 10 years consisting of the five years remaining
plus the additional five-year extension period as it is reasonably certain to be extended.
The leasehold improvements are amortized over 10 years, the shorter of 10 years
remaining lease term and 20 years useful life.
Example 2:
Same facts as Example 1, except that there is an option to purchase the leased asset at
the end of the lease and it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the option.
Conclusion:
ASU 2016-02 states that if the lease transfers ownership of the leased asset to the lessee
or the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the underlying
asset, the lessee shall amortize the leasehold improvements over their estimated useful
life.
In this case, there is an option to purchase and it is reasonably certain that the lessee
will exercise its option to purchase. Therefore, the leasehold improvements should be
amortized over their useful life of 20 years.
3.

Subleases
a)

If the nature of a sublease is such that the original lessee is not relieved of the
primary obligation under the original lease, the original lessee (as sublessor)
shall continue to account for the original lease in one of the following ways:
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1)

If the sublease is classified as an operating (Type B) lease, the original
lessee shall continue to account for the original lease as it did before
commencement of the sublease.
•

2)

If the original lease is classified as a finance (Type A) lease and the
sublease is classified as a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease,
the original lessee shall derecognize the original right-of-use asset
and continue to account for the original lease liability as it did before
commencement of the sublease.
•

3)

4.

The original lessee shall evaluate its investment in the
sublease for impairment.

If the original lease is classified as an operating (Type B) lease and the
sublease is classified as a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease, the
original lessee shall derecognize the original right-of-use asset and, from
the sublease commencement date, account for the original lease liability.
•

b)

If the lease cost for the term of the sublease exceeds the
anticipated sublease income for that same period, the original
lessee shall treat that circumstance as an indicator that the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset associated with the
original lease may not be recoverable.

The original lessee shall evaluate its investment in the
sublease for impairment.

The original lessee (as sublessor) in a sublease shall use the rate implicit in
the lease to determine the classification of the sublease and to measure the
net investment in the sublease if the sublease is classified as a sales-type
or a direct financing lease unless that rate cannot be readily determined. If
the rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined, the original lessee
may use the discount rate for the lease established for the original (or head)
lease.

Derecognition
a)

A lessee must account for the derecognition (removal) of a lease when
certain events occur.

b)

Examples of such events include:
•

Lease termination

•

Purchase of the underlying leased asset

•

Sublease
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c)

Lease Termination
1)

A termination of a lease before the expiration of the lease term shall be
accounted for by the lessee by removing the right-of-use asset and the
lease liability, with profit or loss recognized for the difference.

Example:
Company X is a lessee who has recorded a finance lease. The lease term
expires on December 31, 20X9.
At December 31, 20X3, the right-of-use asset has an amortized balance of
$1,300,000 and the lease obligation has a balance of $1,150,000.
On January 1, 20X4, X terminates the lease early without an early termination
penalty.
Conclusion:
Because the lease is being terminated before the expiration of the lease
term, the lessee should account for the termination by removing the rightof-use asset and the lease liability, with the difference being recorded on the
income statement as a profit or loss on the transaction.
In this example, the difference between the carrying amount of the right-ofuse asset ($1,300,000) and the lease obligation ($1,150,000) is $150,000
and is recorded as a loss on termination on the income statement.
On January 1, 20X4, X should make the following entry:
Entry: January 1, 20X4:
Lease obligation
Loss on termination of lease (income statement)
Right-of-use asset
To record early termination of lease
d)

dr
1,150,000
150,000

cr

1,300,000

Purchase of the Underlying Asset
1)

The termination of a lease that results from the purchase of an underlying
asset by the lessee is not considered a lease termination.

a.

The transaction is considered an integral part of the purchase of the
underlying asset.

b.

If the lessee purchases the underlying asset, any difference between
the purchase price and the carrying amount of the lease liability
immediately before the purchase shall be recorded by the lessee as
an adjustment of the carrying amount of the asset.
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Example:
Company X is a lessee who has recorded a finance lease. The lease term
expires on December 31, 20X9.
At December 31, 20X3, the right-of-use asset has an amortized balance of
$1,300,000 and the lease obligation has a balance of $1,150,000.
On January 1, 20X4, X purchases the leased asset at a price of $700,000.
Conclusion:
ASU 2016-02 states that a termination of a lease as a result of a purchase of
the underlying leased asset is not a lease termination.
The lease transaction is considered part of the purchase of the leased asset
with any difference between the purchase price and the carrying amount of
the lease liability being recorded as an adjustment of the carrying amount of
the asset.
Right of use asset
Lease obligation
Adjustment
Purchase price of leased asset
Carrying amount of purchase asset

$1,300,000
(1,150,000)
$150,000
700,000
$850,000

On January 1, 20X4, X should make the following entry:
Entry: January 1, 20X4:
Lease obligation
Right-of-use asset
Fixed asset
Cash
To record purchase of leased asset
e)

dr
1,150,000

cr
1,300,000

$850,000
700,000

Subleases
1)

If the nature of a sublease is such that the original lessee is relieved of
the primary obligation under the original lease, the transaction shall be
considered a termination of the original lease.

a.

Any consideration paid or received upon termination that was not
already included in the lease payments (for example, a termination
payment that was not included in the lease payments based on the
lease term) shall be included in the determination of profit or loss to
be recognized.
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2)

If a sublease is a termination of the original lease and the original lessee
is secondarily liable, the guarantee obligation shall be recognized by the
lessee.

J. FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION MATTERS- LESSEE
Once leases are classified, measured and recorded on the balance sheet, the next issue is how the
leases should be presented in the lessee’s financial statements.
Statement of Financial Position
1.

2.

A lessee shall either present in the statement of financial position or disclose in the notes
all of the following:
a)

Right-of-use assets separately from other assets

b)

Lease liabilities separately from other liabilities

c)

Finance (Type A) lease right-of-use assets presented separately from
operating (Type B) right-of-use assets

d)

Finance (Type A) lease obligations presented separately from operating
(Type B) lease obligations

If a lessee does not present finance and operating lease right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately in the statement of financial position, the lessee shall do the following:
a)

Disclose which line items in the statement of financial position include rightof-use assets and lease liabilities.

3.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities shall be subject to the same considerations as
other assets and liabilities in classifying them as current and noncurrent in classified
statements of financial position.

4.

In the statement of financial position, a lessee is prohibited from presenting both of the
following:
a)

Finance lease right-of-use assets in the same line item as operating lease
right-of-use assets.

b)

Finance lease liabilities in the same line item as operating lease liabilities.

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Income Statement)
1.

In the statement of comprehensive income (income), a lessee shall present both of the
following:
a)

For finance leases, the interest expense and amortization expense shall be
presented in a manner consistent with how other interest and amortization
expense is presented.
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Note
The interest and amortization are not required to be presented as separate line items
and shall be presented in a manner consistent with how the entity presents other
interest expense and amortization of similar assets, respectively. ASU 2016-02 requires
that interest expense and amortization expense be disclosed somewhere, either on the
face of the statement of income or in the notes to financial statements.
b)

For operating (Type B) leases, lease expense, consisting of combined
interest and amortization expense, shall be included as one item in the
lessee’s income from continuing operations.

Observation
ASU 2016-02 does not require that an entity present lease expense components
separate line items on the statement of income. Instead, for finance leases, interest
and amortization shall be presented separately the same way the entity presents other
interest and amortization. In most cases, that will be to include interest and amortization
expense as part of total operating expenses on the income statement. As for operating
(Type B) leases, interest and amortization are combined into one amount called “lease
expense” and included as part of income from continuing operations. Again, there is no
requirement that a lessee present lease expense related to operating leases as a separate
line item on the statement of income provided that lease expense is included as part of
income from continuing operations.
Statement of Cash Flows
1.

In the statement of cash flows, a lessee shall classify the following:
a)

b)

Finance (Type A) leases:
•

Payments of the principal portion of the lease liability presented within
financing activities.

•

Interest expense related to the lease liability is presented in operating
activities as part of net income (if the indirect method is used) and
interest paid is disclosed.

•

Amortization expense is an add back to net income in the operating
activities section if the indirect method is used.

Operating (Type B) lease:
•

Payments of the principal portion of the lease liability presented in
operating activities.
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c)

•

Lease expense (cost) is presented in operating activities as a single
line item as part of net income (if the indirect method is used).

•

The amortization portion lease expense is an add back to net income
in the operating activities section if the indirect method is used.8

Other items: both finance and operating leases:
•

Any payments that represent costs to bring another asset to the
condition and location necessary for its intended use should be
classified within investing activities.

•

Variable lease payments and short-term lease payments not included
in the lease liability are presented within operating activities. Such
payments are part of lease expense and included as part of net
income in the operating activities section.

K. DISCLOSURES BY LESSEES
ASU 2016-02 states that the objective of the ASU’s disclosure requirements is to enable users of financial
statements to understand the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.
To achieve that objective, a lessee shall disclose qualitative and quantitative information about all of the
following:
a.

Its leases

b.

The significant judgments made in applying the ASU 2016-02 requirements to those
leases, and

c.

The amounts recognized in the financial statements relating to those leases.

Note
A lessee shall consider the level of detail necessary to satisfy the disclosure objective
and how much emphasis to place on each of the various requirements. A lessee shall
aggregate or disaggregate disclosures so that useful information is not obscured by
including a large amount of insignificant detail or by aggregating items that have
different characteristics.
1.

ASU 2016-02 requires that a lessee shall disclose the following.
a)

Information about the nature of its leases, including:

__________________________________________________________________________________
8. With respect to operating (Type B) leases, lease expense (cost) is presented as a single item in the income statement so that
the individual components of amortization and interest are not separately presented. In terms of presentation in the statement of
income, if the indirect method is used, that portion of the total lease cost pertaining to amortization is treated as an add back to
net income in the operating activities section.
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•

A general description of those leases

•

The basis, and terms and conditions, on which variable lease
payments are determined

•

The existence, and terms and conditions, of options to extend or
terminate the lease. A lessee should provide narrative disclosure
about the options that are recognized as part of the right-of-use asset
and lease liability and those that are not

•

The existence, and terms and conditions, of residual value guarantees
provided by the lessee

•

The restrictions or covenants imposed by leases, for example, those
relating to dividends or incurring additional financial obligations

Note
A lessee should identify the information relating to subleases included in the disclosures
above.

2.

b)

Information about leases that have not yet commenced but that create
significant rights and obligations for the lessee.

c)

Information about significant assumptions and judgments made in applying
the requirements of ASU 2016-02 (ASC 842), which may include the
following:
•

The determination of whether a contract contains a lease

•

The allocation of the consideration in a contract between lease and
non-lease components, and

•

The determination of the discount rate for the lease.

For each period presented in the financial statements, a lessee shall disclose the following
amounts relating to a lessee’s total lease cost, which includes both amounts recognized
in the income statement during the period and any amounts capitalized as part of the cost
of another asset in accordance with other GAAP, and the cash flows arising from lease
transactions:
a)

Total lease cost- total leases9

b)

Finance leases:

__________________________________________________________________________________
9. Under ASU 2016-02, any common area maintenance (CAM) charges incurred by the lessee are not part of lease cost and
are classified as a maintenance expense.
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•
c)

Lease cost, segregated between the amortization of the right-of-use
assets and interest on the lease liabilities.

Operating lease cost
•

Total lease cost (consisting of combined amortization and interest)

d)

Short-term lease cost, excluding expenses relating to leases with a lease
term of one month or less

e)

Variable lease cost that is not part of the lease obligation

f)

Sublease income, disclosed on a gross basis, separate from the finance or
operating lease expense

g)

Net gain or loss recognized from sale and leaseback transactions

h)

Amounts segregated between those for finance and operating leases for the
following items:
•

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities, segregated between operating and financing cash flows

•

Supplemental noncash information on lease liabilities arising from
obtaining right-of-use assets

•

Weighted-average remaining lease term, and

•

Weighted-average discount rate.

Note
The lessee should calculate the weighted-average remaining lease term based on the
remaining lease term and the lease liability balance for each lease as of the reporting
date.

The lessee should calculate the weighted-average discount rate based on
both of the following:

3.

•

The discount rate for the lease that was used to calculate the lease
liability balance for each lease as of the reporting date, and

•

The remaining balance of the lease payments for each lease as of
the reporting date.

A lessee shall disclose:
a)

A maturity analysis of its finance lease liabilities and its operating lease
liabilities separately, showing the undiscounted cash flows on an annual
basis for a minimum of each of the first five years and a total of the amounts
for the remaining years.
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4.

b)

A reconciliation of the undiscounted cash flows to the finance lease liabilities
and operating lease liabilities recognized in the statement of financial
position.

c)

Lease transactions between related parties in accordance with ASC 850,
Related Party Disclosures.

A lessee that accounts for short-term leases shall disclose that fact.

Note
If the short-term lease expense for the period does not reasonably reflect the lessee’s
short-term lease commitments, a lessee shall disclose that fact and the amount of its
short-term lease commitments.

5.

A lessee that elects the practical expedient on not separating lease components from
nonlease components shall disclose its accounting policy election and which class or
classes of underlying assets it has elected to apply the practical expedient.

Observation
Some of the lease disclosures noted above overlap with existing disclosures required
by other GAAP. Existing GAAP already requires disclosure of interest expense and
amortization expense. Now, ASU 2016-02 requires disclosure of interest expense and
amortization expense related to finance (Type A) leases. The disclosures required by
ASU 2016-02 are in addition to disclosures required by other GAAP. For example,
with respect to interest expense, an entity will be required to disclose total interest
expense for the entity (existing GAAP) plus that interest expense portion related to
finance leases. Similarly, an entity is required to disclose total amortization expense
under existing GAAP, plus amortization expense related to finance leases.
As for operating (Type B) leases, ASU 2016-02 requires that total lease expense be
disclosed with no requirement to disclose the individual interest and amortization
expense components of lease expense.
Example:
Company X implements ASU 2016-02 for 20X1. X has the following for 20X1:
Interest expense:
Non-lease interest expense- various loans
Interest expense- finance lease obligations
Interest expense- operating lease obligations
Total interest expense
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$100,000
50,000
25,000
$175,000

Amortization expense:
Amortization expense- various non-lease intangible assets
Amortization expense- finance lease right-of-use assets
Amortization expense- operating lease right-of-use assets
Total amortization expense

$200,000
60,000
70,000
$330,000

Conclusion:
For 20X1, X must disclose the following items as required by existing GAAP along with additional
disclosures required by ASU 2016-02:

Disclosures- Existing GAAP and New ASU 2016-02
Expense
Total interest expense
Total amortization expense

Authority

Disclosure
Amount

Existing GAAP
Existing GAAP

$175,000
$330,000

Lease cost- finance leases:
Interest expense portion
Amortization expense portion
Total lease cost- finance leases

New- ASU 2016-02
New- ASU 2016-02
New- ASU 2016-02

$50,000
60,000
110,000

Lease cost- operating leases
Total lease cost- all leases

New- ASU 2016-02
New- ASU 2016-02

(a) 95,000
$205,000

Total lease cost- all leases:

(a) For operating (Type B) leases, ASU 2016-02 requires disclosure of total lease cost (expense)
without breaking out the amortization and interest components of that cost. In this case, the $95,000
consists of interest expense ($25,000) plus amortization expense ($70,000).
Below is a sample disclosure that presents the format that can be used to disclose the items required by
ASU 2016-02:
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Sample Disclosure of Information Identified in (2)(a) through (h):
NOTE X: Lease Information
A summary of total lease cost, by component, and other lease information for the years ended
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, follows:
20X2
20X1
Total lease cost:
Finance lease cost:
$XX
$XX
Amortization of right-of-use assets
XX
Interest on lease obligations
XX
XX
Operating lease cost
XX
XX
Short-term lease cost
XX
XX
XX
XX
Variable lease cost
Total
XX
XX
(XX)
(XX)
Sublease income
$XX
$XX
Total lease cost
Other lease information:
(Gains) and losses on sale and leaseback transactions
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease
liabilities
Weighted-average remaining lease term:
Finance leases
Operating leases
Weighted-average discount rate:
Finance leases
Operating leases

$(XX)
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX

$(XX)
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX

XX years
XX years

XXyears
XX years

x.x%
x.x%

x.x%
x.x%

Source: ASU 2016-02, as modified by the Author.
Should amortization expense related to finance leases be included in the five-year amortization
disclosure found in ASC 350?
ASC 350-50-30, Intangibles- Goodwill and Other, requires a disclosure of amortization expense and
estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years. The question is
whether an entity should include in the five-year disclosure, any amortization expense related to a rightof-use asset.
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Although not codified in ASU 2016-02, the author suggests that the five-year amortization disclosure
found in ASC 350-50-30 only applies to intangibles found in ASC 350. The definition of an intangible
asset in ASC 350 is an asset that lacks physical substance, such as a patent or trademark.

Examples: Application of Lease Standard- Lessee
Following are examples that present the generally application of ASU 2016-02 as it relates to the lessee
side of the transaction. Most of the following examples were extracted from ASU 2016-02 and have been
modified by the author.
Example 1: Initial and Subsequent Measurement by a Lessee and Accounting for a Change in the
Lease Term
Part 1: Initial and Subsequent Measurement of the Right-of-Use Asset and the Lease Liability
• On January 1, 20X1, a lessee enters into a 10-year lease of an asset, with an option to
extend for five years.
• Lease payments are due on January 1 at $50,000 per year during the initial 10-year term,
and $55,000 per year during the five-year optional period, all payable at the beginning of
each year.
• The lessee makes the first $50,000 on January 1, 20X1.
• The lessee incurs initial direct costs of $15,000 related to commissions paid.
• At the commencement date, the lessee concludes that it is not reasonably certain that the
lessee will exercise the option to extend and, therefore, determines the lease term to be
10 years.
• The rate that the lessor charges the lessee is not readily determinable. The lessee‘s
incremental borrowing rate is 5.87 percent, which reflects the fixed rate at which the
lessee could borrow a similar amount in the same currency, for the same term, and with
similar collateral as in the lease.
Conclusion: At the January 1, 20X1 commencement date, the lessee incurs initial direct costs, and
measures the lease liability at the present value of 10 payments of $50,000, discounted at the rate of
5.87 percent, which is $392,017. Then, the lessee makes the initial payment of $50,000.
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Payment
Date

Annual Lease
Payment

Present Value Factor
(5.87%)

$50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000

1.0000
.9445
.8922
.8427
.7960
.7518
.7102
.6708
.6336
.5985

Jan 1, 20X1
Jan 1, 20X2
Jan 1, 20X3
Jan 1, 20X4
Jan 1, 20X5
Jan 1, 20X6
Jan 1, 20X7
Jan 1, 20X8
Jan 1, 20X9
Jan 1, 20X10

Present
Value
$50,000
47,227
44,609
42,136
39,800
37,592
35,508
33,540
31,680
29,925

$500,000

$392,017

At January 1, 20X1 commencement date, the lessee records the right-of-use asset as follows:
Liability amount
Initial direct costs

Entry: January 1, 20X1 inception:

$392,017
15,000
$407,017

dr

Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
Cash (initial direct costs)
To establish lease at inception

407,017

Lease liability
Cash
To record first lease payment

50,000
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cr
392,017
15,000

50,000

Lease Amortization Schedule
Payment
Date

Beginning
Balance

Principal

Jan 1, 20X1
Jan 1, 20X2
Jan 1, 20X3
Jan 1, 20X4
Jan 1, 20X5
Jan 1, 20X6
Jan 1, 20X7
Jan 1, 20X8
Jan 1, 20X9
Jan 1, 20X10

$392,017
342,017
312,093
280,413
246,874
211,365
173,772
133,973
91,837
47,228

$50,000
29,924
31,680
33,539
35,509
37,593
39,799
42,136
44,609
47,228
$392,017

Total

Ending
Balance

$0
20,076
18,320
16,461
14,491
12,407
10,201
7,864
5,391
2,772

$50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000

$342,017
312,093
280,413
246,874
211,365
173,772
133,972
91,836
47,229
0

$107,983

$500,000

Interest

Assume lease is a Finance lease (Type A):
The lessee expects to consume the right-of-use asset‘s future economic benefits evenly over the lease
term and, thus, amortizes the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis.
Entries: December 31, 20X1 (Year 1):

dr

Interest expense
Accrued interest
To record interest in Year 1

20,076

Amortization expense
Accumulated amortization- right-of-use asset
To amortize asset on a straight-line basis ($407,017/10 years)

40,702

The balance sheet presentation at December 31, 20X1 follows:
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cr
20,076

40,702

Company X
Balance Sheet
December 31, 20X1
(FINANCE LEASE (TYPE A))
ASSETS:
Property, Plant and Equipment
Equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Total equipment

$XX
XX
XX

Right-of-use lease assets- Finance leases (Type A) (a)
Less: accumulated amortization
Total right-of-use assets

407,017
40,702
366,315

Right-of-use lease assets- Operating Leases (Type B) (a)
Less: accumulated amortization
Total right-of-use assets

XX
XX
XX

Total plant and equipment

XX

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of lease obligation- Finance leases (Type A) (b)
Current portion of lease obligations- Operating Leases (Type B) (b)
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Long-term lease obligation- Finance leases (Type A) (b) (c)
Long-term lease obligations- Operating Leases (Type B) (b)

XX
29,924
XX
XX
312,093
XX

(a) ASU 2016-02 requires that the right-to-use asset be presented separately from owned assets
within the property, plant and equipment section. In addition, right-of-use assets for finance leases
(Type A) must be presented separately from right-of-use assets for operating leases (Type B).
(b) ASU 2016-02 requires that the lease obligation be presented separate from other debt on the
balance sheet, and separated between Financing (Type A) and Operating (Type B) leases.
(c) $392,017 – principal payment at inception $(50,000) = $342,017 - current portion ($29,924) =
$312,093.
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Company X
Statement of Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 20X1
(FINANCE LEASE (TYPE A))
Net sales

$XX

Cost of goods sold

XX

Gross profit on sales

XX

Operating expenses:
Interest expense
Interest expense- lease obligations (a)
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization expense- right-of-use lease assets (a)
Payroll and payroll-related expenses
Utilites
Rent
Office expenses
Sundry other expenses
Total operating expenses

XX
20,076
XX
40,702
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
$XX

Net operating income

(a) ASU 2016-02 requires that for a Finance lease (Type A), interest expense from the lease obligation
and amortization expense related to right-of-use leased assets be separated from other interest and
amortization expense.
Company X
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 20X1
(FINANCE LEASE (TYPE A))
Operating activities
Net income (a)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization expense- right-of-use leased assets (a)
Investing activities:
Financing activites:
Repayments of long-term debt
Repayments of right-of-use lease obligations (principal)
(a) Includes a deduction for interest expense ($20,076) and ($40,702) of amortization
expense.
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$XX
XX
XX
40,702
XX
XX
(50,000)

Assume lease is an Operating Lease (Type B):
If it is an operating lease (Type B), total expense (interest and amortization) is recorded on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
In this example, total annual lease payments are as follows:
Lease payments $50,000 x 10
Initial direct costs
Total lease payments

$500,000
15,000
$515,000
$51,500

Annual expense $515,000/ 10 years

Computation of Straight-Line Expense

Year
Jan 1, 20X1
Jan 1, 20X2
Jan 1, 20X3
Jan 1, 20X4
Jan 1, 20X5
Jan 1, 20X6
Jan 1, 20X7
Jan 1, 20X8
Jan 1, 20X9
Jan 1, 20X10

Interest
Expense

Amortization of
Lease Asset
(PLUG)
(a)

Total Lease Expense
(b)

$20,076
18,320
16,461
14,491
12,407
10,201
7,864
5,391
2,772
0

$31,424
33,180
35,039
37,009
39,093
41,299
43,636
46,109
48,728
51,500

$51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500

$107,983

$407,017

$515,000

(a) Right-of-use (leased) asset is amortized as a “balancing figure” so that total lease expense is
measured on a straight-line basis.
(b) Shown as lease expense in the statement of income.
Entries: December 31, 20X1 (Year 1):

dr

Interest expense
Accrued interest
To record interest in Year 1

20,076

Amortization expense
Accumulated amortization- right-of-use asset
To amortize right-of-use asset per the schedule

31,424
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cr
20,076

31,424

Company X
Balance Sheet
December 31, 20X1
(OPERATING LEASE (TYPE B))
ASSETS:
Property, Plant and Equipment
Equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Total equipment
Right-of-use lease assets- Finance leases (Type A) (a)
Less: accumulated amortization
Total right-of-use assets
Right-of-use lease assets- Operating Leases (Type B) (a)
Less: accumulated amortization
Total right-of-use assets
Total plant and equipment

$XX
XX
XX
$XX
XX
XX
407,017
31,424
375,593
XX

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of lease obligation- Finance leases (Type A) (b)
Current portion of lease obligations- Operating Leases (Type B) (b)
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Long-term lease obligation- Finance leases (Type A) (b) (c)
Long-term lease obligations- Operating Leases (Type B) (b)

XX
XX
29,924
XX
XX
312,093

(a) ASU 2016-02 requires that the right-to-use asset be presented separately from owned assets
within the property, plant and equipment section. In addition, right-of-use assets for finance leases
(Type A) must be presented separately from right-of-use assets for operating leases (Type B).
(b) ASU 2016-02 requires that the lease obligation be presented separate from other debt on the
balance sheet, and separated between Financing (Type A) and Operating (Type B) leases.
(c) $392,017 – principal payment at inception $(50,000) = $342,017 - current portion ($29,924) =
$312,093.
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Company X
Statement of Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 20X1
(OPERATING LEASE (TYPE B))
Net sales

$XX

Cost of goods sold

XX

Gross profit on sales

XX

Operating expenses:
Interest expense
Lease expense (1)
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization expense- right-of-use lease assets (a)
Payroll and payroll-related expenses
Utilites
Rent
Office expenses
Sundry other expenses
Total operating expenses
Net operating income

XX
51,500
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
XX
$XX

(1) Under an operating lease (Type B), interest expense and amortization expense are presented
as “lease expense,” a single line item on the income statement. Breakout is: interest $20,076 plus
amortization $31,424 equals $51,500.
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Company X
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 20X1
(OPERATING LEASE (TYPE B))
Operating activities:
Net income (a)

$XX

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization expense portion of lease expense for operating leases (Type B)
(c)

XX
XX
31,424
(50,000)
XX

Repayments of right-of-use lease obligations- operating lease (Type B) (b)
Net cash flow from operating activities
Investing activities:

XX

Financing activites:
Repayments of long-term debt
XX
(a) Includes a deduction for lease expense of $51,500.
(b) For operating leases (Type B), all lease payments are part of operating activities.
(c) Even though lease expense for operating leases is presented on the income statement as a single
item, on the statement of cash flows, only the amortization portion of lease expense is added back
using the indirect method.
A comparison of total expense for a finance lease (Type A) versus operating lease (Type B) follows:

Comparison of Expense - Lessee
Finance Lease (Type A) Versus Operating Lease (Type B) Leases
Finance Lease
(Type A)
Year
20X1
20X2
20X3
20X4
20X5
20X6
20X7
20X8
20X9
20X10

Interest Amortization
$20,076
$40,702
18,320
40,702
16,461
40,702
14,491
40,702
12,407
40,702
10,201
40,702
7,864
40,702
5,391
40,702
2,772
40,702
0
40,699
$107,983

$407,017

DIFF
A>B
(B>A)

Operating Lease
(Type B)
Total
$60,778
59,022
57,163
55,193
53,109
50,903
48,566
46,093
43,474
40,699
$515,000
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Interest Amortization
$20,076
$31,424
18,320
33,180
16,461
35,039
14,491
37,009
12,407
39,093
10,201
41,299
7,864
43,636
5,391
46,109
2,772
48,728
0
51,500
$107,983

$407,017

Total
$51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
51,500
$515,000

$9,278
7,522
5,663
3,693
1,609
(597)
(2,934)
(5,407)
(8,026)
(10,801)
$

0

Example 1: Part 2—Accounting for a Change in the Lease Term
At the end of December 31, 20X6, assume the lessee makes significant leasehold improvements.
Those improvements are expected to have significant economic value for the lessee at the end of the
original noncancellable period of 10 years. That is, because the improvements result in the underlying
asset having greater utility to the lessee than alternative assets that could be leased for a similar amount.
Consequently, at December 31, 20X6, the lessee concludes that it is now reasonably certain that it will
exercise the option to extend the lease.
The lessee‘s incremental borrowing rate at December 31, 20X6, taking into consideration the extended
remaining lease term, is 7.83 percent. Although the lease term changes, the lessee does not reassess
the lease classification. ASU 2016-02 provides that an entity shall not reassess the lease classification
after the commencement date unless the lease contract is modified and the modification is not accounted
for as a separate contract. In this case, there is no lease contract modification.
At December 31, 20X6, there are:
• Four payments left at $50,000 on the original loan
• Lease liability balance of $173,772
• Right-of-use asset balance of $162,806 ($407,017 less 6 years’ straight-line amortization)
Conclusion:
Because the reassessment indicates that it is now reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the
option to extend the lease, the lease should be reassessed to reflect a new lease term and extended
lease payments. Now, instead of having four years left on the lease, there are nine years remaining on
the lease (four years on the original lease and five years on the option).
Moreover, in reassessing the lease, the remaining lease payments should be discounted at the new
incremental borrowing rate of 7.83% as follows:
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Computation of Reassessed Lease Value
at December 31, 20X6
Payment
Date

Annual Lease
Payment

REMAINDER OF LEASE:
1-1-X7
1-1-X8
1-1-X9
1-1-X10
OPTION PERIOD:
1-1-X11
1-1-X12
1-1-X13
1-1-X14
1-1-X15

Present Value Factor
(7.83%)

Present Value
to 12-31-X6

50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000

1.0000
.9274
.8600
.7976

50,000
46,369
43,002
39,880

55,000
55,000
55,000
55,000
55,000
$475,000

.7397
.6860
.6361
.5899
.5471

40,682
37,728
34,988
32,448
30,092
$355,189

At December 31, 20X6:
Recomputed lease liability
Lease liability balance at 12-31-20X6
Entry required

$355,189
173,772
$181,417

New basis: right-of-use asset:
Original basis remaining
Adjustment due to reassessment of liability
New basis after reassessment 12-31-X6

$162,806
181,417
$344,223

Revised Lease Amortization Schedule
Reassessed at December 31, 20X6
Payment
Date

Beginning
Balance

Jan 1, 20X7
Jan 1, 20X8
Jan 1, 20X9
Jan 1, 20X10
Jan 1, 20X11
Jan 1, 20X12
Jan 1, 20X13
Jan 1, 20X14
Jan 1, 20X15

$355,189
305,189
279,868
250,938
220,586
182,858
142,176
98,308
51,006

Interest

Total

Ending
Balance

$50,000
26,104
28,148
30,352
37,728
40,682
43,868
47,302
51,006

$ 0
23,896
21,852
19,648
17,272
14,318
11,132
7,698
3,994

$50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
55,000
55,000
55,000
55,000
55,000

$305,189
279,868
250,938
220,586
182,858
142,176
98,308
51,006
0

$355,190

$119,810

$475,000

Principal
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FINANCE LEASE (TYPE A):
Entries:
December 31, 20X6

dr

Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
To adjust liability to reassessed amount

cr

181,417
181,417

January 1, 20X7
Lease liability
Cash
To record January 1, 20X7 lease payment

50,000
50,000

December 31, 20X7
Interest expense
Accrued interest
To record interest in 20X7

23,896
23,896

Amortization expense
Accumulated amortization- right-of-use asset
To amortize asset on a straight-line basis ($344,223/9 years)

38,247

38,247

OPERATING LEASE (TYPE B):
Total expense is recorded on a straight-line basis as follows:

Computation of Straight-Line Expense

Year
Jan 1, 20X7
Jan 1, 20X8
Jan 1, 20X9
Jan 1, 20X10
Jan 1, 20X11
Jan 1, 20X12
Jan 1, 20X13
Jan 1, 20X14
Jan 1, 20X15

Interest
Expense

Amortization of
Lease Asset
(PLUG)
(a)

$23,896
21,852
19,648
17,272
14,318
11,132
7,698
3,994
0
$119,810

$28,881
30,925
33,130
35,506
38,460
41,646
45,080
48,784
52,778
$355,190

Total Lease Expense
(b)
$52,777
52,777
52,778
52,778
52,778
52,778
52,778
52,778
52,778
$475,000

(a) Right-of-use (leased) asset is amortized as a “balancing figure” so that total lease expense is
measured on a straight-line basis.
(b) Shown as lease expense in the statement of income.
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December 31, 20X6
Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
To adjust liability to reassessed amount
January 1, 20X7
Lease liability
Cash
To record January 1, 20X7 lease payment

dr

cr

181,417
181,417

50,000
50,000

December 31, 20X7
Interest expense
Accrued interest
To record interest in 20X7

23,896

Amortization expense
Accumulated amortization- Right-of-use asset
To amortize asset so that total expense equals
$52,777 [$23,896 + $28,881 = $52,777]

28,881

23,896

28,881

Example 2: Termination Penalties
A lessee enters into a 10-year lease of an asset, which it can terminate at the end of each year once the
lease enters its sixth year.
Lease payments are $50,000 per year during the 10-year term, payable at the beginning of each year.
If the lessee terminates the lease at the end of Year 6, the lessee must pay a penalty to the lessor of
$20,000. The termination penalty decreases by $5,000 in each successive year.
At the commencement date, the lessee concludes that it is not reasonably certain that the lessee will
continue to use the underlying asset after Year 6, having considered all factors including the termination
penalties and the lease payments during the remaining years of the lease.
Accordingly, the lessee determines that the lease term is six years.
Conclusion:
At the commencement date, the lessee should measure the lease liability based on lease payments of
$50,000 for 6 years plus the penalty of $20,000 payable at the end of Year 6.
Example 3: Purchase Option
A lessee enters into a five-year lease of equipment with annual lease payments of $59,000, payable at
the end of each year.
This example assumes there are no initial direct costs.
At the end of Year 5, the lessee has an option to purchase the equipment at a deep discount of $5,000.
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The estimated residual value of the equipment at the end of Year 5 is $75,000. Consequently, the lessee
concludes that it is reasonably certain to exercise the purchase option to take advantage of the purchase
price discount.
The fair value of the equipment at the commencement date is $250,000, and its useful life is seven
years.
The rate that the lessor charges the lessee in this example is the rate implicit in the lease, which is 6.33
percent. That is the rate that causes the present value of lease payments, including the exercise price of
the purchase option, to equal the fair value of the equipment at the commencement date.
The lessee classifies the lease as a finance lease (Type A).
Conclusion:
The lessee measures the lease liability at the commencement date at $250,000 (the present value of 5
payments of $59,000 plus the present value of the purchase option payment of $5,000).
Present value is computed using the rate implicit in the lease of 6.33%. If that rate had not been available,
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate would have been used.
At the commencement date, the lessee recognizes lease assets and liabilities as follows.
Entry at commencement date:
Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
To record asset and liability at the lease commencement date

dr

cr

250,000
250,000

Because there is an option to purchase and the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is amortized over its useful life of seven years, and not the lease life of five
years.
Entry: End of Year 1:
Lease obligation (plug)
Interest expense (250,000 x 6.33%)
Cash
Amortization expense
Accumulated amortization- Right-of-use asset
To amortize asset on straight line basis over 7 years:
$250,000/ 7 yrs. = $35,714
At the end of Year 5, the leased asset and liability look like this:
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dr

cr

43,175
15,825
59,000
35,714
35,714

At commencement
Amortization 35,714 x 5
Reductions from annual payments (given)
Balance end of lease- Year 5

Right-of-use
asset

Lease
Liability

$250,000
(178,570)
_______
$ 71,430

$(250,000)
245,000
$ (5,000)

The balance in the right-of-use asset of $71,430 represents two years remaining on the useful life (seven
years life less five years amortized).
The lease liability has a balance of $5,000 representing the lease option.
Assuming that at the end of the lease, in Year 5, the company exercises its option and pays $5,000 to
the lessor.
Entry: End of Year 5:

dr

Lease liability
Cash
To record lessee exercising the option to purchase

5,000

Equipment
Right-of-use asset
Accumulated amortization- ROU asset
To record purchase of leased asset

71,430

cr
5,000

250,000
178,570

In Years 6 and 7, the equipment is depreciated over the remaining two years useful life of the asset.
Change the facts: Assume the lessee changes its mind and decides not to exercise the option to
purchase. The decision not to exercise is made in Year 5.
Conclusion: If the option is not exercised, the lease has expired and the following entry should be
made:
Entry: End of Five-Year Lease:
Loss on lease (income statement)
Right-of-use asset
Accumulated amortization- ROU asset
Lease liability
To record removal of asset at the end of the lease- option not
exercised
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dr

cr

66,430
250,000
178,570
5,000

Illustrations of Lessee Accounting for Variable Lease Payments
Example 4A: Variable Lease Payments Dependent on an Index and Variable Lease Payments
Linked to Performance
• On January 1, 20X1, a lessee enters into a 10-year lease of property with annual lease
payments of $100,000, payable at the beginning of each year.
• The contract specifies that lease payments for each year will increase on the basis of the
increase in the Consumer Price Index for the preceding 12 months. For example, the
second lease payment on January 1, 20X2 will be based on the CPI at December 31,
20X1.
• The Consumer Price Index at the January 1, 20X1 commencement date is 125.
• The are no initial direct costs.
• The lease is classified as an operating lease (Type B) at the commencement date.
• The imputed interest rate the lessor charges the lessee is not readily determinable. The
lessee‘s incremental borrowing rate is 8%, which reflects the rate at which the lessee
could borrow a similar amount in the same currency, for the same term, and with similar
collateral as in the lease.
Conclusion:
At the January 1, 20X1 commencement date, lessee measures the lease liability at $724,689 (the
present value of 10 payments of $100,000 discounted at the rate of 8 percent). On January 1, 20X1, the
lessee makes the initial lease payment of $100,000.
The lessee recognizes lease assets and liabilities as follows:
At commencement date- January 1, 20X1:
Right-of-use asset
Lease Liability
Lease liability
Cash
To record asset and liability at lease commencement date and
initial lease payment

dr

cr

724,689
724,689
100,000
100,000

Because it is an operating lease (Type B), the lessee determines the total cost of the lease to be
$1,000,000 (the lease payments for the lease term). The annual lease expense to be recognized is
$100,000 ($1,000,000 ÷ 10 years).
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Entry December 31, X1:
Interest expense ($624,689 x 8%)
(1)
Accrued interest
Amortization expense
(1)
Accumulated amortization- right-of-use asset
To amortize asset to bring total expense to $100,000 for
Type B lease

dr

cr

49,975
(2)

49,975

50,025
50,025

(1) Total expense is $100,000
(2) First year interest is accrued because the payment is not made until January 1, 20X2.
Additional facts:
Assume at the end of the first year of the lease, the Consumer Price Index is 128, an increase from 125
at the commencement of the lease.
The lessee calculates the payment for the second year (January 1, 20X2), adjusted to the Consumer
Price Index, to be $102,400 ($100,000 × 128 ÷ 125).
Conclusion:
Because the lease payments are variable payments that depend on an index, at the end of each year,
the lessee adjusts the lease liability to reflect the Consumer Price Index rate at the end of that year. In
this case, at the end of Year 1 (December 31, 20X1), the lease liability should reflect the present value of
the annual lease payments of $102,400.
The lessee does not reassess the discount rate because a change in variable lease payments that
depend on an index does not require the discount rate to be reassessed. Thus, the original discount rate
of 8% continues to be used.
The calculation of the additional liability to be recorded at the end of Year 1 (December 31, 20X1) is as
follows:
Original lease payment
Revised lease payment based on 12-31-X1 CPI
Increase in lease payments due to Year 1 CPI
Remaining payments
Total increase
Discount rate: 8%, 9 years (given)
Present value of increase in liability
Entry: December 31, 20X1 (end of Year 1):
Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
To increase liability and related asset to reflect higher lease
payments based on CPI in effect for Year 1
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$100,000
102,400
2,400
9
$21,600
.7496
$16,192
dr

cr

16,192
16,192

In each year of the lease, the lessee will adjust the lease liability for an amount that reflects the new CPI
for that particular year. Moreover, because the right-of-use asset and lease liability have increased by
$16,192 at December 31, 20X1, interest and amortization is adjusted going forward.
Example 4B—Variable Lease Payments Dependent on an Index and Variable Lease Payments
Linked to Performance
Assume the same facts as Example 4A except that the lessee also is required to make variable lease
payments for each year of the lease, which are determined as 2% of the lessee‘s sales generated from
the leased property.
Conclusion:
At the commencement date, the lessee measures the leased assets and liabilities recognized at the
same amounts as in Example 4A because the variable lease payments are linked to performance (that
is, those payments are variable lease payments that neither depend on an index or a rate nor are insubstance fixed payments).
Accordingly, the lessee does not include the variable lease payments determined as a percentage of
sales in lease payments in measuring the lease liability or right-of-use asset.
The same entries made in Exhibit 4A are made as follows:
At commencement date- January 1, 20X1:
Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
Lease liability
Cash
To record asset and liability at lease commencement date and
initial lease payment
Entry: December 31, 20X1 (end of Year 1):
Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
To increase liability and related asset to reflect higher lease
payments based on CPI in effect for Year 1

dr

cr

724,689
724,689
100,000
100,000

dr

cr

16,192
16,192

The lessee prepares financial statements on an annual basis.
The lessee determines the cost of the lease to be $1,000,000 (the lease payments for the lease term).
Because the lease is an operating (Type B) lease, the annual lease expense to be recognized is
$100,000 ($1,000,000 ÷ 10 years).
During the first year of the lease, the lessee generates sales of $1,200,000 from the leased property,
incurring an additional lease expense of $24,000 (2% × $1,200,000).
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Entry: End of Year 1:

dr

Lease obligation
Interest expense (624,689 x 8%)
Cash
To record lease payment

50,025
49,975

Amortization expense
Accumulated amortization- right-of-use asset
To amortize asset to bring total expense to $100,000 for Type
B lease

50,025

Additional lease expense
Accrued variable lease payments
To accrue additional variable lease payments based on sales

24,000

cr

100,000

50,025

24,000

Each year thereafter, the lessee would record the variable lease payments upon actual sales incurred.
Going forward, the lease obligation would not be adjusted to reflect the variable lease payments because
such payments are based on performance (sales) and not based on an index or rate.
Total lease expense for the operating (Type B) lease is:
Interest
Amortization
Subtotal
Variable payments not part of lease obligation
Total lease expense- operating (Type B) lease
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$49,975
50,025
100,000
24,000
$124,000

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY
LEFT BLANK.

142 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

TEST YOUR KNOWLEDGE #3
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of the
information presented in the chapter (assignment). They are included as an additional tool to enhance
your learning experience and do not need to be submitted in order to receive CPE credit.
We recommend that you answer each question and then compare your response to the suggested
solutions on the following page(s) before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter
(assignment).
1.

Company Y is a lessee and must classify a new lease under ASU 2016-02.
Which of the following is a criterion that must be met for the lease to be
classified as an operating (Type B) lease:
A. lease does not transfer ownership of the leased asset
B. the lease grants lessee the option to purchase the asset
C. the lease term is 75% or more of the remaining economic life
D. the present value of the lease payments is 90% or more of the fair value of the
leased asset

2.

Big Lou’s Insurance Company is a nonpublic lessee and has just signed a
new lease. In computing the lease obligation, which of the following discount
rates can Big Lou use in ASU 2016-02:
A. lessor’s borrowing rate
B. only the rate implicit in the lease
C. only the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
D. risk-free discount rate

3.

Little John’s Pizza is reviewing its new leases to comply with the ASU 2016-02
lease requirements. Which of the following should be categorized as initial
direct costs:
A. occupancy costs allocated for the time spent on the new lease
B. legal fees to negotiate the lease
C. commissions on the lease
D. research fees to scout out lease locations
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4.

Which of the following elements should be included in lease payments for
purposes of computing the lease obligation:
A. variable payments not dependent on an index
B. option to purchase if it is likely the lessee will exercise the option
C. payments for penalties to terminate the lease if the lease term does not reflect
the lessee exercising the option to terminate
D. in substance fixed payments

5.

Alicia is a CPA whose client is a restaurant. The restaurant lease calls for
five years of lease payments and there is a five-year option to extend the
lease. In implementing ASU 2016-02, Alicia is trying to assess the lease term
and payments in light of whether it is reasonably certain that the client will
exercise the five-year option to extend the lease. Which of the following is a
factor that is likely to persuade Alicia that it is reasonably certain the client
will exercise the option to extend:
A. the fact that the amount of the lease payments during the five-year lease period
will be at a market rate
B. the client spent more than $5 million of leasehold improvements that it cannot
take with it once it leaves
C. there are no costs of termination at the end of the five-year period
D. the lease location is not critical to the operation as there are ample other
locations nearby

6.

Under ASU 2016-02, lease payments do not include which one of the following:
A. variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate
B. amounts allocated to lease components
C. any guarantee by the lessor of the lessee’s debt
D. obligations to return or restore a leased asset to its original condition
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7.

Company X is a lessee who has recorded a lease as a finance (Type A) lease.
In measuring and recording the lease, X had an option to extend the lease for
which at the commencement date, it was not reasonably certain to exercise
the option. Thus, the calculation did not reflect the option period payments
of option period in the lease term. X exercises its option to extend the lease.
What should X do:
A. X should reassess the lease term and payments
B. X should not reassess the lease term, but should reassess the lease payments
C. X should not do anything
D. X should not reassess the lease payments, but should reassess the lease term

8.

Jen Anniston is a CPA for her client, Crazy Al’s Drinking Saloon. Jen is
distraught at having to deal with the new ASU 2016-02 lease standard. Jen
is evaluating her client’s short term lease to see if she can avoid having to
record a lease asset and liability under the new lease rules. Which of the
following is a factor to consider in qualifying under the short-term lease
exception:
A. Crazy Al’s lease term must be 12 months or less
B. the lease can have an option to purchase under any circumstances
C. if the lease does qualify as a short-term lease, the lease payments are debited
against a lease liability
D. if the short-term lease rules apply, the asset and liability is recorded under the
practical expedient provision

9.

Company M is a lessee and classifies its lease as an operating (Type B) lease
under new ASU 2016-02. How should M record and present lease expense
under its operating lease:
A. present as two separate expense components and record it on an accelerated
expense basis
B. present as a single lease cost with total expense recorded on a straight-line
basis
C. present as a single lease cost and record expense on an accelerated basis
D. present expense as two separate components and record it on a straight-line
basis
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10.

A lessee has several leases outstanding. Some leases are classified as
finance (Type A) leases while others are classified as operating (Type B)
leases. Which of the following is true in terms of how the lessee should
present the leases on its balance sheet:
A. finance (Type A) lease right-of-use assets can be presented together with
operating (Type B) right-of-use assets
B. finance (Type A) lease obligations can be presented together with operating
(Type B) lease obligations
C. right-of-use assets should be presented separately from other assets
D. lease liabilities can be presented together with other liabilities
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES #3
Below are the solutions and suggested responses for the questions on the previous page(s). If you
choose an incorrect answer, you should review the pages as indicated for each question to ensure
comprehension of the material.
1.

A. CORRECT. For a lease to be classified as an operating (Type B) lease, the lease must
fail all five of the criteria for classification as a finance lease. One of those criteria is
that the lease transfers ownership of the leased asset. Thus, an operating lease must
fail that criterion by having a condition that the lease does not transfer ownership of the
leased asset.
B. Incorrect. Granting lessee the option to purchase the asset is a criterion of a finance
lease. Not granting such an option is necessary for the lease to be an operating lease.
C. Incorrect. Having a lease term of 75% or more of the remaining economic life is a
criterion for a finance lease. Not meeting the 75% or more threshold is needed to
classify the lease as an operating lease.
D. Incorrect. A present value of the lease payments that is 90% or more of the fair value
of the leased asset is a criterion for a finance lease. To have an operating lease, the
threshold must be less than 90%.
(See pages 59 to 61 of the course material.)

2.

A. Incorrect. The lessor’s borrowing rate is not relevant to the lessee and is not used per
ASU 2016-02.
B. Incorrect. Although use of the implicit rate in the lease is an acceptable rate, it is not the
only rate. ASU 2016-02 states that a lessee should use the implicit rate in the lease, if
available. If not, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used. There is also use of a
risk-free rate of return for nonpublic entities.
C. Incorrect. If the implicit rate in the lease is not available, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used. However, because Big Lou is a nonpublic entity, it may elect
to use the risk-free rate of return. Thus, only using the incremental borrowing rate is
incorrect.
D. CORRECT. ASU 2016-02 permits a nonpublic entity to use the risk-free discount rate
(e.g., U.S. Treasury rate) in lieu of using the incremental borrowing rate or implicit rate.
Thus, Big Lou may elect to use the risk-free rate to compute the lease obligation.
(See page 74 of the course material.)
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3.

A. Incorrect. Occupancy costs allocated for the time spent on the new lease is not an
initial direct cost because those costs are not incurred regardless of whether the lease
is consummated.
B. Incorrect. Legal fees to negotiate the lease are not tied to whether the lease is
consummated and, therefore, do not qualify as being initial direct costs.
C. CORRECT. Commissions on the lease qualify as initial direct costs because they are
incurred only if the lease is consummated.
D. Incorrect. Research fees are not initial direct costs because these costs are incurred
regardless of whether the lease is consummated.
(See pages 76 to 77 of the course material.)

4.

A. Incorrect. Variable payments that are dependent on an index or rate are included in
lease payments.
B. Incorrect. A payment related to an option to purchase is included in lease payments if it
is reasonably certain it will be exercised. The likely threshold is not correct.
C. Incorrect. Payments for penalties to terminate the lease are included in lease payments
if the lease term does reflect the lessee exercising the option to terminate.
D. CORRECT. In substance fixed payments along with regular fixed payments are
included in lease payments per ASU 2016-02. The reason is because in-substance
fixed payments do not have variability and, therefore, act like fixed lease payments.
(See page 84 of the course material.)

5.

A. Incorrect. In making the assessment, the amount of the payments in the five-year
option period, relative to fair value, is considered. The fact that the amount of the lease
payments during the five-year lease period will be at a market rate means there is not
a real barrier to leaving and less likely that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
the option.
B. CORRECT. The significance of the leasehold improvements is a key factor to consider
in determining whether a lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option to extend.
In this case, the client spent more than $5 million of leasehold improvements that it
cannot take with it once it leaves. That fact is a positive one in concluding that the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option to extend the lease.
C. Incorrect. The fact that there are no costs of termination at the end of the five-year
period means there is no barrier to leave.
D. Incorrect. A factor to consider is the importance of the location to the restaurant
operations. In this case, the location is minimally important so that there is little need for
the lessee to exercise the option to extend.
(See pages 87 to 88 of the course material.)
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6.

A. Incorrect. Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate are included in lease
payments while those payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are excluded.
B. Incorrect. Amounts allocated to non-lease components are excluded while lease
components are included in lease payments.
C. Incorrect. Any guarantee by the lessee of the lessor’s debt is excluded, not the other
way around.
D. CORRECT. An obligation in the lease that requires the lessee to return or restore a
leased asset to its original condition is excluded from lease payments under ASU 201602.
(See pages 91 to 92 of the course material.)

7.

A. CORRECT. ASU 2016-02 requires that X should reassess the lease term and payments
if the lessee elects to exercise an option even though the lessee had previously
determined that it was not reasonably certain to do so.
B. Incorrect. Where there is a reassessment, the effect of exercising the option should
be reflected in the present value calculation including the lease term and the lease
payments that are included in the present value calculation.
C. Incorrect. X must do something. ASU 2016-02 requires a reassessment.
D. Incorrect. Both the lease payments and lease term should be reassessed.
(See page 99 of the course material.)

8.

A. CORRECT. To use the short-term lease election, Crazy Al’s lease term must be 12
months or less.
B. Incorrect. The short-term lease rule states that the lease cannot have an option to
purchase where it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the option. Thus,
the answer is incorrect in that there could be an option to purchase if it is not reasonably
certain that the lessee will exercise the option to purchase.
C. Incorrect. If the lease does qualify as a short-term lease, the lease payments are debited
to rent expense, not to a lease liability.
D. Incorrect. Under the short-term lease rules, no asset and liability are recorded.
(See page 100 of the course material.)
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9.

A. Incorrect. Recording and presenting expense as two separate components on an
accelerated expense basis is the method used for a finance (Type A) lease, and not an
operating (Type B) lease.
B. CORRECT. ASU 2016-02 requires an operating (Type B) lease to present one single
lease cost, by combining interest and amortization expense for an operating (Type B)
lease. Total lease expense is measured and recorded on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
C. Incorrect. Presenting expense as a single lease cost is correct, but it is recorded on a
straight-line basis, not an accelerated expense basis.
D. Incorrect. An operating lease requires that total expense is presented as a single
component (not two separate components) and recorded on a straight-line basis.
(See pages 104 to 105 of the course material.)

10.

A. Incorrect. ASU 2016-02 provides that finance (Type A) lease right-of-use assets should
be presented separately from operating (Type B) right-of-use assets.
B. Incorrect. The ASU states that finance (Type A) lease obligations should be presented
separately from operating (Type B) lease obligations.
C. CORRECT. An entity that has right-of-use assets must present them separately from
other assets.
D. Incorrect. Lease liabilities cannot be presented together with other liabilities.
(See page 115 of the course material.)
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Assignment 4 Objectives
After completing this chapter, you should be able to:
•
•
•
•

Identify types of leases for a lessor.
Recognize the rate that a lessor should use in performing the 90% test for a direct financing lease.
Recall how a lessor should initially account for initial direct costs for a lease in certain instances.
Identify how a lessor should account for lease payments received on the income statement for an
operating lease.
• Recall how a lessor should classify certain cash receipts on the statement of cash flows.

VIII. LESSOR RULES
A. LEASE CLASSIFICATION
1.

2.

From the lessor’s perspective, the ASU 2016-02 provides three potential types of leases:
•

Sales-type lease,

•

Direct financing lease, or

•

Operating lease.

Sales-type lease:
a)

ASU 2016-02 uses the same five criteria used by a lessee to classify a
finance (Type A) lease, in assessing whether a sales-type lease exists for a
lessor.

b)

A lessor’s lease is a sales-type lease if the lessee is expected to consume a
major part of the economic benefits (life) of the leased asset when the lease
meets any one of the following five criteria at the lease commencement date:
Criterion 1: The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the
lessee by the end of the lease term.
Criterion 2: The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying
asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.
Criterion 3: The lease term is for the major part of the remaining economic
life of the underlying asset.
1)

75% or more of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset is a
major part of the remaining economic life of that underlying asset.
Exception: If the commencement date falls within the last 25% of the
total economic life of the underlying leased asset, the 75% criterion
shall not be used for purposes of classifying the lease.
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Note
If a single lease component contains the right to use more than one underlying asset, an
entity shall consider the remaining economic life of the predominant asset in the lease
component in computing the 75% test.

Criterion 4: The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any
residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the
lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the
underlying asset.
1)

90% or more of the fair value of the underlying asset amounts to
substantially all the fair value of the underlying asset.
•

A lessor shall compute the present value using the rate implicit
in the lease.

•

A lessor shall assume that no initial direct costs will be
deferred if, at the commencement date, the fair value of the
underlying asset is different from its carrying amount.

Criterion 5: The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is
expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term.
3.

Direct financing lease:
a)

b)

When none of the five criteria to classify a lease as a sales-type lease are
met, a lessor shall classify the lease as either a (an):
•

Direct financing lease, or

•

Operating lease.

If the lease is not a sales-type lease, it is classified as a direct financing lease
if two criteria are met:
1)

The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual
value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease
payments and/or any other third party unrelated to the lessor equals or
exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset.

a.

90% or more of the fair value of the underlying asset amounts to
substantially all the fair value of the underlying asset.
•

2)

A lessor shall compute the present value using the rate implicit
in the lease.

It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments plus any
amount necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee.
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Note
Unlike a lessee, a lessor is required to use the rate implicit in the lease to perform its
90% test. A lessee may use the implicit rate, if known, or its incremental borrowing
rate.

c)

In general, a direct financing lease is the same as a sales-type lease except
for two differences that are summarized as follows:
1)

A direct financing lease defers any selling profit and includes it in the
measurement of the net investment in the lease. A sales-type lease
recognizes selling profit into income at the commencement of the lease.

2)

A direct financing lease defers initial direct costs and records them as part
of the net investment in the lease while a sales-type lease expenses such
costs in most cases.

Observation
There is a 90% present value test (Criterion 4) that is used to determine if a lease is
a sales-type lease. If not a sales-type lease, it is either a direct financing lease or an
operating lease. A lease is a direct financing lease if two conditions are met:
• The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual
value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease
payments and/or any other third party unrelated to the lessor equals
or exceeds substantially all (90% or more) of the fair value of the
underlying asset, and
• It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments plus any
amount necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee.
Are the two 90% present value computations the same?
No. The 90% present value test used to determine if a lease is a direct financing lease computes present
value using the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by:
a.

The lessee that is not already reflected in the lease payments, and/or

b.

Any other third party unrelated to the lessor.

The 90% present value computation used to determine if there is a direct financing lease has part (b),
which is to include the present value of any residual value guaranteed by “any third party unrelated to
the lessor.”
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The 90% test for a sales-type lease does not include any residual value guaranteed by a third party
unrelated to the lessor.
4.

Operating lease:
a)

From a lessor’s perspective, if the lease does not qualify as a sales-type
lease (Type A) and does qualify as a direct financing lease, it defaults to an
operating lease.

b)

Under the operating lease rules, a lessor:
1)

5.

Applies an approach similar to existing operating lease accounting in
which the lessor does the following:
•

Retains the leased asset on the lessor’s balance sheet, and

•

Recognizes lease (rental) income over the lease term typically
on a straight-line basis.

Comparison of lease types- lessee versus lessor

Following is a chart that compares the types of leases between a lessee and a lessor.

Comparison of Lease Types: Lessee Versus Lessor
New ASU 2016-02
Requirement
Lease consumes a major part of the
economic benefits of the leased asset.

Lessee Side
Finance (Type A) lease

Lessor Side
Sales-type lease

Any one of the following five criteria is met:
1. Transfer of ownership
2. Option to purchase that is reasonably
expected to be exercised
3. Lease term is 75% or more of
remaining asset life
4. Present value is 90% or more of the fair
value of asset
5. Asset is specialized nature with no
alternative use
None of the five criteria are met
Operating (Type B) lease (1) Either:
a. Direct finance lease, or
b. Operating lease (1)
(1) Operating (Type B) lease from the lessee’s side is not the same as an operating lease from the
lessor’s side. An operating (Type B) lease from the lessee’s side is capitalized. An operating lease
from the lessor’s side is not capitalized and, instead, the lessor records rental income on a straightline basis over the lease term.
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Observation
The common thread that links lease types between lessees and lessors is whether the
lease is expected to consume a major part of the economic benefits of the leased asset.
Satisfying the “major part” threshold is measured based on satisfying one of five criteria:
• Transfer of ownership
• Option to purchase that lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
• Lease term is 75% or more of remaining asset life
• Present value is 90% or more of the fair value of asset
• Asset is specialized nature with no alternative use
The same five criteria are used for the lessee and lessor.
From the lessee’s side, if any one of the five criteria is met, the lease is a finance (Type
A) lease, while from the lessor’s side the lease is classified as a sales-type lease.
Thus, a lease that is expected to consume a major part of the economic benefits of the
leased asset is classified as a finance lease by the lessee and as a sales-type lease by the
lessor.
What happens if the five criteria are not met?
In such a case, the lessee classifies it as an operating (Type B) lease. From the lessor’s side, the lease
is classified as either a direct finance or operating lease.
Confusion over use of the term “operating lease”
As previous discussed in this course, the author suggests that the FASB made a glaring error in how
it named the different types of leases found in ASU 2016-02. In particular, it uses the term “operating
leases” to mean different types of leases, some capitalized and some not. The result is the reader is
confused.
Let’s look at how the term operating lease is used in multiple places within ASU 2016-02:
Existing GAAP:
Operating lease: lease is not capitalized by lessor or lessee. Rents are recorded on
straight-line basis.
New ASU 2016-02:
Operating lease (Type A) lease- lessee: Lease is capitalized with a right-of-use asset
and lease obligation.
155 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

Operating lease- lessor: Lease is not capitalized. Lease asset is retained and rental
income is recorded on a straight-line basis.
What this means is that a reader of ASU 2016-02 might be confused with use of the term “operating
lease” and its definition depending on whether it is an operating lease from the lessee’s perspective or
from the lessor’s perspective. A lessee capitalizes an operating lease (Type B lease) while a lessor does
not record an operating lease.
How are most equipment (non-real estate) leases classified by the lessee and lessor?
In general, most equipment leases consume a major part of the leased asset. Typically, the lease term is
75% or more of the remaining life of the leased asset or the present value of the lease payments is 90%
or more of the fair value of the leased asset. Further, there may be an option to purchase. The result is
that most equipment leases will satisfy one of the five criteria and will be classified as a finance (Type A)
lease by the lessee and a sales-type lease by the lessor.
How should a lessor classify a real estate lease?
If a real estate lease does not have an option to purchase and does not transfer ownership at the end of
the year, it is likely to be classified as an operating lease. As an operating lease, the lessor retains the
leased asset on its books and simply records rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Operating lease treatment is warranted because the real estate lease will not likely consume a major
part of the leased asset. The lease term would likely not be 75% or more of the remaining life of the
asset, nor would the present value of the lease payments be 90% or more of the fair value of the leased
asset.
If the five criteria for “major part” treatment are not satisfied, the lease does not qualify as a sales-type
lease, and is either a direct financing lease or an operating lease. If the lease is not a sales-type lease, it
is not likely to be classified as a direct financing lease as there is a 90% or more present value test that
must be met to be classified as a direct financing lease. Thus, in most cases, if the lease does not qualify
as a sales-type lease (by not satisfying any of the five criteria), the lease will be treated as an operating
lease by the lessor.
From the lessor’s perspective, classifying the lease as an operating lease is the best and easiest
scenario for the following reasons:
a.

The existing fixed asset is retained on the lessor’s balance sheet and continues to be
depreciated over its useful life, and

b.

Rental payments received from the lessee are recorded in rental income (not lease
income) on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

What if there is an option to purchase?
A lessor granting an option for the lessee to purchase the leased asset can dramatically change the
classification of the lease by the lessor to be a sales-type lease.
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If a sales-type lease, the lessor has work to do:
a.

The fixed asset must be removed from the balance sheet and a sales profit or loss must
be recorded.

b.

A net investment asset must be recorded by the lessor and lease payments received
must be allocated between principal and interest income on a direct reduction (effective
interest) basis.

c.

There are numerous new disclosures.

If possible, it would behoove a lessor to find a way to classify a lease as an operating lease (not recorded)
instead of a sales-type lease under ASU 2016-02.
Going back, if a lessor satisfies any one of five criteria, the lease is classified as a sales-type lease as
follows:
1.

Transfer of ownership

2.

Option to purchase that lessee is reasonably certain to exercise

3.

Lease term is 75% or more of remaining asset life

4.

Present value is 90% or more of the fair value of asset

5.

Asset is specialized nature with no alternative use

Looking at the five criteria, with a real estate lease, the lease is not likely to satisfy any of the criteria
except for Criterion 2, there is an option to purchase the real estate.
ASU 2016-02 states that if there is an option for the lessee to purchase the real estate and it is reasonably
certain that the lessee will exercise the option at the commencement date, Criterion 2 is met and the
lease is a sales-type lease regardless of whether any of the other four criteria is satisfied.
Not only must there be an option to purchase, but it must be “reasonably certain” that the lessee will
exercise that option. The longer the lease term, the less likely the lease reaches the reasonably certain
threshold at the commencement date.
If there is an option to purchase and it is not reasonably certain (at the commencement date) that the
lessee will exercise the option, Criterion 2 is not satisfied. Assuming no other criteria are met, the lease
is not a sales-type lease and is most likely an operating lease.
Can a lessee and lessor classify the same lease differently?
As previously addressed, if any one of the five criteria is met, the lessee classifies the lease as a finance
(Type A) lease while a lessor classifies the lease as a sales-type lease.
However, it is possible that a lessee evaluates a lease differently than a lessor or vice versa.
For example, a lessee might evaluate a lease and conclude that none of the five criteria is met, thereby
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classifying the lease as an operating (Type A) lease. Conversely, the lessor of the same lease might
conclude that one of the five criteria has been met and classifies the lease as a sales-type lease.
Understand that there is likely not to be any communication between the lessee and lessor once the
contract is executed. That is, there is no need or motivation for a lessee and lessor to “compare notes”
and perform a joint evaluation of a lease. A lessee does not care how a lessor classifies a lease, and
similarly, a lessor does not care how a lessee classifies its lease. Thus, each party performs its own
separate analysis and classification without input from the other party.
Example:
Lessee and Lessor enter into a lease. Each does its own evaluation of the five criteria in ASU 2016-02 to
classify the same lease.

Lease Assessment
Criteria for Lease Classification

Lessee

Lessor

1. Transfer of ownership?
No
No
2. Option to purchase that lessee is reasonably
Yes
No
certain to exercise?
3. Lease term is 75% or more of remaining
Yes
No
asset life?
4. Present value is 90% or more of the fair
Yes
No
value of asset?
5. Asset is specialized nature with no
No
No
alternative use?
Conclusion:
Three of five criteria met- None of five criteria metFinance
Operating lease
(Type A)
lease
Conclusion: In the above example, the lessee and lessor perform their own independent analysis of
the five criteria, yet they each reach a different conclusion. For example, the lessee concludes that three
of the five criteria are met, while the lessor concludes that none of the five are met. The differences in
conclusions can be based on each side having imperfect information. For example, the lessee has better
information as to whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to purchase the leased asset.
Similarly, the lessor might have more accurate information about the fair value of the asset, allowing it to
perform a more accurate present value computation.
Thus, each party classifies the lease separate and distinct from the classification done by the other party.

B. ACCOUNTING FOR SALES-TYPE LEASE- LESSOR
Initial measurement of sales-type lease- lessor
1.

At the commencement date, the lessor shall measure and recognize the following:
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a)

Derecognize (remove) the underlying leased asset

b)

Recognize the following elements:
1)

2.

•

A lease receivable and

•

An unguaranteed residual asset

2)

Selling profit or loss arising from the lease

3)

Initial direct costs as an expense, if, at the commencement date, the fair
value of the leased asset differs from the carrying amount.

Net investment in the lease:
a)

3.

A net investment in the lease consisting of:

At the commencement date, the lessor shall measure and recognize an
asset referred to as “net investment in the lease” consisting of two elements:
1)

Lease receivable, measured at the present value at the rate implicit in the
lease of:

a.

The lease payments not yet received by the lessor,10 and

b.

The residual value guaranteed by the lessee or third party, at the end
of the lease.

2)

An unguaranteed residual asset:

a.

Calculated at the present value (using the implicit rate in the lease) of
the amount the lessor expects to derive from the leased asset at the
end of the lease, that is not guaranteed by the lessee or an unrelated
third party.

Selling profit or loss- lessor
a)

At the commencement date, selling profit or loss equals the following:
Lower of:
•
•

4.

The fair value of the underlying asset, or
The sum of (1) the lease receivable and (2)
any lease payments prepaid by the lessee

$XX

Carrying amount of underlying asset net of unguaranteed residual
asset
Any deferred initial direct costs of the lessor

(XX)
(XX)

Selling profit or loss

$XX

Initial direct costs- lessor

__________________________________________________________________________________

10. “Lease payments” is the same term used by lessees which includes fixed payments, plus variable payments tied to an index
or rate, the price of a purchase option where it is reasonably certain the lessee will exercise the option, and other payments.
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a)

Initial direct costs are the lessor’s costs incurred and are recorded as an
expense if, at the commencement date, the fair value of the leased asset
differs from the carrying amount.

b)

If the fair value of the leased asset equals its carrying amount, the initial
direct costs are deferred at the commencement date and included in the
measurement of the net investment in the lease.

c)

Initial direct costs are defined as:
“Incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if the
lease had not been obtained (executed)”

d)

e)

Examples of initial direct costs include:
•

Commissions, and

•

Payments made to an existing tenant to incentivize that tenant to
terminate its lease.

Initial direct costs of the lessor exclude:
•

General overheads, including, for example, depreciation, occupancy
and equipment costs, unsuccessful origination efforts, and idle time.

•

Costs related to activities performed by the lessor for advertising,
soliciting potential lessees, servicing existing leases, or other ancillary
activities.

•

Costs related to activities that occur before the lease is obtained, such
as costs of obtaining tax or legal advice, negotiating lease terms and
conditions, or evaluating a prospective lessee’s financial condition.

Example: Lessor Initial Direct Costs
Lessor enters into an operating lease with Lessee. The following costs are incurred by Lessor in
connection with the lease:
External legal costs
Allocation of employee costs for time negotiating lease terms and conditions
Commissions to broker
Total costs- lessee

$15,000
7,000
10,000
$32,000

Conclusion:
Lessor’s initial direct costs are $10,000, consisting of the commission paid to the broker representing the
lease. The $10,000 in broker commissions is an initial direct cost because that cost was incurred only as
a direct result of obtaining the lease (that is, only as a direct result of the lease being executed).
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None of the other costs incurred by Lessor meet the definition of initial direct costs because they would
have been incurred even if the lease had not been executed. For example, the employee salaries are
paid regardless of whether the lease is obtained, and Lessor would be required to pay its attorneys for
negotiating and drafting the lease even if Lessee did not execute the lease.
Subsequent measurement- sales-type lease
1.

After the commencement date, a lessor shall measure the net investment in the lease by
doing the following:
a)

Reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments collected during
the period.

b)

Recognizing interest income on the net investment in the lease, measured
as follows:
•

Increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest income on the
net investment in the lease, computed using the effective interest
method.

Note
A lessor shall determine the interest income on the net investment in the lease in each
period during the lease term as the amount that produces a constant a periodic discount
rate on the remaining balance of the net investment in the lease (e.g., using the effective
interest method).
c)

Reducing the net investment in the lease for any impairment of the investment
asset, if any.

2.

Lessor shall record variable lease payments that are not included in the net investment in
the lease as income in the income statement in the period when the changes in facts and
circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

3.

After the commencement date, a lessor shall not remeasure the net investment in the
lease unless the lease is modified and that modification is not accounted for as a separate
contract.

Other measurement issues- sales-type lease- lessor
1.

Impairment of the net investment in the lease
a)

A lessor shall determine impairment related to the net investment in the
lease and shall recognize any impairment in accordance with ASC 310,
Receivables.

b)

When determining the loss allowance for a net investment in the lease, a
lessor shall take into consideration the collateral relating to the net investment
in the lease.
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Note
The collateral relating to the net investment in the lease represents the cash flows that
the lessor would expect to derive from the underlying asset during the remaining lease
term (for example, from sale of the asset or release of the asset for the remainder of the
lease term), which excludes the cash flows that the lessor would expect to derive from
the underlying asset following the end of the lease term (for example, cash flows from
leasing the asset after the end of the lease term).
2.

3.

Sale of the lease receivable
a)

If a lessor sells the lease receivable associated with a sales-type lease and
retains an interest in the unguaranteed residual asset, the lessor shall not
continue to accrete the unguaranteed residual asset to its estimated value
over the remaining lease term.

b)

The lessor shall report any remaining unguaranteed residual asset thereafter
at its carrying amount at the date of the sale of the lease receivable and
apply ASC 360 on property, plant, and equipment to determine whether the
unguaranteed residual asset is impaired.

Accounting for the underlying asset at the end of the lease term
a)

4.

At the end of the lease term, a lessor shall reclassify the net investment in
the lease to the appropriate category of asset (for example, property, plant,
and equipment) in accordance with other GAAP, measured at the carrying
amount of the net investment in the lease. The lessor shall account for the
underlying asset that was the subject of a lease in accordance with other
GAAP.

Sales-type lease terminated
a)

If a sales-type lease is terminated before the end of the lease term, a lessor
shall do all of the following:
1)

Test the net investment in the lease for impairment in accordance with
ASC 310, Receivables, and recognize any impairment loss identified.

2)

Reclassify the net investment in the lease to the appropriate category of
asset in accordance with other GAAP, measured at the sum of the carrying
amounts of the lease receivable (less any amounts still expected to be
received by the lessor) and the residual asset.

3)

Account for the underlying asset that was the subject of the lease in
accordance with other GAAP.
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Derecognition – sales-type lease- lessor
1.

At the commencement date, a lessor shall derecognize (remove) the carrying amount of
the underlying asset (if previously recognized) unless the lease is a sales-type lease and
collectibility of the lease payments is not probable.

2.

Subleases
a)

If the original lease agreement is replaced by a new agreement with a new
lessee, the lessor shall account for the termination of the original lease and
shall classify and account for the new lease as a separate transaction.

Modifications- sales-type leases- lessor
1.

A lessor shall not reassess the lease term or a lessee option to purchase the underlying
asset unless the lease is modified and that modification is not accounted for as a separate
contract.

2.

When a lessee exercises an option to extend or terminate the lease or purchase the
underlying asset, the lessor shall account for the exercise of that option in the same
manner as a lease modification.

3.

If a sales-type lease is modified and the modification is not accounted for as a separate
contract, the lessor shall account for the modified lease as follows:
a)

If the modified lease is classified as a sales-type or a direct financing lease,
the following rules apply:
•

b)

The lessor shall adjust the discount rate for the modified lease so that
the initial net investment in the modified lease equals the carrying
amount of the net investment in the original lease immediately before
the effective date of the modification.

If the modified lease is classified as an operating lease:
•

The carrying amount of the underlying asset should equal the net
investment in the original lease immediately before the effective date
of the modification.

Collectibility of lease payments- sales-type lease- lessor
1.

If collectibility of the lease payments, plus any amount necessary to satisfy a residual
value guarantee provided by the lessee, is not probable at the commencement date, the
lessor shall not derecognize (remove) the underlying asset but shall do the following:
a)

Recognize lease payments received (including variable lease payments) as
a deposit liability until the earlier of either of the following:
1)

Collectibility of the lease payments, plus any amount necessary to satisfy
a residual value guarantee provided by the lessee, becomes probable.
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If collectibility is not probable at the commencement date, a lessor shall
continue to assess collectibility to determine whether the lease payments
and any amount necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee are
probable of collection.

2.

3.

2)

Either of the following events occurs:

a.

The contract has been terminated, and the lease payments received
from the lessee are nonrefundable.

b.

The lessor has repossessed the underlying asset, it has no further
obligation under the contract to the lessee, and the lease payments
received from the lessee are nonrefundable.

When collectibility is not probable at the commencement date, at the date the collectibility
becomes probable based on paragraph (a)(1) above, the lessor shall do all of the
following:
a)

Derecognize the carrying amount of the underlying asset.

b)

Derecognize the carrying amount of any deposit liability recognized to date.

c)

Recognize a net investment in the lease based on the remaining lease
payments and remaining lease term, using the rate implicit in the lease
determined at the commencement date.

d)

Recognize selling profit or selling loss calculated as:
1)

The lease receivable; plus

2)

The carrying amount of the deposit liability; minus

3)

The carrying amount of the underlying asset, net of the unguaranteed
residual asset.

When collectibility is not probable at the commencement date, at the date the criterion
in (a)(2) above are met, the lessor shall derecognize the carrying amount of any deposit
liability recognized to date with the corresponding amount recognized as lease income.

Financial statement presentation sales-type leases
1.

2.

Statement of Financial Position
a)

A lessor shall present lease assets (that is, the aggregate of the lessor’s net
investment in sales-type leases and direct financing leases) separately from
other assets in the statement of financial position.

b)

Lease assets shall be subject to the same considerations as other assets in
classification as current or noncurrent assets in a classified balance sheet.

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Statement of Income)
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a)

A lessor shall either present in the statement of comprehensive income
(statement of income) or disclose in the notes lease income arising from
leases.

b)

If a lessor does not separately present lease income in the statement of
comprehensive income, the lessor shall disclose which line items include
lease income in the statement of comprehensive income.

c)

A lessor shall present any profit or loss on the lease recognized at the
commencement date in a manner that best reflects the lessor’s business
model(s).
Examples of presentation include the following:
1)

If a lessor uses leases as an alternative means of realizing value from the
goods that it would otherwise sell, the lessor shall present revenue and
cost of goods sold relating to its leasing activities in separate line items
so that income and expenses from sold and leased items are presented
consistently. Revenue recognized is the lesser of:
•

The fair value of the underlying asset at the commencement
date, or

•

The sum of the lease receivable and any lease payments
prepaid by the lessee.

Cost of goods sold is the carrying amount of the underlying asset at
the commencement date minus the unguaranteed residual asset.
2)
3.

If a lessor uses leases for the purposes of providing finance, the lessor
shall present the profit or loss in a single line item.

Statement of Cash Flows
a)

In the statement of cash flows, a lessor shall classify cash receipts from
leases within operating activities.

C. ACCOUNTING FOR A DIRECT FINANCING LEASE
Categorizing a lease as a direct financing lease
1.

2.

When none of the criteria to classify a lease as a sales-type lease are met, a lessor shall
classify the lease as either a (an):
•

Direct financing lease, or

•

Operating lease.

If the lease is not a sales-type lease, it is classified as a direct financing lease if both of
the following two criteria are met:
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a)

The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value
guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease payments
and/or any other third party unrelated to the lessor equals or exceeds
substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset.
1)

b)

90% or more of the fair value of the underlying asset amounts to
substantially all the fair value of the underlying asset. A lessor shall
compute the present value using the rate implicit in the lease.

It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments plus any amount
necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee.

Initial measurement of direct financing lease- lessor
1.

At the commencement date, the lessor shall measure and recognize the following:
a)

Derecognize (remove) the underlying leased asset.

b)

Recognize the following elements:
1)

2)

A net investment in the lease consisting of the following, reduced by any
selling profit.
•

A lease receivable, and

•

An unguaranteed residual asset.

Selling loss arising from the lease, if any.

2.

Selling profit and initial direct costs are deferred at the commencement date and included
in the measurement of the net investment in the lease. The rate implicit in the lease is
defined in such a way that initial direct costs deferred in accordance with this paragraph
are included automatically in the net investment in the lease; there is no need to add
them separately.

3.

Net investment in the lease:
a)

At the commencement date, the lessor shall measure and recognize an
asset referred to as “net investment in the lease” consisting of two elements,
reduced by any selling profit, if any.
1)

Lease receivable, measured at the present value at the rate implicit in the
lease of:

a.

The lease payments not yet received by the lessor,11 and

b.

The residual value guaranteed by the lessee or third party, at the end
of the lease.

__________________________________________________________________________________
11. Lease payments is the same term used for lessees which included fixed payments, plus variable payments tied to an index
or rate, the price of a purchase option where it is reasonably certain the lessee will exercise the option, and other payments.
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2)

An unguaranteed residual asset:

a.

Calculated at the present value (using the implicit rate in the lease) of
the amount the lessor expects to derive from the leased asset at the
end of the lease, that is not guaranteed by the lessee or an unrelated
third party.

Subsequent measurement- direct financing lease
1.

After the commencement date, a lessor shall do the following:
a)

Measure the net investment in the lease by doing both of the following:
1)

Reduce the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments collected during
the period.

2)

Recognize interest income on the net investment in the lease, measured
as follows:
•

Increase the carrying amount to reflect the interest income on
the net investment in the lease.

Note
A lessor shall determine the interest income on the net investment in the lease in each
period during the lease term as the amount that produces a constant periodic discount
rate on the remaining balance of the net investment in the lease.

b)

2.

Record additional items as follows:
1)

Variable lease payments that are not included in the net investment in the
lease as income in profit or loss in the period when the changes in facts
and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

2)

Impairment of the net investment in the lease.

After the commencement date, a lessor shall not remeasure the net investment in the
lease unless the lease is modified and that modification is not accounted for as a separate
contract.

What are the real differences between sales-type and direct financing lease accounting?
The differences between the two types of leases are not significant and are summarized as follows:
a.

A direct financing lease defers any selling profit and includes it in the measurement of the
net investment in the lease. A sales-type lease recognizes selling profit into income at the
commencement of the lease.
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b.

A direct financing lease defers initial direct costs and records them as part of the net
investment in the lease while a sales-type lease expenses such costs in most cases.

Modification- direct financing lease
1.

If a direct financing lease is modified and the modification is not accounted for as a
separate contract, the lessor shall account for the modified lease as follows:
a)

If the modified lease is classified as a direct financing lease, the lessor shall
adjust the discount rate for the modified lease so that the initial net investment
in the modified lease equals the carrying amount of the net investment in the
original lease immediately before the effective date of the modification.

b)

If the modified lease is classified as a sales-type lease, the lessor shall
account for the modified lease in accordance with the guidance applicable to
sales-type leases, with the commencement date of the modified lease being
the effective date of the modification.
•

c)

In calculating the selling profit or selling loss on the lease, the fair
value of the underlying asset is its fair value at the effective date of
the modification, and its carrying amount is the carrying amount of the
net investment in the original lease immediately before the effective
date of the modification.

If the modified lease is classified as an operating lease, the carrying amount
of the underlying asset equals the net investment in the original lease
immediately before the effective date of the modification.

Financial statement presentation - direct financing lease
The financial statement presentation for direct financing leases is the same as sales-type leases.
1.

2.

Statement of Financial Position
a)

A lessor shall present lease assets (that is, the aggregate of the lessor’s net
investment in sales-type leases and direct financing leases) separately from
other assets in the statement of financial position.

b)

Lease assets shall be subject to the same considerations as other assets in
classification as current or noncurrent assets in a classified balance sheet.

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Statement of Income)
a)

A lessor shall either present in the statement of comprehensive income or
disclose in the notes income arising from leases.

b)

If a lessor does not separately present lease income in the statement of
comprehensive income, the lessor shall disclose which line items include
lease income in the statement of comprehensive income.
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c)

A lessor shall present any profit or loss on the lease recognized at the
commencement date in a manner that best reflects the lessor’s business
model(s).
Examples of presentation include the following:
1)

If a lessor uses leases as an alternative means of realizing value from the
goods that it would otherwise sell, the lessor shall present revenue and
cost of goods sold relating to its leasing activities in separate line items
so that income and expenses from sold and leased items are presented
consistently. Revenue recognized is the lesser of:
•

The fair value of the underlying asset at the commencement
date, or

•

The sum of the lease receivable and any lease payments
prepaid by the lessee.

Cost of goods sold is the carrying amount of the underlying asset at
the commencement date minus the unguaranteed residual asset.
2)
3.

If a lessor uses leases for the purposes of providing finance, the lessor
shall present the profit or loss in a single line item.

Statement of Cash Flows
a)

In the statement of cash flows, a lessor shall classify cash receipts from
leases within operating activities.

D. ACCOUNTING FOR OPERATING LEASES- LESSOR
Categorizing a lease as an operating lease- lessor
1.

If a lease does not qualify as a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease, a lessor
categorizes it as an operating lease.
a)

For a lessor, the term “operating lease” is different than an operating lease
(Type B) lease related to a lessee, which is capitalized.

Initial measurement- operating lease- lessor
1.

At the commencement date:
a)

The leased asset is retained on the books and depreciated.

b)

The leased asset and liability is not recorded on the balance sheet.

c)

Lessor shall defer initial direct costs.

Subsequent measurement- operating lease- lessor
1.

After the commencement date, a lessor shall recognize all of the following:

169 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

2.

a)

The lease payments received as lease income on the income statement over
the lease term on a straight-line basis unless another systematic and rational
basis is more representative of the pattern in which benefit is expected to be
derived from the use of the underlying asset.

b)

Variable lease payments as income in profit or loss in the period in which the
changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments
are based occur.

c)

Initial direct costs as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income.

If collectibility of the lease payments plus any amount necessary to satisfy a residual
value guarantee is not probable at the commencement date, lease income shall be limited
to the lesser of:
a)

The income that would be recognized in (1)(a) and (b) above, or

b)

The lease payments, including variable lease payments, that have been
collected from the lessee.

Note
If the assessment of collectibility changes after the commencement date, any difference
between the lease income that would have been recognized and the lease payments,
including variable lease payments, that have been collected from the lessee shall be
recognized as a current-period adjustment to lease income.
Example: Operating Lease
Lessor executes a five-year lease with a lessee calling for annual lease payments as
follows:
Year
1
2
3
4
5

Annual lease
payments
$50,000
52,000
54,000
56,000
58,000
$270,000

The lessor categorizes the lease as an operating lease.
Conclusion:
The lessor should retain the leased asset on its books and depreciate it.
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As annual lease payments are received, the lessor should recognize those lease
payments in lease income on a straight-line basis in the amount of $54,000 annually as
follows:
Total lease payments- 5 years
Divided by
Straight line basis/year

$270,000
5
$54,000

Entry: Year 1:

dr

Cash
Lease income
Rent receivable
To record Year 1 lease income on a straight-line basis

cr

50,000
54,000
4,000

Note
Under ASU 2016-02, a lessor lease classified as an operating lease requires the lease
income to be recorded on a straight-line basis, unless another method is systematic and
rational. Under this example, the total income over the five-year lease term is $270,000
resulting in income computed on a straight-line basis of $54,000 per year. In Year 1,
lease income recorded on the income statement is $54,000 while the amount received
is only $50,000 under the lease contract. The difference is $4,000, which is recorded
as a rent receivable or similar asset.
Modification- operating lease- lessor
1.

If an operating lease is modified and the modification is not accounted for as a separate
contract, the lessor shall account for the modification as if it were a termination of the
existing lease and the creation of a new lease that commences on the effective date of
the modification as follows:
a)

If the modified lease is classified as an operating lease, the lessor shall
consider any prepaid or accrued lease rentals relating to the original lease as
a part of the lease payments for the modified lease.

b)

If the modified lease is classified as a direct financing lease or a sales-type
lease, the lessor shall derecognize any deferred rent liability or accrued rent
asset and adjust the selling profit or selling loss accordingly.

Financial statement presentation- operating leases
1.

Statement of Financial Position
a)

For an operating lease, a lessor shall continue to present the underlying
asset on its balance sheet.
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2.

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Income Statement)
a)

3.

Lease payments are recorded as lease income on the income statement on
a straight-line basis unless there is another systematic basis that is more
representative of the pattern in which income is earned from the underlying
asset.

Statement of Cash Flows
a)

In the statement of cash flows, a lessor shall classify cash receipts from lease
payments within operating activities.

Example 1: Lessor Accounting: Sales-Type Lease
Company X (Lessor) enters into a six-year lease of equipment with Lessee, receiving annual lease
payments of $9,500, payable at the end of each year.
Lessee provides a residual value guarantee of $13,000.
The lease does not transfer ownership of the underlying asset to Lessee or contain an option for Lessee
to purchase the underlying asset.
Lessor concludes that it is probable it will collect the lease payments and any amount necessary to
satisfy the residual value guarantee provided by Lessee.
At the commencement date, the equipment has:
- Fair value: $62,000
- Carrying amount: $54,000
- Amount lessor expects to derive from the equipment at the end of the six years:
$20,000
- Estimated remaining economic life: 9 years
Lessor incurs $2,000 in initial direct costs in connection with obtaining the lease, and no amounts are
prepaid by Lessee to Lessor.
The rate implicit in the lease is 5.4839%, which is the rate the equates the present value of the lease
payments and residual value to the $62,000 fair value at the commencement date.
Conclusion:
The Lessor tests to determine whether the lease qualifies as a sales-type lease using the 90% present
value test (Criterion 4) as follows:

172 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

Annual
Lease
Payment

Payment
Date
1
2
3
4
5
6

$9,500
9,500
9,500
9,500
9,500
9,500

Residual
Value
Guarantee

13,000

Total

Present Value
Factor
5.4839%

Present
Value

$9,500
9,500
9,500
9,500
9,500
22,500

.9480
.8987
.8520
.8077
.7657
.7259

$9,001
8,539
8,094
7,673
7,274
16,333
$56,920

Present value- lease payments
The present value test (Criterion 4) is as follows:
PV of lease payments and residual value guarantee
Fair value of asset
%

$56,920
62,000
92%

• Because the present value of the lease payments and residual value guarantee is 90% or
more of the fair value of the leased asset, at the commencement date, the lease qualifies
as a sales-type lease from the lessor’s side.
Since the lessor has satisfied one of the five criteria for sales-type lease status, there is
no need for the lessor to test any of the other four criteria.
At the commencement date, Lessor shall measure and recognize an asset referred to as “net investment
in the lease” consisting of two elements:
a.

b.

Lease receivable, measured at the present value at the rate implicit in the lease of:
1)

The lease payments not yet received by the lessor,12 and

2)

The residual value guaranteed by the lessee or third party, at the end of the
lease.

An unguaranteed residual asset.

Lessor measures the net investment in the lease at $62,000 at lease commencement, which is equal to
the fair value of the equipment.
The net investment in the lease consists of the lease receivable (which includes the 6 annual payments
of $9,500 and the residual value guarantee of $13,000, both discounted at the rate implicit in the lease
(5.4839%), which equals $56,920).
__________________________________________________________________________________
12. Lease payments is the same term used for lessees which included fixed payments, plus variable payments tied to an index
or rate, the price of a purchase option where it is reasonably certain the lessee will exercise the option, and other payments.
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In addition, to compute the net investment, the lessor must compute the present value of the unguaranteed
portion of the residual value:
Estimated residual value at end of lease
Residual value guaranteed by lessee

$20,000
13,000

Unguaranteed portion

7,000

PV factor, 5.4839% implicit rate for 6 years

.7259

Present value- unguaranteed portion of residual value

$5,080

At the commencement date, the net investment in the lease consists of two elements:
Lease receivable
Unguaranteed residual value

$56,920
5,080

Net investment in the lease

$62,000

Lessor calculates the selling profit on the lease as follows:
Lease receivable
Carrying amount of equipment ($54,000) net of unguaranteed
residual asset of $5,080
Selling profit

$56,920
(48,920)
$8,000

Initial direct costs
Because the fair value of the leased asset ($62,000) differs from the carrying amount of the asset
($54,000) at the commencement date, the rule states that initial direct costs are expensed and not
deferred. Thus, those costs are not reflected in the calculation of net investment asset. If the fair value
and carrying amount were the same, the initial direct costs would be deferred and reflected in the
computation of the net investment asset.
At the commencement date, Lessor does the following:
• Derecognizes (removes) the $54,000 carrying amount of the equipment
• Records the net investment in the lease of $62,000
• Records selling profit of $8,000, and
• Records the initial direct costs of $2,000 as an expense.
Entry at commencement date:
Net investment in lease
Carrying amount of equipment
Profit on lease
Initial direct costs on lease (expensed)
AP, cash
To record sales-type lease at commencement date
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dr

cr

62,000
54,000
8,000
2,000
2,000

Net investment activity
The following is an analysis of the annual net investment activity in Years 1-6.

Net Investment in Lease

Year

Beginning
of Year
(A)

Lease
Payment
Received

1
2
3
4
5
6

$62,000
55,900
49,466
42,679
35,519
27,967

$(9,500)
(9,500)
(9,500)
(9,500)
(9,500)
(9,500)

Interest on Net
Investment in
Lease
(A)
X 5.4839%
$3,400
3,066
2,713
2,340
1,948
1,535

End of
Year

Income
Statement
Interest
Income

$55,900
49,466
42,679
35,519
27,967
20,000

$(3,400)
(3,066)
(2,713)
(2,340)
(1,948)
(1,535)

At the end of Year 1, Lessor recognizes the receipt of a lease payment of $9,500 and interest on the net
investment in the lease (the beginning balance of the net investment in the lease of $62,000 × the rate
implicit in the lease of 5.4839% = $3,400), resulting in a balance in the net investment of the lease of
$55,900.
Entry: End of Year 1 December 31, 20X1:
Cash
Net investment in lease
Net investment in lease
Interest income
To record Year 1 lease payment received and record interest
income on the net investment in the lease

dr

cr

9,500
9,500
3,400
3,400

In Year 2, a similar entry is made to record the rent received and the interest income recorded.
Entry: End of Year 2 December 31, 20X2:
Cash
Net investment in lease
Net investment in lease
Interest income
To record Year 2 lease income received and record interest
income on the net investment in the lease

dr
9,500

9,500
3,066

Financial statements- end of Year 2:
At the end of Year 2, the Lessor records the following on its financial statements:
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cr

3,066

Company X (Lessor)
Balance Sheet
December 31, 20X2
Current assets:
Current portion of net investment in lease

9,500

Long-term assets:
Net investment in sales-type leases (net of current portion)

39,966

(1): $9,500 + $39,966 = $49,466 net investment balance at the end of Year 2.
Company X (Lessor)
Statement of Income
Year Ended December 31, 20X2
Other income:
Interest income on sales-type leases

3,066

Entries for Years 3-6 are not presented but follow the same approach as Years 1 and 2, based on the
above-noted table.
At the end of Year 6, the net investment asset has a balance of $20,000 which is the estimated residual
value of the lease. Lessor reclassifies the net investment balance of $20,000 to an equipment account.
Assume the lessor sells the equipment for $22,000 at the end of Year 6, the entry is as follows:
Entry: End of Year 6:
Equipment
Net investment in lease
Cash
Equipment
Gain on sale
To reclassify the estimated residual value of lease at the end
of Year 6 and record sale of the equipment for $22,000

dr

cr

20,000
20,000
22,000
20,000
2,000

E. DISCLOSURE- LESSOR LEASES
The objective of the disclosure requirements in ASU 2016-02 is to enable users of financial statements
to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. ASU 2016-02 requires a
lessor to disclose qualitative and quantitative information about all of the following:
a.

Its leases

b.

The significant judgments made in applying the requirements in ASU 2016-02 to those
leases, and
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c.

The amounts recognized in the financial statements relating to those leases.

A lessor shall consider the level of detail necessary to satisfy the disclosure objective and how much
emphasis to place on each of the various requirements.
A lessor shall aggregate or disaggregate disclosures so that useful information is not obscured by
including a large amount of insignificant detail or by aggregating items that have different characteristics.
1.

A lessor shall disclose both of the following:
a)

b)

Information about the nature of its leases, including:
1)

A general description of those leases.

2)

The basis and terms and conditions on which variable lease payments are
determined.

3)

The existence and terms and conditions of options to extend or terminate
the lease.

4)

The existence and terms and conditions of options for a lessee to purchase
the underlying asset.

Information about significant assumptions and judgments made in applying
the requirements of ASC 842, which may include the following:
1)

The determination of whether a contract contains a lease.

2)

The allocation of the consideration in a contract between lease and
nonlease components.

3)

The determination of the amount the lessor expects to derive from the
underlying asset following the end of the lease term.

2.

A lessor shall disclose any lease transactions between related parties.

3.

A lessor shall disclose lease income recognized in each annual and interim reporting
period, in a tabular format, to include the following:
a)

For sales-type leases and direct financing leases:
•

Profit or loss recognized at the commencement date (disclosed on a
gross basis or a net basis)

•

Interest income either in aggregate or separated by components of
the net investment in the lease.

b)

For operating leases, lease income relating to lease payments.

c)

Lease income relating to variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of the lease receivable.
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4.

5.

6.

A lessor shall disclose in the notes the components of its aggregate net investment in
sales-type and direct financing leases, such as:
•

The carrying amount of its lease receivables

•

Its unguaranteed residual assets, and

•

Any deferred selling profit on direct financing leases.

A lessor shall disclose information about how it manages its risk associated with the
residual value of its leased assets. A lessor should disclose all of the following:
a)

Its risk management strategy for residual assets

b)

The carrying amount of residual assets covered by residual value guarantees
(excluding guarantees considered to be lease payments for the lessor), and

c)

Any other means by which the lessor reduces its residual asset risk (for
example, buyback agreements or variable lease payments for use in excess
of specified limits).

Sales-type and direct financing leases- additional disclosures
a)

7.

For sales-type and direct financing leases, the lessor shall disclose the
following additional information:
•

An explanation of significant changes in the balance of its
unguaranteed residual assets and deferred selling profit on direct
financing leases.

•

A maturity analysis of its lease receivables, showing the undiscounted
cash flows to be received on an annual basis for a minimum of each
of the first five years and a total of the amounts for the remaining
years.

•

A reconciliation of the undiscounted cash flows to the lease
receivables recognized in the statement of financial position (or
disclosed separately in the notes).

Operating leases- additional disclosures
a)

For operating leases, the lessor shall disclose the following additional
information:
•

A maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted
cash flows to be received on an annual basis for a minimum of each
of the first five years and a total of the amounts for the remaining
years.
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Note
The maturity analysis should be shown separately from the maturity analysis required
for sales-type leases and direct financing leases.

•

Disclosures required by ASC 360 on property, plant, and equipment
separately for underlying assets under operating leases from owned
assets.
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TEST YOUR KNOWLEDGE #4
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of the
information presented in the chapter (assignment). They are included as an additional tool to enhance
your learning experience and do not need to be submitted in order to receive CPE credit.
We recommend that you answer each question and then compare your response to the suggested
solutions on the following page(s) before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter
(assignment).
1.

Which of the following is a criterion that is used to determine whether a
lessor’s lease is a sales-type lease:
A. there is no transfer of ownership
B. there is an option to purchase
C. the lease term is 80% or more of the remaining economic life of the leased
asset
D. the present value of the lease payments and residual value exceeds 60% of the
carrying amount of the leased asset

2.

A lessor has a sales-type lease and has recorded a net investment associated
with that lease. Which of the following is not an element of the net investment:
A. lease receivable
B. lease payments received by the lessor
C. residual value guaranteed by the lessee
D. unguaranteed residual asset

3.

Company Z is a lessor with a sales-type lease. At the commencement date,
it is not probable that Z will collect lease payments from the lessee. How
should Z account for the lease going forward:
A. record the lease payments received as interest and principal payments
B. record the lease payments received as a deposit liability
C. record the lease payments received as rental income
D. record the lease payments received against the net investment and defer the
interest income
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4.

Company X is a lessor and records a sales-type lease. Which of the following
is an element of the initial measurement of the lease:
A. retain the original asset on X’s balance sheet
B. defer any seller profit or loss
C. capitalize any initial direct costs in all cases
D. recognize an unguaranteed residual asset

5.

Which of the following is a difference between sales-type and direct financing
lease accounting:
A. a sales-type lease recognizes selling profit while a direct financing lease defers
that profit
B. a sales-type lease recognizes selling loss while a direct financing lease defers
that loss
C. a direct financing lease expenses initial direct costs while a sales-type lease
defers the initial direct costs
D. a direct financing lease does not record an asset while a sales-type lease does

6.

Company X is a lessor and has classified a new lease as an operating lease.
Which of the following is correct in terms of how X should account for the
operating lease:
A. X should record a lease asset and liability
B. X should retain the leased asset on its balance sheet
C. X should record interest income on the lease liability
D. X should amortize the leased asset

7.

Which of the following is a disclosure required by a lessor under ASU 201602 requirements:
A. a detailed description of the leases
B. for sales-type leases, a maturity analysis of lease receivables for a minimum of
each of the first ten years
C. for operating leases, a maturity analysis of lease payments for each of the first
seven years
D. for operating leases, lease income relating to lease payments
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES #4
Below are the solutions and suggested responses for the questions on the previous page(s). If you
choose an incorrect answer, you should review the pages as indicated for each question to ensure
comprehension of the material.
1.

A. Incorrect. Criterion 1 requires that there is a transfer (rather than not a transfer) of
ownership at the end of the lease.
B. CORRECT. Criterion 2 provides that the lease must grant the lessee an option to
purchase the leased asset and the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise it.
C. Incorrect. The criterion states the lease term is 75% or more (not 80%) of the remaining
economic life of the leased asset.
D. Incorrect. The present value of the lease payments and residual value must exceed
90% of the fair value of the leased asset, not 60% of the carrying amount.
(See pages 151 to 152 of the course material.)

2.

A. Incorrect. One of the two elements of the net investment is the lease receivable,
measured at the present value at the rate implicit in the lease.
B. CORRECT. Lease payments received by the lessor are not an element or sub-element
of the net investment.
C. Incorrect. Residual value guaranteed by the lessee is part of the lease receivable so
that it is a part of the net investment.
D. Incorrect. Unguaranteed residual asset is part of the net investment. The residual value
guaranteed by the lessee is part of the lease receivable. A separate element is the
unguaranteed residual asset.
(See page 159 of the course material.)

3.

A. Incorrect. Because the collection is not probable, ASU 2016-02 does not permit the
receipts to be recorded as income.
B. CORRECT. The ASU requires that the lease payments received be recorded as a
deposit liability until collectibility of the lease payments, plus any amount necessary to
satisfy a residual value guarantee provided by the lessee, becomes probable.
C. Incorrect. In a sales-type lease, rental income is not recorded. Further, because of the
collectibility issue, no income is recorded until collectibility becomes probable.
D. Incorrect. When collectibility is a problem, ASU 2016-02 requires the payments received
to be recorded in a deposit account and not credited against the net investment account.
(See page 163 of the course material.)
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4.

A. Incorrect. The accounting for a sales-type lease requires that the original leased asset
be derecognized (removed) from X’s balance sheet.
B. Incorrect. Any seller profit or loss from the lease is recognized on the lessor’s income
statement.
C. Incorrect. Any initial direct costs are expensed, not capitalized.
D. CORRECT. With respect to a sales-type lease, a net investment is recorded on X’s
balance sheet consisting of both a lease receivable and an unguaranteed residual asset.
(See pages 166 to 167 of the course material.)

5.

A. CORRECT. One of the key differences is that a sales-type lease recognizes selling
profit while a direct financing lease defers that profit and includes it in the measurement
of the net investment in the lease.
B. Incorrect. Both types of leases recognize a selling loss.
C. Incorrect. A sales-type lease, not a direct financing lease, may expense initial direct
costs. A direct financing lease defers the initial direct costs.
D. Incorrect. Both leases record a net investment in the lease.
(See pages 167 to 168 of the course material.)

6.

A. Incorrect. If a lease is categorized as an operating lease from the lessor’s perspective,
no asset or liability is recorded on the transaction and the original asset is retained.
B. CORRECT. A lessor’s operating lease retains the leased asset on its balance sheet.
C. Incorrect. Because no lease obligation is recorded, there is no interest income on the
lease.
D. Incorrect. There is no lease asset recorded, so there is no amortization.
(See page 169 of the course material.)

7.

A. Incorrect. The ASU requires a general, not detailed, description of the leases.
B. Incorrect. The ASU requires that the disclosure be for a minimum of the first five years,
and in total, and not ten years.
C. Incorrect. The maturity analysis of lease payments is required for each of the first five
years, not seven years.
D. CORRECT. ASU 2016-02 requires that a lessor disclose, for its operating leases, lease
income relating to lease payments.
(See pages 177 to 178 of the course material.)
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Assignment 5 Objective
After completing this chapter, you should be able to:
• Recognize how certain existing leases are accounted for on the implementation date of
ASU 2016-02.

IX. TRANSITION AND EFFECTIVE DATE INFORMATION
A. GENERAL- EXISTING LEASES
A key element of ASU 2016-02 is that it does not grandfather existing leases. That means that on the
effective date of the ASU, the following must be done:
1.

Existing leases that do not qualify for the 12-month short-term lease election:
a)

Existing operating leases must be capitalized under the new ASU by bringing
onto the balance sheet a right-of-use asset and lease obligation.

b)

Existing capital lease assets and liabilities must be adjusted to conform with
the calculated right-of-use assets and lease obligations.

2.

Any existing leases that qualify for the 12-month short-term election on the effective date
would not be capitalized under the new lease standard.

3.

Disclosures must be expanded to conform with the list of disclosures under ASU 2016-02.

B. TRANSITION
The following represents the transition and effective date information related to ASU 2016-02, Leases
(ASC 842).
1.

Effective dates
a)

A public business entity, a not-for-profit entity, and an employee benefit plan:
•

b)

Shall apply the amendments in ASU 2016-02 for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. Earlier application is permitted.

All other entities (including nonpublic entities):
•

Shall apply the amendments in ASU 2016-02 for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Earlier
application is permitted.
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2.

c)

In the financial statements in which an entity first applies the ASU 2016-02
amendments, the entity shall recognize and measure leases that exist at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, using the approach
described in (i) through (ae).

d)

An entity shall adjust equity at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, and the other comparative amounts disclosed for each
prior period presented in the financial statements, as if the amendments in
ASU 2016-02 had always been applied, subject to the requirements in (h)
through (ad).

e)

If a lessee elects not to apply the recognition and measurement requirements
to short-term leases, the lessee shall not apply the approach described in (k)
through (s) to short-term leases.

Practical expedients
f)

g)

An entity may elect the following practical expedients, which must be
elected as a package and applied consistently by an entity to all of its leases
(including those for which the entity is a lessee or a lessor), when applying
the ASU 2016-02 to leases that commenced before the effective date.
1)

Under the practical expedient, an entity is not required to reassess the
following:

a.

Whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases.

b.

Whether initial direct costs exist for any existing leases.

c.

The lease classification for any expired or existing leases.
•

All existing leases that were classified as operating leases
under previous GAAP will automatically be classified as
operating (Type B) leases, and

•

All existing leases that were classified as capital leases under
previous GAAP will automatically be classified as finance
(Type A) leases.

An entity also may elect a practical expedient, which must be applied
consistently by an entity to all of its leases (including those for which the
entity is a lessee or a lessor) to use hindsight in determining the lease term
when:
1)

Considering lessee options to extend, terminate the lease, or purchase the
underlying asset, and

2)

Assessing impairment of the entity’s right-of-use assets. This practical
expedient may be elected separately or in conjunction with the practical
expedients in (f).
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3.

Amounts previously recognized in respect of business combinations
h)

4.

5.

If an entity has previously recognized an asset or a liability in accordance
with ASC 805 on business combinations relating to favorable or unfavorable
terms of an operating lease acquired as part of a business combination, the
entity shall do all of the following:
1)

Derecognize that asset and liability (except for those arising from operating
leases for which the entity is a lessor).

2)

Adjust the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset by a corresponding
amount if the entity is a lessee.

3)

Make a corresponding adjustment to equity at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented if assets or liabilities arise from leases
classified as sales-type leases or direct financing leases for which the
entity is a lessor.

Transition disclosures- lessees and lessors
i)

A lessee or lessor shall provide the transition disclosures required by ASC
250 on accounting changes and error corrections.

j)

If a lessee or lessor uses one or both of the practical expedients in (f) and
(g), it shall disclose that fact.

Lessees transition- existing leases

Leases previously classified as operating leases under ASC 840
k)

A lessee should initially recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the later of the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements and the commencement date of the lease.

l)

A lessee shall measure the lease liability at the present value of the sum of
the following, using a discount rate for the lease established at the later of
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements and
the commencement date of the lease:
1)

The remaining minimum rental payments under existing GAAP’s ASC 840.

2)

Any amounts probable of being owed by the lessee under a residual value
guarantee.
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Note
Entities that are not public business entities can use a risk-free rate to apply the present
value computation.

m)

For each lease to be classified as an operating lease (Type B lease), a lessee
shall initially measure the right-of-use asset at the initial measurement of the
lease liability adjusted for both of the following:
1)

Prepaid or accrued lease payments, remaining balance of any lease
incentives, unamortized initial direct costs, and impairment of the right-ofuse asset.

2)

The carrying amount of any liability recognized in accordance with ASC
420, Exit and Disposal Cost Obligations, on exit or disposal cost obligations
for the lease.

n)

For each lease classified as an operating lease (Type B lease), a lessee
shall subsequently measure the right-of-use asset throughout the remaining
lease term.

o)

For each lease to be classified as a finance lease (Type A lease), a lessee
shall measure the right-of-use asset as the applicable proportion of the lease
liability at the commencement date, which can be imputed from the lease
liability determined in accordance with (l).

p)

•

The applicable proportion is the remaining lease term at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented relative to the total lease
term.

•

A lessee shall adjust the right-of-use asset recognized by the carrying
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments and the carrying
amount of any liability recognized in accordance with ASC 420, Exit
or Disposal Cost Obligations, for the lease.

Any unamortized initial direct costs at the later of the beginning of the earliest
period presented in the financial statements, or the commencement date of
the lease that do not meet the definition of initial direct costs, shall be written
off as an adjustment to equity at the later of the beginning of the earliest
period presented in the financial statements and the commencement date of
the lease.
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q)

If a modification to the contractual terms and conditions occurs on or after
the effective date, and the modification does not result in a separate contract,
or the lessee is required to remeasure the lease liability for any reason, the
lessee shall follow the requirements in ASU 2016-02 from the effective date
of the modification or the remeasurement date.

Leases previously classified as capital leases under ASC 840
r)

s)

For each lease classified as a finance lease (Type A lease), a lessee shall do
all of the following:
1)

Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the carrying
amount of the leased asset and the capital lease obligation at the later
of the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented or the
commencement date of the lease.

2)

Include any unamortized initial direct costs that meet the definition of initial
direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset established in (r)
(1).

3)

Write off, as an adjustment to equity, any unamortized initial direct costs at
the later of the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements or the commencement date of the lease that do not meet the
definition of initial direct costs and that are not included in the measurement
of the capital lease asset under ASC 840 (unless the lessee elects the
practical expedients described in (f)).

4)

Subsequently measure the right-of-use asset and the lease liability before
the effective date.

5)

Apply the subsequent measurement guidance in ASU 2016-02 after the
effective date. However, a lessee shall not remeasure the lease payments
for amounts probable of being owed under residual value guarantees.

6)

Classify the assets and liabilities held under capital leases as right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities arising from finance leases for the purposes of
presentation and disclosure.

For each lease classified as an operating lease (Type B lease), a lessee
shall do the following:
1)

Derecognize the carrying amount of any capital lease asset and capital
lease obligation at the later of the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented or the commencement date of the lease.
•

Any difference between the carrying amount of the capital
lease asset and the capital lease obligation shall be accounted
for in the same manner as prepaid or accrued rent.
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t)

2)

Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability if the lease commenced
before the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements.

3)

Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement
date of the lease if the lease commenced after the beginning of the earliest
period presented in the financial statements.

4)

Account for the operating lease (Type B lease) in accordance with ASU
2016-02’s guidance for lessees after initial recognition in accordance with
(r)(2) or (r)(3).

5)

Write off, as an adjustment to equity, any unamortized initial direct costs at
the later of the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements or the commencement date of the lease that do not meet the
definition of initial direct costs in ASU 2016-02.

If a modification to the contractual terms and conditions occurs on or
after the effective date, and the modification does not result in a separate
contract, or the lessee is required to remeasure the lease liability, the lessee
shall subsequently account for the lease in accordance with ASU 2016-02
beginning on the effective date of the modification or the remeasurement
date.

Build-to-suit lease arrangements- lessee
u)

A lessee shall apply a modified retrospective transition approach for leases
accounted for as build-to-suit arrangements under ASC 840 that are existing
at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented in the financial statements as follows:
1)

If an entity has recognized assets and liabilities solely because of a
transaction’s build-to-suit designation in accordance with ASC 840, the
entity should derecognize those assets and liabilities at the later of the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial
statements and the date that the lessee is determined to be the accounting
owner of the asset in accordance with ASC 840. Any difference should be
recorded as an adjustment to equity at that date. The lessee shall apply
the lessee transition requirements in (k) through (s) to the lease.

2)

If the construction period of the build-to-suit lease concluded before the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial
statements and the transaction qualified as a sale and leaseback transaction
in accordance with ASC 840-40 before the date of initial application, the
entity shall follow the general lessee transition requirements for the lease.

190 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

6.

Lessors transition- existing leases

Leases previously classified as operating leases under ASC 840
v)

w)

For each lease of a lessor classified as an operating lease under ASU 201602, a lessor shall do all of the following:
1)

Continue to recognize the carrying amount of the underlying asset and any
lease assets or liabilities at the later of the date of initial application and
the commencement date as the same amounts recognized by the lessor
immediately before that date.

2)

Account for previously recognized securitized receivables as secured
borrowings in accordance with other GAAP.

3)

Write off, as an adjustment to equity, any unamortized initial direct costs at
the later of the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements or the commencement date of the lease that do not meet the
definition of initial direct costs in this Topic (unless the lessor elects the
practical expedients described in (f)).

For each lease classified as a direct financing or a sales-type lease under
ASU 2016-02, the objective is to account for the lease, beginning on the
later of the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the
financial statements and the commencement date of the lease, as if it had
always been accounted for as a direct financing lease or a sales-type lease
in accordance with ASU 2016-02. Consequently, a lessor shall do all of the
following:
1)

Derecognize (remove) the carrying amount of the underlying asset at the
later of the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the
financial statements and the commencement date of the lease.

2)

Recognize a net investment in the lease at the later of the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements and the
commencement date of the lease as if the lease had been accounted for
as a direct financing lease or a sales-type lease in accordance with ASC
842-30 since lease commencement.

3)

Record any difference between the amounts in (w)(1) and (w)(2) as an
adjustment to equity.

4)

Account for the lease in accordance with this Topic after the later of the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial
statements and the commencement date of the lease.
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Leases previously classified as direct financing or sales-type leases under ASC 840
x)

For each lease classified as a direct financing lease or a sales-type lease in
accordance with this Topic, do all of the following:
1)

Continue to recognize a net investment in the lease at the later of the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial
statements and the commencement date of the lease, at the carrying
amount of the net investment at that date. This would include any
unamortized initial direct costs capitalized as part of the lessor’s net
investment in the lease in accordance with previous ASC 840.

2)

Before the effective date, a lessor shall account for the lease in accordance
with ASC 840.

3)

Beginning on the effective date, a lessor shall account for the lease in
accordance with the recognition, subsequent measurement, presentation,
and disclosure guidance in ASC 842-30.

4)

Beginning on the effective date, if a lessor modifies the lease (and the
modification is not accounted for as a separate contract), it shall account
for the modified lease if the modified lease is classified as a direct financing
lease after the modification or if the modified lease is classified as a salestype lease after the modification.
•

y)

A lessor shall not remeasure the net investment in the lease
on or after the effective date unless the lease is modified (and
the modification is not accounted for as a separate contract).

For each lease classified as an operating lease in accordance with ASU
2016-02, the objective is to account for the lease, beginning on the later of
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial
statements and the commencement date of the lease, as if it had always
been accounted for as an operating lease in accordance with ASU 2016-02.
Consequently, a lessor shall do all of the following:
1)

Recognize the underlying asset at what the carrying amount would have
been had the lease previously been classified as an operating lease.

2)

Derecognize the carrying amount of the net investment in the lease.

3)

Record any difference between the amounts in (y)(1) and (y)(2) as an
adjustment to equity.

4)

Subsequently account for the operating lease in accordance with ASC 842
and the underlying asset in accordance with other GAAP.
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Leases previously classified as leveraged leases under ASC 840
z)

For leases that were previously classified as leveraged leases under existing
GAAP, and for which the commencement date is before the effective date,
a lessor shall apply the requirements in ASC 842-50, related to leverage
leases. If a leveraged lease is modified on or after the effective date, it shall
be accounted for as a new lease as of the effective date of the modification.
1)

A lessor shall apply the pending content that links to this paragraph to a
leveraged lease that meets the criteria in (z) that is acquired in a business
combination or an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity on or after the
effective date.

Sale and leaseback transactions before the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented
aa) If a previous sale and leaseback transaction was accounted for as a sale and
a leaseback in accordance with ASC 840, an entity shall not reassess the
transaction to determine whether the transfer of the asset would have been
a sale.
ab) If a previous sale and leaseback transaction was accounted for as a failed
sale and leaseback transaction in accordance with ASC 840 and remains a
failed sale at the effective date, the entity shall reassess whether a sale would
have occurred at any point on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements. The sale and leaseback transaction
shall be accounted for on a modified retrospective basis from the date a sale
is determined to have occurred, in accordance with the requirements in (ac)
through (ad).
ac) An entity shall account for the leaseback in accordance with the lessee and
lessor transition requirements in (k) through (y).
ad) If a previous sale and leaseback transaction was accounted for as a sale and
capital leaseback in accordance with ASC 840, the transferor shall continue
to recognize any deferred gain or loss that exists at the later of the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements or
the date of the sale of the underlying asset as follows:
1)

If the underlying asset is land only, straight line over the remaining lease
term.

2)

If the underlying asset is not land only and the leaseback is a finance
lease, in proportion to the amortization of the right-of-use asset.

3)

If the underlying asset is not land only and the leaseback is an operating
lease, in proportion to the recognition in profit or loss of the total lease
cost.
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ae) If a previous sale and leaseback transaction was accounted for as a sale and
operating leaseback in accordance with ASC 840, the transferor shall do the
following:
1)

Recognize any deferred gain or loss not resulting from off-market terms
(that is, where the consideration for the sale of the asset is not at fair value
or the lease payments are not at market rates) as a cumulative-effect
adjustment at the later of the date of initial application (to equity) or the
date of sale (to earnings of the comparative period presented).

2)

Recognize any deferred loss resulting from the consideration for the sale
of the asset not being at fair value or the lease payments not being at
market rates as an adjustment to the leaseback right-of-use asset at the
date of initial application.

3)

Recognize any deferred gain resulting from the consideration for the sale
of the asset not being at fair value or the lease payments not being at
market rates as a financial liability at the date of initial application.

Example 1: Lessee Transition: Old Operating Lease to New Operating (Type B) Lease
• A lessee is a nonpublic entity and required to implement ASU 2016-02 effective January
1, 2020.
• Lessee will not be presenting comparative financial statements for 2020.
• A lessee entered into a five-year lease of a vehicle on January 1, 2019, with annual lease
payments payable at the end of each year.
• The lessee originally accounted for the lease as an operating lease under existing GAAP.
• At January 1, 2020, four lease payments remain:
1 payment of $31,000, and
3 payments of $33,000
• At the January 1, 2020 effective date, the lessee‘s incremental borrowing rate is 6 percent.
The lessee classifies the lease of the vehicle as an operating (Type B lease) because the
five criteria for classifying the lease as a finance (Type A) lease are not met.
• There are no initial direct costs.
• Lessee elects to use the practical expedients permitted by ASU 2016-02 under which
Lessee does not reassess whether:
▫▫

The existing contract contains a lease

▫▫

The existing lease classification (as an operating lease) would be different if
there were a reassessment, and
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▫▫

Any initial direct costs, if reassessed, would meet the definition of initial direct
costs under ASU 2016-02.

Conclusion:
On January 1, 2020, the lessee measures the lease liability at $112,462 as follows:

Year

Lease
Payment

1
2
3
4

$31,000
33,000
33,000
33,000

PV at 6%
Jan 1, 2020
$29,245
29,369
27,708
26,140
$112,462

The right-of-use asset is equal to the lease liability.
In summary, on January 1, 2020, the lessee recognizes the following to reflect the transition of the
existing operating lease to a new operating (Type B) lease under ASU 2016-02.
Entry January 1, 2020:
Right-of-use asset
Lease liability
To record lessee’s transition from operating lease to operating
(Type B) lease

dr

cr

112,462
112,462

Once recorded, the lessee should apply the subsequent measurement guidance in ASU 2016-02
including:
• Recording interest expense on the lease liability.
• Recording amortization expense under the operating lease (Type B lease) rules.
What if comparative financial statements are presented for 2019 and 2020?
In the above example, the beginning of the earliest year presented is the effective date of ASU 2016-02,
which is January 1, 2020. However, if 2019 year end is presented comparatively with 2020, there are
rules that must be followed.
The lease would be measured and recorded as of January 1, 2019, the beginning date of the earliest
year presented comparatively with the 2020 financial statements.
From the transition date (January 1, 2019) on, Lessee will continue to measure and recognize the lease
liability at the present value of the sum of the remaining minimum rental payments and the right-of-use
asset on its balance sheet.
Beginning with the effective date of January 1, 2020, Lessee applies the subsequent measurement
guidance in ASU 2016-02 including recording interest and amortization.
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X. LEASES: SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACTIONS
If an entity (the transferor) transfers an asset to another entity (the transferee) and leases that asset
back from the transferee, both the transferor and the transferee shall account for the transfer contract
and the lease as follows:
1.

Determining whether the transfer of the asset is a sale
a)

An entity shall apply the requirements in ASC 606 on revenue from contracts
with lessee (customer) when determining whether the transfer of an asset
shall be accounted for as a sale of the asset including:
•

The existence of a contract.

•

When an entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
control of an asset.

Note
The existence of a leaseback (that is, a seller-lessee’s right to use the underlying asset for
a period of time) does not, in isolation, prevent the buyer lessor from obtaining control
of the asset. However, the buyer-lessor is not considered to have obtained control of
the asset in accordance with the guidance on when an entity satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control of an asset in ASC 606 if the leaseback would be
classified as a finance lease or a sales-type lease.
2.

3.

An option for the seller-lessee to repurchase the asset would preclude accounting for the
transfer of the asset as a sale of the asset unless both of the following criteria are met:
a)

The exercise price of the option is the fair value of the asset at the time the
option is exercised.

b)

There are alternative assets, substantially the same as the transferred asset,
readily available in the marketplace.

Transfer of the asset is a sale
a)

If the transfer of the asset is a sale, both of the following apply:
1)

The seller-lessee shall:
•

Recognize the transaction price for the sale at the point in
time the buyer-lessor obtains control of the asset based on
guidance found in ASC 606.

•

Derecognize the carrying amount of the underlying asset.

•

Account for the lease in accordance with ASC Subtopic 84220.
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2)
4.

Transfer of the asset is not a sale
a)

5.

The buyer-lessor shall account for the purchase in accordance with other
GAAP and for the lease in accordance with ASC 842-30.

If the transfer of the asset is not a sale, both of the following apply:
•

The seller-lessee shall not derecognize the transferred asset and
shall account for any amounts received as a financial liability in
accordance with other GAAP.

•

The buyer-lessor shall not recognize the transferred asset and shall
account for the amounts paid as a receivable in accordance with
other GAAP.

Initial measurement
a)

b)

Transfer of the asset is a sale: An entity shall determine whether a sale and
leaseback transaction is at fair value based on the difference between either
of the following, whichever is more readily determinable:
•

The sale price of the asset and the fair value of the asset.

•

The present value of the lease payments and the present value of
market rental payments.

If the sale and leaseback transaction is not at fair value, the entity shall adjust
the sale price of the asset on the same basis the entity used to determine
that the transaction was not at fair value.
The entity shall account for both of the following:

c)

d)

•

Any increase to the sale price of the asset as a prepayment of rent.

•

Any reduction of the sale price of the asset as additional financing
provided by the buyer-lessor to the seller-lessee. The seller-lessee
and the buyer-lessor shall account for the additional financing in
accordance with other GAAP.

In determining whether the sale and leaseback transaction is at fair value,
the entity should consider those variable payments it reasonably expects to
be entitled to (or to make) based on all of the information (historical, current,
and forecast) that is reasonably available to the entity.
•

For a seller-lessee, this would include estimating any variable
consideration to which it expects to be entitled.

•

A sale and leaseback transaction is not off market solely because the
sale price or the lease payments include a variable component.

If the transaction is a related party lease, ASU 2016-02 states that an entity
shall not make certain adjustments required for sale-leaseback transactions
but shall provide disclosures about related party lease transactions.
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6.

Transfer of the asset is not a sale
a)

7.

In a sale-leaseback transaction, the seller lessee shall adjust the interest rate
on its financial liability as necessary to ensure that both of the following apply:
•

Interest on the financial liability is not greater than the principal
payments on the financial liability over the shorter of the lease term
and the term of the financing. The term of the financing may be shorter
than the lease term because the transfer of an asset that does not
qualify as a sale initially may qualify as a sale at a point in time before
the end of the lease term.

•

The carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carrying
amount of the financial liability at the earlier of the end of the lease
term or the date at which control of the asset will transfer to the buyerlessor (for example, the date at which a repurchase option expires if
that date is earlier than the end of the lease term).

Disclosure
a)

If a seller-lessee enters into a sale and leaseback transaction, a seller-lessee
shall disclose both of the following:
•

The main terms and conditions of that transaction.

•

Any gains or losses arising from the transaction separately from gains
or losses on disposal of other assets.

XI. LEASES: LEVERAGED LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
1.

ASU 2016-02 provides guidance on the accounting for leveraged leases, from the
perspective of the lessor.

2.

A leveraged lease is defined as follows:
“From the perspective of a lessor, a lease that was classified as a leveraged
lease in accordance with the leases guidance in effect before the effective
date and for which the commencement date is before the effective date.”

3.

The author has not included that guidance in this course.
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TEST YOUR KNOWLEDGE #5
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of the
information presented in the chapter (assignment). They are included as an additional tool to enhance
your learning experience and do not need to be submitted in order to receive CPE credit.
We recommend that you answer each question and then compare your response to the suggested
solutions on the following page(s) before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter
(assignment).
1.

Company X is implementing ASU 2016-02 and elects the practical expedients.
Which of the following is an element of the practical expedient:
A. the expedient must be elected individually for each expedient element
B. an entity is not required to reassess any expired contracts to determine if any
contain leases
C. an entity must reassess the lease classification of expired leases
D. any entity is required to reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases

2.

Company Y sells a property and leases it back in a sales-leaseback transaction.
The transaction of the asset is a sale. Which of the following is correct with
respect to the transaction:
A. the seller-lessee should not recognize the transaction price for the sale
B. the seller should account for the lease in accordance with ASC 842, Leases
C. the seller should continue to carry the underlying leased asset
D. the buyer-lessor should not account for the lease under ASC 842, Leases
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES #5
Below are the solutions and suggested responses for the questions on the previous page(s). If you
choose an incorrect answer, you should review the pages as indicated for each question to ensure
comprehension of the material.
1.

A. Incorrect. The practical expedient must be elected as a package, for all leases.
B. CORRECT. One of the benefits of the practical expedient is that an entity is not required
to perform any reassessment of expired or existing contracts to determine if any contain
leases that may be subject to ASU 2016-02.
C. Incorrect. The practical expedient does not require an entity to reassess the lease
classification of expired leases.
D. Incorrect. The practical expedient allows an entity not to reassess initial direct costs for
any existing leases.
(See page 186 of the course material.)

2.

A. Incorrect. If it is a sale, the seller-lessee should recognize the transaction price for the
sale at the point in time at which the buyer-seller obtains control of the asset.
B. CORRECT. Because it is a sales-leaseback, the seller should account for the lease in
accordance with ASC 842, Leases, similar to any other lease.
C. Incorrect. ASU 2016-02 requires that the seller derecognize (remove) the carrying
amount of the underlying leased asset to reflect the original sale.
D. Incorrect. Because it is an actual lease transaction, the buyer-lessor should account for
the lease under ASC 842, Leases, similarly to other leases.
(See page 196 of the course material.)
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Assignment 6 Objectives
After completing this chapter, you should be able to:
• Identify how deferred income taxes will be treated for lessees under ASU 2016-02.
• Recall the potential impact that the new lease standard might have on a lessee’s EBITDA and debtequity ratios.
• Recall the IRS rules as to when an entity should and should not capitalize a lease for tax purposes.

XII. IMPACT OF CHANGES TO LEASE ACCOUNTING
What might be the impact of changes to lease accounting?
The ASU 2016-02 changes may be devastating to many companies and may result in many more leases
being capitalized which will impact all financial statements.
In particular, retailers will be affected the most.
If leases of retailers, for example, are capitalized, the impact on financial statements will be significant,
as noted below:
• Lessee’s balance sheets must be grossed up for the recognized lease assets and the
lease obligations for all lease obligations.

Note
Including contingent lease payments and renewal options may result in overstated
liabilities given the fact that contingent payments must be included in the lease
payments and renewal options must be considered in determining the lease term.

• For finance (Type A) leases, lessee income statements may be adversely affected with
higher lease expense in the earlier years of new leases.

Note
Even though total lease expense is the same over the life of a lease, lease expense
(interest and amortization expense) under a finance lease is higher in the earlier years
as compared with lease expense under an operating lease.

On average, a 10-year lease will incur approximately 15-20% higher annual lease
expense in the earlier years, if capitalized, as compared with a lease not being
capitalized. That higher lease amount reverses in the later years.
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• For finance (Type A) leases, on the statement of cash flows, there will be a positive shift
in cash flow to cash from operations from cash from financing activities. A portion of rent
expense previously deducted in arriving at cash from operations will now be deducted as
principal payments in cash from financing activities. Thus, companies will have:
▫▫

Higher cash from operating activities, and

▫▫

Lower cash from financing activities.

• In most cases, annual lease expense for GAAP (interest and amortization) will not match
lease expense for income tax purposes, thereby resulting in deferred income taxes.
Changes to both the balance sheets and income statements of companies may have rippling effects on
other elements of the lessee companies.
1.

2.

On the positive side, a lessee’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) may actually improve as there is a shift from rent expense under
existing operating leases to interest and amortization expense under ASU 2016-02.
a)

Both interest and amortization expense are not deducted in arriving at
EBITDA while rent expense is.

b)

Changes in EBITDA may affect existing agreements related to compensation,
earn outs, bonuses, and commissions.

On the negative side, for both finance (Type A) and operating (Type B) leases, lessee
debt-equity ratios may be affected with entities carrying significantly higher lease
obligation debt than under existing GAAP. Higher debt-equity ratios could put certain loan
agreements into default. Moreover, net income will be lower in the earlier years of the
lease term due to higher interest and amortization expense replacing rental expense.

Example: Company X has the following income statement. Assume an existing operating lease is
converted to a new finance (Type A) lease under ASU 2016-02.
Assuming all other facts are the same, a comparison of EBITDA follows:
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Existing GAAP
Operating
Expense

New ASU 2016-02
Finance (Type A)
Lease

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Rent expense
Interest expense
Amortization expense
Depreciation
All other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

$10,000,000
(7,000,000)
3,000,000

$10,000,000
(7,000,000)
3,000,000

(800,000)
0
0
(200,000)
(1,000,000)
(2,000,000)

0
(500,000)
(300,000)
(200,000)
(1,000,000)
(2,000,000)

Net income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income

1,000,000
(400,000)
$600,000

1,000,000
(400,000)
$600,000

$600,000

$600,000

0
400,000
200,000
0

500,000
400,000
200,000
300,000

$1,200,000

$2,000,000

EBITDA:
Net income
Add:
Interest
Income taxes
Depreciation
Amortization
EBITDA

Conclusion: The mere conversion to the new ASU 2016-02 results in EBITDA increasing from
$1,200,000 to $2,000,000. Rent expense recorded under previous GAAP operating lease is replaced
with interest and amortization expense. Interest and amortization expense are added back to compute
EBITDA while rent expense is not.
What if the lease is classified as an operating (Type B) lease under ASU 2016-02?
If the lease is classified as an operating (Type B) lease, the comparative income statement is shown as
follows:
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Existing GAAP
Operating
Expense

New ASU 2016-02
Operating (Type B)
Lease

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Rent expense
Lease expense
Depreciation
All other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

$10,000,000
(7,000,000)
3,000,000

$10,000,000
(7,000,000)
3,000,000

(800,000)
0
(200,000)
(1,000,000)
(2,000,000)

0
(1) (800,000)
(200,000)
(1,000,000)
(2,000,000)

Net income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income

1,000,000
(400,000)
$600,000

1,000,000
(400,000)
$600,000

$600,000

$600,000

0
400,000
200,000

800,000
400,000
200,000

$1,200,000

$2,000,000

EBITDA:
Net income
Add:
Interest and amortization (lease expense)
Income taxes
Depreciation
EBITDA

(1) Under ASU 2016-02, interest and amortization expense related to an operating (Type B) lease are
combined and presented as one expense item called “lease expense.”
Conclusion: The author has calculated EBITDA the same as if the lease had been classified as a finance
lease, with EBITDA increasing from $1,200,000 to $2,000,000. ASU 2016-02 requires that an operating
(Type B) lease present interest and amortization expense as one expense item called lease expense.
Even though lease expense is not an add back to compute EBITDA, the author believes that it should
be added back because the components of lease expense are interest and amortization expense. That
is, even though the income statement presentation of an operating (Type B) lease is one line item called
“lease expense” the reality is that lease expense consists of interest and amortization expense. Thus,
EBITDA should reflect an add back of lease expense under operating (Type B) leases.
How significant will the change to the new lease standard be for U.S. companies?
As previously noted, there are approximately $1.5 trillion of operating lease obligations that are not
recorded on public company balance sheets. That $1.5 trillion is magnified by the many nonpublic
companies that have unpublished operating lease obligations that are unrecorded.
The author estimates that unrecorded lease obligations of nonpublic operating leases is at least $1.3
trillion based on the following computation:
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Computation of Estimated Unrecorded Lease Obligations of
Nonpublic U.S. Companies
Estimated annual lease payments ($5,000 x 12)
Present value factor, 5 years, 5%
Present value of lease obligation

$60,000
4.212
$252,720

Estimated # nonpublic entities in the U.S. with leases that may be subject to the
new lease standard:
20 million nonpublic companies x 25%

5,000,000

Unrecorded lease obligations- U.S. nonpublic companies

$1.3 trillion

Source: The Author.
In the previous table, the author makes a rough computation as to the total amount of lease obligations
that are unrecorded by nonpublic companies. Using what may be conservative numbers, the author
computes the present value of unrecorded operating lease obligations at $1.3 trillion which is likely to
be low. Adding the $1.3 trillion for nonpublic companies to the $1.5 trillion for public companies results
in $2.8 trillion of unrecorded lease obligations that might be recorded on company balance sheets under
the new lease standard.
Consider the following estimated impacts of converting existing leases to capitalized right-of-use leases:13
a.

Earnings of retailers might decline significantly. One recent study suggested that there
could be a median drop in EPS of 5.3 percent and a median decline in return on assets
of 1.7 percent.

b.

Public companies might face $10.2 billion of added annual interest costs.

c.

There could be a loss of U.S. jobs in the range of 190,000 to 3.3 million.

d.

Cost of compliance with the new standard could lower U.S. GDP by $27.5 billion a year.

e.

Lessors might lose approximately $14.8 billion in the value in their commercial real estate.

f.

Balance sheets might be loaded with significant lease obligations that could impact debtequity ratios.
•

Aggregate debt of nonfinancial S&P 500 companies might increase by 17
percent if all leases were capitalized.

•

Return on assets might decline as total assets (the denominator) would
increase by approximately 10 percent.

__________________________________________________________________________________
13. Based on a report issued by Change & Adams Consulting, commissioned by the U.S. Chamber of Commerce and Others.
Amounts are based on current data and likely to change by the implementation date.
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•

The S&P 500 could record an estimate of $549 billion of additional liabilities
under the new lease standard on existing operating leases.14

•

U.S. companies, (public and nonpublic), could record approximately $2.8
trillion of additional liabilities if operating leases are capitalized.15

Per a Credit Suisse study,16 there are 494 of the S&P 500 companies that are obligated to make $634
billion of total future minimum lease payments under operating leases. On a present value basis, including
contingent rents, the $634 billion translates into an additional liability under the lease standard of $549
billion. Of the $549 billion of additional liabilities, 15 percent of that total relates to retail companies on
the S&P 500.
In some cases, the effect of capitalizing lease obligations under the lease standard is that the additional
lease liability will exceed entity stockholders’ equity.
Consider the following table:

Impact of Capitalizing Leases – Selected Retailers
Based on Annual Reports

Retailer

Operating
Lease
Obligations

PV
Converter
5 Years
4% (a)

Additional
Liability
Under
New Lease
Standard

Office Depot
Walgreens
CVS
Whole Foods
Sears

$2B
35 B
28 B
6.8 B
4.5 B

.822
.822
.822
.822
.822

$1.6 B
28.8 B
23.0 B
5.6 B
3.7 B

Stockholders’
Equity
$661M
18 B
38 B
3.8 B
3.1 B

% Equity

248%
160%
61%
147%
119%

Source: Annual Reports, as obtained by the author.
(a) Assumes the weighted-average remaining lease term is 5 years, and the incremental borrowing
rate is 4%.
The previous table identifies the sizeable problem that exists for many of the U.S. retailers which is
that there are huge off-balance sheet operating lease liabilities as a percentage of company market
capitalization. Under the lease standard, these obligations will be recorded, thereby having a devastating
impact on those retailers’ balance sheets. For example, look at Office Depot and its $1.6 billion lease
liability that, based on today’s balance sheet, would represent 248% of its stockholders’ equity of $661
million.

__________________________________________________________________________________
14. Leases Landing on Balance Sheet (Credit Suisse).
15. Author’s estimate: $1.5 trillion for public companies and $1.3 trillion for nonpublic companies.
16. Leases Landing on Balance Sheet (Credit Suisse).
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How will the lease standard impact how leases are structured?
Companies are going to consider the balance sheet impact when structuring leases and in deciding
whether to lease or buy the underlying asset, in the first place. There are several likely actions that will
come from the new lease standard:
1.

Lease-versus-buy decision impacted: By implementing the lease standard, the GAAP
differences between leasing and owning an asset will be reduced. Having to capitalize all
leases may have a significant effect on the lease versus purchase decision, particularly
with respect to real estate.
a)

Tenants, in particular those in single-tenant buildings with long-term leases,
may choose to purchase a building instead of leasing it.
•

A similar amount of debt is included on the tenant’s balance sheet
under a long-term lease as compared with a purchase.

•

GAAP depreciation under a purchase may actually be lower than
amortization under a lease because the amortization life under the
lease (generally the lease term) is likely to be shorter than the useful
life under a purchase.
Example: Assume there is a 10-year building lease with two, five-year
lease options, resulting in a maximum lease term of 20 years. Assume
further that the useful life of the building is 30 years for depreciation
purposes.
If the entity leases the real estate, the right-of-use asset would be
amortized over a maximum of 20 years. If, instead, the entity were to
purchase the real estate, the building would be depreciated over the
useful life of 30 years.

Note
In some instances, lessees may choose to purchase the leased asset, rather than lease it,
if the accounting is the same. The purchase scenario may be more appealing for longerterm leases that have significant debt obligations on the lessee balance sheets. Lessees
with shorter-term leases will not be burdened with the extensive debt obligations and,
therefore, may choose not to purchase the underlying lease asset.
b)

Lease terms are likely to shorten: For many companies who do not wish to
purchase the underlying leased asset, lease terms may shorten to reduce
the amount of the lease obligation (and related asset) that is recorded at the
lease inception.
•

The lease standard may affect not only the landlords and tenants,
but also brokers as there will be much greater emphasis placed on
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executing leases for shorter periods of times, thereby increasing the
paperwork over a period of time and the commissions earned.
c)

Deferred tax assets will be created: Because many operating leases may be
capitalized for GAAP but not for tax purposes, total GAAP expense (interest
and amortization) will likely be greater than lease expense for tax purposes,
resulting in deferred tax assets for the future tax benefits that will be realized
when the temporary difference reverses in later years.

Under existing GAAP, most, but not all, leases are treated as operating leases (true leases) for tax
purposes. Therefore, rarely are operating leases capitalized for tax purposes. Now, the game is about to
change if operating leases are capitalized as right-of-use assets under GAAP, while they continue to be
treated as operating leases for tax purposes. As we have seen in the previous examples, most leases
capitalized under the lease standard will result in the creation of a deferred tax asset.
Example:
Company X capitalizes a 15-year lease under the new lease standard. Below is the balance sheet that
exists at the end of the first year of the lease.

ASSETS:
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Total equipment

Company X
Balance Sheet
December 31, 20X1
(GIVEN)

Right-of-use lease assets
Less: accumulated amortization
Total right-of-use assets
Total plant and equipment

XX
XX
XX
1,806,705
120,447
1,686,258
XX

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of right-of-use lease obligation
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Long-term right-of-use lease obligation

XX
16,386
XX
1,771,474

For tax purposes, the lease is treated as an operating lease so that lease payments are currently
deducted with no capitalized asset and liability.
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Assuming X is a C corporation and its federal and state tax rate is 40%, a deferred tax asset is created
as follows:
Asset/liability

Book

Right-of-use asset
Debt

$1,686,258
(a) (1,787,860)
$(101,602)

Tax

Temporary
difference

$0
0
$0

$1,686,258
(1,787,860)
(101,602)
40%
$40,641

Tax rate
Deferred tax asset

(a) Debt: Current portion ($16,386) + long-term portion ($1,771,474) = $1,787,860

Year 1: Additional entry:

dr

Deferred tax asset
Income tax expense- deferred

cr

40,641
40,641

The revised balance at the end of Year 1 of the lease, inclusive of the deferred tax asset, follows:

ASSETS:
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Total equipment

Company X
Balance Sheet
December 31, 20X1
(GIVEN)

Right-of-use lease assets
Less: accumulated amortization
Total right-of-use assets
Total plant and equipment
Other assets:
Deferred tax asset

XX
XX
XX
1,806,705
120,447
1,686,258
XX
40,641

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of right-of-use lease obligation
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Long-term right-of-use lease obligation
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XX
16,386
XX
1,771,474

Note that the deferred tax asset is presented as a long-term asset because it follows the classification
of the asset and liability that created the temporary difference. In this case, the temporary difference
is created from the right-of-use lease asset and lease obligation, both of which are long-term items.
In reality, a small portion of the deferred tax asset ($6,554) related to the current portion of the lease
obligation ($16,386 x 40% = $6,554) should be shown as a current asset, but is kept as long term
because it is not material.

XIII. IMPACT OF LEASE CHANGES ON NONPUBLIC ENTITIES
What about the impact on smaller nonpublic entities?
One leasing organization noted that more than 90 percent of all leases involve assets worth less than
$5 million and have terms of two to five years.17 That means that smaller companies have a significant
amount of leases, most of which are currently being accounted for as operating (off-balance sheet)
leases. The author estimates that the present value of unrecorded lease obligations under operating
leases of nonpublic entities to be at least $1.3 trillion in addition to an estimated $1.5 trillion of unrecorded
lease obligations of public companies.
Unless these smaller, nonpublic entities choose to use the tax basis for their financial statements, under
GAAP, these companies will be required to capitalize their operating leases.
What about related-party leases?
Some, but not all, related-party leases result in the lessee (parent equivalent) consolidating the lessor
(subsidiary equivalent) under the consolidation of variable interest entity rules (ASC 810) (formerly FIN
46R). The common example of a related-party lease is where an operating company lessee leases real
estate from its related-party lessor. In general, under FIN 46R, if there is a related party lessee and
lessor, consolidation is required if:
1. The real estate lessor is a variable interest entity (VIE) (e.g., it is not self-sustaining), and
2. The lessee operating company and/or the common shareholder provide financial support to the real
estate lessor in the form of loans, guarantees of bank loans, above-market lease payments, etc.
If these two conditions are met, it is likely that the real estate lessor must be consolidated in with the
operating company lessee’s financial statements. If there is consolidation, capitalizing the lease under
ASU 2016-02 would be moot because the asset and liability, and lease payments would be eliminated in
the consolidation.

__________________________________________________________________________________
17. Equipment Leasing and Financing Association (ELFA) “Companies: New Lease Rule Means Labor Pains” (CFO.com).
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In 2014, the Private Company Council (PCC) issued ASU 2014-07, Consolidation (Topic 810) Applying
Variable Interest Entities Guidance to Common Control Leasing Arrangements (a consensus of the
PCC), which provides private (nonpublic) entities an election not to apply the consolidation of VIE rules
to a related-party lease arrangement. The ASU provides most private companies with relief from the VIE
rules for related-party leases. Thus, most private (nonpublic) entities involved in related-party leases will
not be consolidating the real estate lessor into the lessee.
When it comes to a related-party lease in which there is no consolidation, under the ASU, the parties must
account for that lease as a right-of-use lease asset and obligation, just like any other lease transaction.
Consequently, under the lease standard, the operating company lessee will be required to record a rightof-use asset and lease obligation based on the present value of the lease payments.
Many related parties either do not have formal leases or the leases are short-term. If the operating
company lessee will be required to record a significant asset and liability, it may make sense to write a
related-party lease that has a lease term of 12 months or less or is a tenant-at-will arrangement.
With respect to a related-party lease that is 12 months or less, the ASU permits (but does not require)
use of the short-term lease rules as follows:
a.

A lessee may make an accounting policy election:
•

Not to recognize the leased asset and liability, and

•

To record the lease payments as rent expense on a straight-line basis.

With many related-party leases, the operating company lessee may issue financial statements while the
real estate lessor does not. Therefore, how the lessee accounts for the transaction under GAAP may be
more important than the lessor’s accounting for the transaction.
Let’s look at a simple example.
Example:
Company X is a real estate lessor LLC that leases an office building to a related-party operating Company
Y. X and Y are related by a common owner.
The companies sign an annual 12-month lease with no renewals, and no obligations that extend beyond
the twelve months.
Monthly rents are $10,000.
Y issues financial statements to its bank while X does not issue financial statements.
There is no consolidation under the variable interest entity (VIE) rules.
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Conclusion:
Because the entities have a short-term lease of 12 months or less, Y, as lessee, qualifies for the shortterm lease rules. Therefore, Y is permitted to make an accounting policy election under which Y would
not record a lease asset and liability, and would record the monthly rent payments and rent expense on
a straight-line basis over the short-term lease period.
Alternatively, Y could elect to treat the short-term lease as a standard lease by recording both the leased
asset and liability.

Observation
Many nonpublic entities will take steps to avoid its arduous rules. One approach will
likely be to make sure the related-party leases have terms that are 12 months or less so
that the lease can be treated as an operating lease and not capitalized. Another approach
would be to issue tax basis financial statements.

XIV. OTHER CONSIDERATIONSCOVENANTS

DEALING

WITH

FINANCIAL

The lease standard is likely to cast a wide web across the accounting profession. By capitalizing leases
that were previously off-balance sheet, there may be consequences.
Examples:
• Impact on state apportionment computations: Many states compute the apportionment of
income assigned to that state using a property factor based on real and tangible personal
property held in that particular state.

Note
When it comes to rent expense, most states capitalize the rents using a factor such as eight
times rent expense. Although each state has its own set of rules, the implementation of
the standard may have a sizeable positive or negative impact on state tax apportionment
based on shifting rent expense to capitalized assets.
• Impact on tax planning: Capitalizing leases might have a positive effect on tax planning.
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Note
One example is where there is a C corporation with accumulated earnings and exposure
to an Accumulated Earnings Tax (AET). The additional lease obligation liability would
certainly help justify that the accumulation of earnings is not subject to the AET.

• Impact on total asset and liability thresholds: Companies should also be aware that not
only will the lease standard increase liabilities, but will also increase total assets.

Note
In some states, there are total asset thresholds that drive higher taxes and reporting
requirements.

Dealing with financial covenants:
A critical impact of the lease standard may be that certain loan covenants will be adversely impaired,
thereby forcing companies into violations of their loans.
Consider the following ratios:

Ratio
EBITDA:
[Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization]

Likely Impact of ASU 2016-02’s
Lease Standard
Finance (Type A) leases:
Favorable impact due to shift from rental expense
to interest and amortization expense, both of
which are added back in computing EBITDA.
Operating (Type B) leases:
May be favorable impact depending on whether
“lease expense” is added back to compute
EBITDA.

Interest coverage ratio:
Earnings before interest and taxes
Interest expense
Debt-equity ratio:
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity
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May be negatively impacted from lower ratio.

Negative impact from higher ratio.

There is likely to be a favorable impact on EBITDA for finance (Type A) leases by implementing the
lease standard. Rent expense recorded for operating leases under existing GAAP will be reduced while
interest expense and amortization expense will increase once the leases are capitalized.
However, the issue is what happens to EBITDA for the new operating (Type B) leases. Under the new
lease standard, interest and amortization are combined as one line item on the income statement entitled
“lease cost (expense).” The question is whether that line item is added back in arriving at EBITDA. The
author believes it should be added back because it represents interest and amortization despite the
lease expense label.
As to the interest coverage ratio, the impact on the ratio depends on the whether there is a finance
(Type A) or operating (Type B) lease. For a finance lease, earnings before interest and taxes will
likely be higher as rent expense is removed and replaced with interest and amortization expense. For
finance (Type A) leases, the denominator increases significantly due to the higher interest expense. On
balance, the slightly higher earnings before interest and taxes divided by a higher interest expense in the
denominator yields a lower interest coverage ratio.
For the new operating (Type B) lease, the impact on the ratio is unclear. Although interest expense, along
with amortization expense, will be embedded in the caption line item “lease expense,” most analysts will
likely carve out the interest and amortization components and adjust the interest coverage ratio by the
interest portion.
Perhaps the most significant impact of capitalizing leases under the lease standard will be its effect on
the debt-equity ratio. With sizeable liabilities being recorded, this ratio will likely turn quite negative and
severely impact company balance sheets. In some cases, the debt-equity ratio will result in violation of
existing loan covenants, thereby requiring a company to renegotiate the covenants with its lenders or at
least notify lenders in advance of the likely lack of compliance with loan covenants.
Plenty of time to implement the new lease standard:
Because the effective date of ASU 2016-02 is 2019 for public entities and 2020 for nonpublic entities,
there is ample time for entities to restructure leases in anticipation of the effective date.

XV. AVOIDING THE NEW LEASE STANDARD
For many nonpublic entities, the new lease standard is a costly nuisance under which lease assets
must be measured and recorded and offer no value to lenders. In fact, many lenders are just becoming
familiar with the new standard given that there is a delayed effective date until calendar Year 2020 for
nonpublic entities. Those lenders might be concerned that the additional lease debt could drive otherwise
compliant borrowers into violations of loan covenants such as debt-equity ratios. To avoid the violations,
the lenders might be required to offer carve-out exceptions under which lease debt will be excluded from
the debt-equity ratio. That change could have regulatory challenges and come under the scrutiny of
bank examiners.
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What are the options nonpublic entities have available to them if they seek to avoid implementing
the new standard?
The author offers a few suggestions:
Option 1: Convert leases to short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Option 2: Use a special-purpose framework such as tax-basis of accounting which does
not recognize ASU 2016-02 rules.
Option 3: Ensure that lease contract language does not qualify the contract as a lease.
Option 4: Insert a GAAP exception into the audit, review or compilation report
Option 5: Ignore complying with ASU 2016-02 due to immateriality of leases.
Option 6: Hope the PCC provides private company exception.
Option 1: Convert leases to short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
ASU 2016-02 offers an election under which a lessee may elect not to capitalize short term leases.
A lessee may elect not to capitalize certain short term leases and, instead, account for them the same
way in which operating leases are accounted for under existing lease standards.
1.

ASU 2016-02 defines a short-term lease as a lease that, at the commencement date:
a)

Has a lease term of 12 months or less, and

b)

Does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise.

This election might be available for related party leases but is limited for arms-length leases because
lessees want longer-term leases to ensure the premises are protected from eviction.
Option 2: Use a special-purpose framework such as tax-basis of accounting which does not
recognize ASU 2016-02 rules
One of the best options for nonpublic entities to avoid the lease standard is to use tax-basis financial
statements.
Assuming the lease qualifies as a true lease, it is not capitalized. Thus, an entity can bypass ASU 201602 by converting the tax-basis financial statements and following the Internal Revenue Code rules for
leases.
IRC true lease rules
a.

Under existing IRS rules, leases that are considered “true leases” or fair market leases
are not capitalized and the lessee deducts lease payments as rent or lease expense.
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b.

Under the true lease rules, the lessor is treated as the owner of the leased asset and the
lessor receives all of the benefits of ownership including depreciation and any tax credits,
if any.

c.

From the lessee’s perspective, a lease that would be treated as an operating lease under
existing pre-ASU 2016-02 GAAP is generally treated as a true lease and not capitalized
for tax purposes. Thus, rent or lease expense is recorded as lease expense as incurred.

What is a true lease?
A true lease is a lease that does not qualify as a conditional sales contract.
In general, an agreement may be considered a conditional sales contract rather than a true lease if any
of the following exists:
• The agreement applies part of each payment toward an equity interest.
• The lessee gets title to the property after making a stated amount of required payments.
• The amount that must be paid to use the property for a short time is a large part of the
amount the lessee would pay to get title to the property.
• Lessee pays much more than the current fair rental value of the property.
• Lessee has an option to buy the property at a nominal price compared to the value of the
property when lessee may exercise the option.
• Lessee has an option to buy the property at a nominal price compared to the total amount
lessee has to pay under the agreement.
• The agreement designates part of the payments as interest, or that part is easy to
recognize as interest.
If lease qualifies as a conditional sales contract, it is not a true lease and, therefore, may have to be
capitalized.

Observation
Notice from the list of conditions to be considered a conditional sales contract, that an
option to purchase the leased asset is not on the list. What is on the list is an option to
purchase at a nominal fee. Thus, a traditional lease that offers the lessee an option to
purchase the leased asset for other than a nominal amount would not necessarily be
considered a conditional sales contract and would not have to be capitalized for tax
purposes.
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What are the advantages of using tax-basis financial statements if there are lease transactions?
Under the Internal Revenue Code, most leases qualify as true leases and are not capitalized. That
means that for tax purposes, lease payments are expensed as incurred.
Using tax-basis financial statements when there are lease transactions has several advantages that
include:
a.

No requirement to capitalize the lease under the ASU 2016-02 rules.

b.

Lease payments are expensed as incurred rather than on a straight-line basis.

c.

The lessee’s balance sheet is not burdened with significant lease obligations that may
adversely affect the debt-equity ratio and other covenants.

d.

Many of the new disclosures required under ASU 2016-02 related to capitalized right-ofuse assets and lease obligations do not apply.

Option 3: Ensure that lease contract language does not qualify the contract as a lease
As previously discussed in the course, the ASU 2016-02 lease rules apply only if a contract qualifies as
a lease. If not, the contract is a service contract and ASU 2016-02’s arduous rules do not apply and no
lease assets and liabilities have to be capitalized.
For there to be a lease, there must be two elements. If one of the elements is not satisfied, there is no
lease.
a.

Element 1: There must be an identified asset in the lease and the lessor cannot have
the substantive right to substitute the asset other than for repairs, maintenance and
technological upgrades.

b.

Element 2: The lessee must have the right to control the use of the identified asset for a
period of time.

Under ASU 2016-02, there is no identified asset and the contract does not qualify as a lease if:
a.

Lessor has the substantive right to substitution outside substitution for repairs,
maintenance, and technological upgrades, and

b.

The lessor’s benefit of substitution exceeds the cost of the substitution.

If a company wants to avoid capitalizing leases under new ASU 2016-02’s amendments, the company
should ensure that the lease contract language does the following:
a.

Permits the lessor to substitute the leased asset for an asset with one of equal or better
value and use at any time, with proper notice.

b.

Requires the lessee to pay for some or all of the costs of substitution, such as freight to
deliver the substituted asset.
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That substitution right should be available to the lessor outside the right of substitution for repairs,
maintenance and technological upgrades. Further, the benefit of the substitution must exceed the cost,
from the perspective of the lessor. The ASU states that if the leased asset is not located on the lessor’s
(supplier’s) premises, the costs of substitution might be deemed to exceed the benefits to the lessor.
Thus, if the leased asset is located on the lessee’s (customer’s) premises, the author suggests that there
be language in the lease that states that if there is a substitution, the lessee will pay for some or all of the
substitution costs, such as freight costs.
The fact that the right exists in the lease does not mean the lessor will use it.
If the lessor has the substantive right to substitute the identified asset, Element 1 (having an identified
asset) is not satisfied and there is no lease. Instead, there is a service contract for which no asset or
liability is recorded. Income and expense is recognized on an accrual basis.
Option 4: Insert a GAAP exception into the audit, review or compilation report
Another option that can be used to avoid the new lease standard is to use a GAAP exception under which
the entity continues not to capitalize leases even though GAAP requires it. In doing so, an accountant’s
or auditor’s report must include a GAAP exception.
Following are sample reports:

Sample Audit Report- GAAP Exception- Leases Not Capitalized Per ASU 2016-02
Independent Auditor’s Report
[Appropriate Addressee]
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company, which comprise the
balance sheets as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, and the related statements of income, changes
in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our qualified audit opinion.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
[As disclosed in Note X],18 Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America require that most leased assets be capitalized as either finance or operating leases
based on satisfying certain criteria. The Company has not capitalized certain equipment leases
in the accompanying balance sheets. The effects of this departure from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States on financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows have not been determined.
Qualified Opinion
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
[Auditor’s signature]
[Auditor’s city and state]
[Date of the auditor’s report]

__________________________________________________________________________________
18. The sample report found in AU-C 706, Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs and Other-Matter Paragraphs in the Independent
Auditor’s Report, does not reference the note in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph. The author believes that reference
to the note is necessary as the paragraph is an emphasis-of-matter paragraph that should reference the related note.
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Sample Review Report- GAAP Exception- Leases Not Capitalized Per ASU 2016-02
Independent Accountant’s Review
[Appropriate Addressee]
I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company, which comprise the
balance sheets as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, and the related statements of income, changes
in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management’s (owners’)
financial data and making inquiries of company management (owners). A review is substantially less
in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial
statements as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not express such an opinion.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement
whether due to fraud or error.
Accountant’s Responsibility
My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance with Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services
Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require me (us)
to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether I am (we are)
aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial statements for them to be
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. I (We)
believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a reasonable basis for our report.
Accountant’s Conclusion
Based on my (our) reviews, except for the issue noted in the Known Departure from Accounting
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America paragraph, I am (we are) not aware
of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying financial statements in order
for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
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Known Departure from Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of
America
As disclosed in Note X to these financial statements, accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States require that most leased assets be capitalized as either finance or operating
leases, based on satisfying certain criteria. Management has informed me (us) that the Company
has not capitalized certain equipment leases in the accompanying balances sheets, and that
the effects of this departure from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
on financial position, results of operations, and cash flows have not been determined.
[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Accountant’s city and state]
[Date of the accountant’s review report]
Option 5: Ignore complying with ASU 2016-02 due to immateriality of leases
Many companies have leases that are not material to the financial statements such as those related to
copy machines and other office equipment. There may also be leases of equipment that are not material.
In such cases, should an entity capitalize the leases under ASU 2016-02?
No.
If a lease is not material to the financial statements, an entity should not waste time capitalizing the
lease. To do so, means not only spending time with calculations to capitalize the leased asset and
liability, but also to manage the asset and liability over the lease term including amortizing the right-ofuse asset, computing interest expense on the lease obligations, and preparing the various disclosures
required by ASU 2016-02.
What should be the measure of whether a lease is material to the financial statements?
In general, a company should perform a quantitative and qualitative assessment as follows:
Quantitative assessment:
a.

Would the right-of-use asset be material to the balance sheet as a percentage of total
assets?

b.

Would the lease obligation be material to the balance sheet as a percentage of total debt?

c.

Would the income statement effect of not capitalizing the lease be material [Would lease
expense (interest and amortization) likely to be materially different from rental expense if
the lease is not capitalized]?

Qualitative assessment:
a.

What would be the impact of not capitalizing a lease obligation on the company’s loan
covenants, and would its exclusion from debt eliminate an otherwise covenant violation?
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b.

Would not capitalizing the lease violate any contracts or other agreements?

On the quantitative side, the author suggests evaluating the impact of not recording a right-of-use asset
using a benchmark of 5% to 10% of total assets. That is, compare the right-of-use asset that would be
recorded to total assets. If that asset is less than 10% of total assets, the impact on total assets of not
recording the right-of-use asset is not material to the financial statements.
Similarly, lease obligations should be measured as a percentage of total liabilities and total liabilities and
equity using a 5% to 10% materiality threshold. If the lease obligation is less than 5% to 10% of total
liabilities, and 5% to 10% of total liabilities and equity, the lease obligation is likely not material to the
financial statements.
Finally, a lessee should review the difference between lease/rent expense from not capitalizing the lease
and lease expense if the lease were to be capitalized. Assuming the difference as a percentage of
pretax income is not more than 5% to 10%, the income statement effect of not capitalizing the lease is
likely not to be material.
On the qualitative side, it is important to ascertain whether the exclusion of the lease obligation results in
an otherwise covenant default (e.g., debt-equity ratio) being eliminated. If so, the transaction is material.
A company should not waste time complying with ASU 2016-02 with respect to small leases.
Option 6: Hope the PCC provides private company exception
Perhaps the best solution to insulate nonpublic entities from the application of ASU 2016-02’s new lease
standard is for the Private Company Council (PCC) to adopt an exemption for private companies.
The PCC is a body of private company representatives within the FASB that has the authority to propose
to the FASB exceptions and modifications to GAAP for private companies. The term “private company”
is used by the PCC in lieu of “nonpublic entity.”
Once the PCC recommends an exception to GAAP to the FASB Board, the FASB endorses it, submits
it for public comment and ultimately passes the exception as part of GAAP. At that juncture, a private
company can elect to apply the exception to its own financial statements.
ASU 2016-02’s new lease accounting is a perfect change for which the PCC could exempt private
companies from its application. In lieu of applying the changes required by ASU 2016-02, the PCC
could offer a simpler version of lease accounting for private companies.
One suggestion by the author is to following the existing operating lease model under existing pre-ASU
2016-02 lease model (existing ASC 840) under which:
• The lease is not capitalized
• Rental expense is recorded over the lease term at amounts that are incurred, rather than
on a straight-line basis, and
• Disclosures are made about the minimum lease payments over five years.
224 • Accounting for the New Lease Standard

The suggested private company model would be acceptable to most private company financial statement
users, particularly banks.
How likely is the PCC to embrace a lease standard exemption for private companies?
Don’t hold your breath.
In May 2013, the FASB issued its second exposure draft on lease accounting which was the basis of the
final issued ASU 2016-02 amendments.
In response to the May 2013 Exposure Draft, in December 2013, the PCC issued a comment letter.
In its comment letter, the PCC stated the following:
“The PCC believes, in principle, that different types of leases can provide different
benefits to lessees.
Certain types of leases provide a financing alternative to straight asset purchases. ….
The PCC agrees with the concept of recognizing the leased assets and lease liabilities
on the lessee’s balance sheet in this instance.
Other leases, such as those represented by (but not limited exclusively to) certain real
estate, are akin to locking in the benefits of an executory contract for a defined period of
time……… In those instances in which the lessee is not consuming a significant portion
of the asset’s utility, the PCC believes that no lease assets or lease liabilities should be
recognized.
The PCC also notes that it does not see any compelling reason why there should be
differences in recognition patterns between private companies and public companies on
this issue.”
The PCC’s response to the FASB’s lease project has been to agree on capitalizing some leases but
not capitalizing others, and not differentiating between expensing patterns between lease types. Since
issuing its December 2013 comment letter, the PCC has not offered further comment suggesting that the
current PCC position has not changed.
Surprisingly, to date, the PCC has not suggested an overall exemption from capitalizing leases for private
companies. In fact, the current published PCC topic agenda does not include any mention of revisiting
the lease standard and an overall exemption from capitalization of leases for private companies.
If any recent FASB standard warrants an exemption for private companies, lease accounting does.
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TEST YOUR KNOWLEDGE #6
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of the
information presented in the chapter (assignment). They are included as an additional tool to enhance
your learning experience and do not need to be submitted in order to receive CPE credit.
We recommend that you answer each question and then compare your response to the suggested
solutions on the following page(s) before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter
(assignment).
1.

Per the author, which of the following is likely to be an effect of the new lease
standard:
A. the lessee’s income statement will have lower total lease expense in the earlier
years of new leases
B. there will be a negative shift to cash from operations from cash from financing
activities in the statement of cash flows
C. in most cases, total expense for GAAP will be the same as total expense for
income tax purposes
D. the lessee’s EBITDA may increase as there is a shift from rent expense to
interest and amortization expense

2.

Which of the following is an impact the lease standard is likely to have on
retailers:
A. many retailers will have significant reductions in their total debt
B. many retailer’s balance sheets must be grossed up
C. many retailers will have their debt-equity ratios decline
D. many retailers will notice EBITDA declining

3.

What is one change that may occur because of the new lease standard being
implemented:
A. companies that typically purchase a single-tenant building may choose to lease
instead of buy
B. tenants in multi-tenant buildings might sign longer-term leases
C. tenants in single-tenant buildings with long term leases may choose to buy
D. there is likely to be no change
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4.

Annual GAAP depreciation expense for a purchase of a leased asset may be
______________ assuming there is a finance type (Type A) lease:
A. higher than annual amortization expense under a lease
B. lower than annual amortization expense under a lease
C. the same as annual amortization expense under a lease
D. either higher or lower than amortization expense under a lease, depending on
whether options are part of the lease term

5.

Which of the following is a possible result of the new lease standard on
related-party leases:
A. most related-party leases will have to be recorded on balance sheets
B. most related parties do not have formal leases or leases of 12 months or less
C. most related-party leases will create a consolidation under the VIE rules
D. most related-party leases have formal long-term leases that cannot be modified

6.

Which of the following is an impact that the new lease standard might have
on federal and state taxes:
A. there will be no impact on taxes because rent expense is generally excluded
from state apportionment computations
B. there will be no impact on any taxes of any kind because leases are a GAAP
issue, not a tax issue
C. the new lease standard will likely result in higher corporate income taxes
D. exposure to the accumulated earnings tax is likely to be reduced

7.

Which of the following is a condition of a conditional sales contract:
A. the agreement does not apply any part of the payment to an equity interest
B. the lessee pays less than 40% of the fair value in lease payments over the
lease term
C. title is not transferred at the end of the lease
D. lessee has an option to purchase the property at a nominal price
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8.

Tony Bennett is a CPA who has a client with numerous leased assets. Which
of the following would be an impact on leases of Tony’s client issuing taxbasis financial statements:
A. by issuing tax-basis financial statements, the Internal Revenue Code offers
a simplified version of capitalization leases as compared with the complex
version required by ASU 2016-02
B. tax-basis financial statements allow for lease payments to be expensed on a
straight-line basis
C. unequivocally, the company’s balance sheet would still have lease obligations
recorded
D. most of the ASU 2016-02 disclosures would not apply
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES #6
Below are the solutions and suggested responses for the questions on the previous page(s). If you
choose an incorrect answer, you should review the pages as indicated for each question to ensure
comprehension of the material.
1.

A. Incorrect. Total expense (interest and amortization) on the lessee’s income statement
will be higher, not lower, in the earlier years of new leases.
B. Incorrect. There will be a positive (not negative) shift to cash from operations from cash
from financing activities in the statement of cash flows.
C. Incorrect. Total expense for GAAP may differ from total expense for income tax purposes
resulting in deferred income taxes being recorded.
D. CORRECT. The lessee’s EBITDA may increase as there is a shift from rent expense
to interest and amortization expense. Interest and amortization are not deducted in
arriving at EBITDA, while rent expense under existing operating leases is deducted.
(See pages 203 to 204 of the course material.)

2.

A. Incorrect. Most retailers have sizeable off-balance sheet operating lease obligations
that will be recorded under the new lease standard. When recorded, huge liabilities will
be recorded.
B. CORRECT. Many retailers have sizeable off-balance sheet liabilities that are high as
a percentage of company market capitalization. In fact, in some instances, liabilities
exceed equity.
C. Incorrect. Many retailers will have their debt-equity ratios increase, not decline.
D. Incorrect. For most companies in general, EBITDA will improve, not decline.
(See pages 203 to 204 of the course material.)

3.

A. Incorrect. The new standard is not likely to expand leases because those leases will
have lease obligations that have to be recorded on the lessee’s balance sheet.
B. Incorrect. Shorter, not longer, leases will be the trend so that smaller liabilities are
recorded on the lessee’s balance sheet.
C. CORRECT. Tenants in single-tenant buildings with long-term leases may choose to
buy because they already have to record lease obligations that are similar to the debt
they will have to record in a purchase.
D. Incorrect. The status quo is not likely to be the case given the enormity of the impact of
the new standard on company balance sheets.
(See page 209 of the course material.)
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4.

A. Incorrect. GAAP depreciation under a purchase may be lower, not higher, because the
useful life used to depreciate the purchased asset is usually longer than the lease term
used to amortize the lease.
B. CORRECT. The useful life used to depreciate an asset under a purchase is likely
to be longer than the lease term used to amortize a lease, thereby resulting in lower
depreciation with a purchase than amortization with a Type A lease.
C. Incorrect. There is no indication that the amounts would be the same.
D. Incorrect. Even if the option periods are included in the lease term, that term will be
lower than the useful life of the purchase. Thus, depreciation will always be lower than
amortization.
(See pages 209 to 210 of the course material.)

5.

A. Incorrect. Most related-party leases can be rewritten into short-term leases and avoid
being recorded under the short-term lease exception.
B. CORRECT. Because most related parties do not have formal leases or leases 12
months or less, they should qualify for the short-term lease exception.
C. Incorrect. Although the VIE consolidation rules might apply to related-party leases,
there are ways to avoid consolidation, including using the private company exception.
D. Incorrect. Most related-party leases do not have formal long-term leases and can’t be
modified easily.
(See pages 212 to 213 of the course material.)

6.

A. Incorrect. Rent expense is generally included in state apportionment computations as
it may be capitalized.
B. Incorrect. The lease standard is likely to have some type of impact on taxes either
through state apportionments, corporate income taxes through accumulated earnings
tax, or deferred income taxes.
C. Incorrect. There is no evidence that the new lease standard will likely result in higher
corporate income taxes. There could be an impact on overall taxes, but whether that
impact is positive or negative depends on several factors including the type of lease
capitalized.
D. CORRECT. By recording a lease liability, a C corporation might be able to justify the
accumulation of earnings to shield the entity from the accumulated earnings tax.
(See pages 214 to 215 of the course material.)
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7.

A. Incorrect. One condition of having a conditional sales contract is that the agreement
does apply a part of each payment toward an equity interest so that the transaction
appears more like a purchase than a lease.
B. Incorrect. One condition is that the lessee pays more than the current fair rental value
of the property so that the transaction has the economics of a purchase, rather than
a lease. Paying less than 40% of the fair value in lease payments over the lease term
would not indicate that payments are significant enough to appear to be a purchase.
C. Incorrect. One condition is that title is transferred at the end of the lease similar to a
purchase.
D. CORRECT. One condition is that the lessee has an option to purchase the property
at a nominal price compared to the total amount that the lessee must pay under the
contract.
(See pages 217 to 218 of the course material.)

8.

A. Incorrect. The Internal Revenue Code does not offer a simplified version of capitalization
leases as compared with the complex version required by ASU 2016-02. In general,
most leases are not capitalized at all under the Internal Revenue Code.
B. Incorrect. The Internal Revenue Code is followed for tax-basis financial statements. The
Code allows for lease payments to be expensed as incurred and not necessarily on a
straight-line basis.
C. Incorrect. In most cases, the company’s balance sheet would not have lease obligations
recorded under the Internal Revenue Code.
D. CORRECT. Because leased assets and liabilities are not recorded for tax purposes
in most cases, most of the ASU 2016-02 disclosures that relate to those assets and
liabilities would not apply.
(See page 219 of the course material.)
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GLOSSARY
Commencement Date: The date on which a lessor makes an underlying asset available for use by a
lessee.
Contract: An agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations.
Direct Financing Lease: From the perspective of a lessor, a lease that meets none of the criteria to be
a sales-type lease or an operating lease.
Discount Rate for the Lease: The discount rate for the lease is the rate implicit in the lease unless that
rate cannot be readily determined. In that case, the lessee is required to use its incremental borrowing
rate.
Economic Life: Either the period over which an asset is expected to be economically usable by one or
more users or the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from an asset by one or
more users.
Finance Lease: From the perspective of a lessee, a lease that meets one or more of the five criteria and
results in the lease obligation and right-of-use asset being recorded on the lessee’s balance sheet.
Incremental Borrowing Rate: The rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow on a
collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic
environment.
Initial Direct Costs: Incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if the lease had not
been obtained.
Land Easements: A right to use, access, or cross another entity’s land for a specified purpose.
Lease: A contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified property,
plant, or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Lease Liability: A lessee’s obligation to make the lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a
discounted basis.
Lease Modification: A change to the terms and conditions of a contract that results in a change in
the scope of or the consideration for a lease (for example, a change to the terms and conditions of the
contract that adds or terminates the right to use one or more underlying assets or extends or shortens
the contractual lease term).
Lease Receivable: A lessor’s right to receive lease payments arising from a sales-type lease or a direct
financing lease plus any amount that a lessor expects to derive from the underlying asset following the
end of the lease term to the extent that it is guaranteed by the lessee or any other third party unrelated to
the lessor, measured on a discounted basis.
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Lease Term: The noncancellable period for which a lessee has the right to use an underlying asset,
together with all of the following: a) Periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, b) Periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the
lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option, and c) Periods covered by an option to extend
(or not to terminate) the lease in which exercise of the option is controlled by the lessor.
Lessee: An entity that enters into a contract to obtain the right to use an underlying asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
Lessor: An entity that enters into a contract to provide the right to use an underlying asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
Leveraged Lease: From the perspective of a lessor, a lease that was classified as a leveraged lease in
accordance with the leases guidance in effect before the effective date and for which the commencement
date is before the effective date.
Net Investment in the Lease: For a sales-type lease, the sum of the lease receivable and the
unguaranteed residual asset. For a direct financing lease, the sum of the lease receivable and the
unguaranteed residual asset, net of any deferred selling profit.
Operating Lease: From the perspective of a lessee, any lease other than a finance lease. From the
perspective of a lessor, any lease other than a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease.
Period of Use: The total period of time that an asset is used to fulfill a contract with a lessee (customer)
(including the sum of any nonconsecutive periods of time).
Probable: The future event or events are likely to occur.
Protective Rights: Are typically terms and conditions in a contract designed to protect certain rights of
a lessor.
Rate Implicit in the Lease: The rate of interest that, at a given date, causes the aggregate present
value of: (a) the lease payments and (b) the amount that a lessor expects to derive from the underlying
asset following the end of the lease term to equal the sum of (1) the fair value of the underlying asset
minus any related investment tax credit retained and expected to be realized by the lessor, and (2) any
deferred initial direct costs of the lessor.
Residual Value Guarantee: A guarantee made to a lessor that the value of an underlying asset returned
to the lessor at the end of a lease will be at least a specified amount.
Right-of-Use Asset: An asset that represents a lessee’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease
term.
Sales-Type Lease: From the perspective of a lessor, a lease that meets one or more of five criteria.
Short-Term Lease: A lease that, at the commencement date, has a lease term of 12 months or less
and does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise.
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Standalone Price: The price at which a lessee (customer) would purchase a component of a contract
separately.
Sublease: A transaction in which an underlying asset is re-leased by the lessee (or intermediate lessor)
to a third party (the sublessee) and the original (or head) lease between the lessor and the lessee
remains in effect.
Underlying Asset: An asset that is the subject of a lease for which a right to use that asset has been
conveyed to a lessee. The underlying asset could be a physically distinct portion of a single asset.
Unguaranteed Residual Asset: The amount that a lessor expects to derive from the underlying asset
following the end of the lease term that is not guaranteed by the lessee or any other third party unrelated
to the lessor, measured on a discounted basis.
Variable Lease Payments: Payments made by a lessee to a lessor for the right to use an underlying
asset that vary because of changes in facts or circumstances occurring after the commencement date,
other than the passage of time.
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ACCOUNTING FOR THE NEW LEASE STANDARD (COURSE #2002) –
FINAL EXAM
The following exam will not be graded. It is attached only for your convenience while you read the course text. To
access the exam to be submitted for grading, go to your account and select Take Exam.
1. What is one key change under the new lease
standard (ASU 2016-02):
A. a small portion of operating leases, but
not capital leases, will be brought onto the
balance sheet
B. existing capital leases, but not operating
leases, will be brought onto the balance
sheet
C. no leases will be capitalized
D. all leases with a lease term more than 12
months must be capitalized
2. Under the ASU 2016-02, which of the following
is a type of lease for a lessee:
A.
B.
C.
D.

finance lease (Type A)
sales-type lease (Type C)
direct finance lease (Type D)
capital lease (Type B)

3. Under the ASU 2016-02, which of the following
is a type of lease for a lessor:
A.
B.
C.
D.

finance lease (Type B)
sales-type lease
capital lease (Type C)
expensed lease

4. Which of the following is true regarding the
lease standard ASU 2016-02:
A. it does not provide for the grandfathering of
most existing leases
B. it grandfathers previously classified capital
leases from the new rules
C. it grandfathers previously classified operating
leases from the new rules
D. it grandfathers all leases in effect on the
implementation date from the new rules
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5. The author assigns the term “Type A” to which
of the following types of leases:
A.
B.
C.
D.

operating leases
direct finance leases
finance leases
capital leases

6. The term “probable,” as used in ASU 2016-02,
means which of the following:
A.
B.
C.
D.

guaranteed to occur
likely to occur
reasonably possible to occur
more likely than not to occur

7. Which of the following is a type of lease for
which the ASU 2016-02 rules do not apply:
A.
B.
C.
D.

lease of retail space
lease of equipment
lease of intangible assets
lease of motor vehicle

8. Captain Kirk is a CPA for Company X. Kirk
is assessing whether a contract that X has
meets the definition of a lease for purposes
of ASU 2016-02. A lease conveys the right to
which of the following of identified property,
plant, or equipment:
A.
B.
C.
D.

to sell
to purchase at the end of the lease
to control the use of
to convert

9. According to the general rule in determining
whether a contract has a lease, there must be
which of the following or there is no lease:
A.
B.
C.
D.

an identified asset
a lease term
a fixed lease payment
a signed agreement

10. Company L executes a lease agreement with
a lessor. L is trying to determine whether the
agreement qualifies to be a lease under ASU
2016-02. L does not have the right to use the
leased asset if the lessor has the substantive
right to which of the following:
A.
B.
C.
D.

retain the asset at the end of the lease
substitute the asset
sell the asset at the end of the lease
insure the asset throughout the lease

11. Under the new lease rules, a lessee can obtain
economic benefits from use of the leased
asset in many ways, which include all of the
following except:
A.
B.
C.
D.

using the leased asset
selling the leased asset
holding the leased asset
subleasing the leased asset

12. Which of the following is a right that ASU
2016-02 states does not prevent a lessee
from having the right to direct the use of an
identified asset:
A.
B.
C.
D.

kick-out right
participation right
liquidation right
protective right

13. With respect to the new lease rules, a
component of a contract includes only
those items or activities that do which of the
following:
A.
B.
C.
D.

transfer a good or service to a lessee
are otherwise incurred by the lessor
are easily separable from other components
are clearly identified separately within the
contract

14. With respect to a lessee, for a lease term to
be a major part of the remaining economic
life of the underlying asset, which one of the
following thresholds must be satisfied:
A. present value of the lease payments must
exceed 50% of the fair value of the leased
asset
B. lease term is 75% or more of the remaining
economic life of the leased asset
C. there cannot be a purchase option
D. there must not be any transfer of ownership
during the lease term
15. Company X, a lessee, chooses to use the riskfree rate to compute the present value of lease
payments which is the lease obligation. What
is a reason why X might not want to elect to
use the risk-free rate:
A. the risk-free rate is difficult to obtain
B. use of the risk-free rate is likely to result in
a significantly higher right-of-use asset and
lease obligation
C. investors frown on use of the risk-free rate
because it is such a volatile rate
D. the risk-free rate is likely to be significantly
higher than the incremental borrowing rate
16. At the commencement date of a lease, how
should a lessee account for initial direct costs:
A. include them as part of the right-of-use asset
B. expense them as incurred
C. capitalize them as an intangible asset and
amortize them
D. net them against the lease obligation
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17. With respect to a lessee, which of the following
amounts pertaining to a lessee’s residual
value guarantee should be included in lease
payments:
A. amounts that are probable of being owed by
the lessee
B. amounts that are more likely than not of
being owed by the lessee
C. amounts that can be estimated and it is
reasonably possible of being owed by the
lessee
D. amounts that are owed by the lessee and it
is reasonably possible of being reimbursed
by the lessor
18. ASU 2016-02 provides that if it is _________
that a lessee will exercise the option to
purchase the leased asset, the amount of
the purchase is included as part of the lease
payments.
A.
B.
C.
D.

probable
more likely than not
reasonably certain
reasonably possible

19. With respect to a lessee, which of the following
is not a component of a lease term:
A. noncancellable period of the lease
B. period prior to the lease commencement
date
C. periods covered by an option to extend if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option
D. periods covered by an option to extend
the lease in which exercise of the option is
controlled by the lessor
20. Company X signs a lease as a tenant in a mall.
What is the commencement date of the lease:
A. the date the lease is signed
B. the date on which X makes the first payment
C. the date on which a lessor makes the space
available for use by Company X
D. the date on which X opens the retail store
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21. Company X, a lessee, records a right-of-use
asset and lease obligation for a finance (Type
A) lease. Which of the following methods
should X use to record interest expense on
the lease obligation:
A.
B.
C.
D.

straight-line method
effective interest method
rule of 78 approach
any method which is systematic and logical
in its allocation

22. Company Z pays $1 million for leasehold
improvements for space it leases. The
remaining lease term is 10 years. There is no
option to purchase the real estate at the end
of the lease. The useful life of the leasehold
improvements is 30 years. The useful life of
the underlying real estate is 40 years. Over
what period should Z amortize the leasehold
improvements:
A. 10 years
B. 30 years
C. 40 years
D. tax life of 39 years
23. Jones Company is a lessee who has classified
its lease as a finance (Type A) lease. How
should the repayment of the principal portion
of a finance (Type A) lease be presented on
the statement of cash flows:
A. operating activities
B. financing activities
C. investing activities
D. disclosed only

24. Company X is a lessor. X tests to determine
the classification of its lessor lease. None of
the five criteria to classify a lease as a salestype lease are met. Which of the following is a
type of lease that might qualify for the lessor’s
classification of lease:
A.
B.
C.
D.

direct financing lease
capital lease
finance lease
sale-leaseback

25. XYZ Landlord is a lessor who has executed a
lease with a lessee. XYZ is testing the lease to
determine if it should be classified as a direct
financing lease. In performing its 90% or more
test, which rate should it use:
A.
B.
C.
D.

lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
lessor’s incremental borrowing rate
risk-free rate
rate implicit in the lease

26. If a lessor’s lease does not qualify for a salestype lease or a direct financing lease, it is
classified as which of the following:
A.
B.
C.
D.

capital lease
finance lease
operating lease
leveraged lease

27. In
a
sales-type
lease,
under
what
circumstances should a lessor reassess a
lease term:
A. if the lease is modified
B. if the original discount rate changes
C. if it appears the underlying asset has
a longer economic life than originally
anticipated
D. if lessor receives a bona fide offer to sell or
transfer the underlying leased asset
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28. How should a lessor initially account for
initial direct costs for a lease classified as an
operating lease from the lessor’s perspective:
A. defer initial direct costs
B. expense the initial direct costs
C. capitalize the costs as part of the right-of-use
asset
D. record the costs as part of other
comprehensive income in stockholders’
equity
29. With respect to a lessor lease classified as an
operating lease, how should lease payments
received be recorded on the income statement:
A. on a straight-line basis over the lease term
B. on an accelerated basis over the lease term
C. on a straight-line basis over the useful life of
the underlying leased asset
D. on an accelerated basis over the useful life
of the underlying leased asset
30. Company L is a lessor with a lease classified
as an operating lease. How should L present
the cash receipts it receives from the lessee in
connection with the operating lease:
A.
B.
C.
D.

in operating activities
in investing activities
in financing activities
disclosed only in the notes

31. Company X, a lessee, is implementing ASU
2016-02 for its leases. All its existing leases
on the implementation date have lease terms
of more than 12 months and do not qualify for
the short-term lease exception. Which of the
following is true as it relates to X’s existing
leases on the implementation date of ASU
2016-02:
A. all of X’s existing leases will be
grandfathered from having to comply with the
new lease standard
B. all of X’s existing capital leases only will be
grandfathered from having to comply with the
new lease standard
C. all of X’s existing operating leases only will
be grandfathered from having to comply with
the new lease standard
D. none of X’s existing leases are grandfathered
from implementing ASU 2016-02
32. Company X is implementing ASU 201602 for its leases. How should X record any
implementation adjustment:
A. as an adjustment to equity
B. as a cumulative effect on the income
statement
C. as a separate component of other
comprehensive income
D. there is no adjustment required
33. Under the new lease standard, which of the
following is true:
A. lease terms are likely to shorten to decrease
the amount of the lease obligation
B. lease terms are likely to get longer to reduce
the amount of the lease obligation
C. lease terms are likely to shorten to increase
the amount of the leased asset recorded
D. lease terms are likely to get longer to reduce
the amount of the leased asset recorded

34. The new lease standard will likely result in
which of the following occurring for existing
operating lessee leases:
A. total lease expense for tax purposes will
likely be greater than total GAAP expense
B. total GAAP expense will probably be greater
than lease expense for tax purposes
C. GAAP and tax expense will probably be
identical
D. there will likely be no change in the total
expense for GAAP or tax purposes from
current practice
35. Which of the following is likely under the new
lease standard for lessees:
A. deferred tax assets will likely be created
B. deferred tax assets will likely be reduced
C. deferred tax liabilities will likely be created
D. deferred tax liabilities will likely be reduced
36. What is one potential impact from the new
lease standard for lessee’s finance (Type A)
leases regarding EBITDA:
A. it will likely have a favorable impact because
interest will decrease while rental expense
will increase
B. it will likely have an unfavorable impact
because depreciation will increase while
rental expense will decrease
C. it will likely have a favorable impact because
interest and amortization expense will
increase while rental expense will decrease
D. it will likely have an unfavorable impact
because interest, depreciation and rental
expense will all increase
37. One potential impact from the new lease
standard for lessees will be that the debtequity ratio will likely be which of the
following:
A.
B.
C.
D.
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higher
lower
the same
either higher or lower depending on several
factors

38. Big John’s Gym leases various equipment
in its business. John is evaluating whether
it should capitalize its various leases for tax
purposes. In reviewing the IRS rules, John
should not capitalize leases for tax purposes
if the leases are which of the following:
A.
B.
C.
D.

true leases
operating leases
expensing leases
sales-type leases

39. Sally’s Cinnamon Buns sells delicious
cinnamon buns which they make with bakery
equipment they lease. Fred is the CPA for the
company and wants to know how the company
should handle the leases for tax purposes.
Fred should have the company capitalize a
lease for tax purposes if the lease qualifies as
which of the following:
A.
B.
C.
D.

equipment leasing contract
defacto purchase contract
conditional sales contract
capital lease contract

40. Placido Domingo decides to leave the opera
and become a CPA. His first task is to help
his client avoid having to capitalize certain
equipment leases under ASU 2016-02. Which
of the following is a fact that would support
the argument that the leases are not material
to the financial statements:
A. the right-of-use asset is only 25% of total
assets
B. the lease obligation is only 30% of total
liabilities
C. not capitalizing the lease obligation has no
impact on the company’s loan covenants
D. not capitalizing the lease will violate a
contract
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